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Company Profile
LB

NVC International Holdings Limited (formerly known as NVC Lighting
Holding Limited) (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) is a well-known lighting product supplier in the industry, mainly
engaged in the design, development, production, promotion and sales of
various lighting products. After the completion of the disposal of majority
equity of lighting business of NVC in the PRC in late 2019, the Group,
in addition to its international lighting business, formally started a new
chapter for strategic adjustment and business transformation, focused
on creating environmental, safe and healthy smart home and commercial
office environment and promoted the Group to grow to be a global brand
service provider for industrialised, chain-based and one-stop solutions.
The Group has production plants in Zhejiang, Shanghai, Zhuhai in China
and Vietnam, etc. It also has overseas product development centers that
meet European standards. We have set up operation agencies in more
than 40 countries and regions around the world.

Since the establishment in 1998, we always insist on independent
innovation in product research and development, and are committed
to providing efficient, energy-saving, healthy and comfortable lighting
solutions for the fields of construction, transportation, urban lighting,
supermarket, hotel, office, housing, school and industry. On 20 May
2010, the Company’s shares were listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 02222). On 12 December 2019, the
Group officially completed the disposal of the majority equity of lighting
business of NVC in the PRC. Since then, the Group has shifted the focus
of traditional lighting business from the PRC professional lighting to
international professional lighting. Meanwhile, we have shifted the focus
on promoting non-lighting products for quality smart life solutions.

Our products and application solutions are selected and used by a
number of famous projects and brands, the Group was the lighting and
service cooperative partner of the Olympic Council of Asia in 2011 and
provided lighting products and solutions for famous projects including
Rio Olympic Games, G20 Hangzhou Summit, Milan Expo, Guangzhou
Asian Games, Shanghai World Expo, Beijing Olympic Games, Royal
Wharf in London, Birmingham Airport in the UK, Villas of Saudi Arabia
Sabic Group, and Qatar Beverly Hills. The Group has been committed
to beautifying the commercial and living space with artificial lighting and
protecting the ecological environment with environmental-friendly and
energy-saving lighting. The Group started to launch a new brand strategy
in 2020. The new brand mission of “Life As You Wish e 524 5E U {/RFfrFE”
was put forward to connect the corporate vision and brand mission with
the construction of human daily life and conduct business operation from
a perspective with more humanistic value.
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Financial Highlights
AT

For the Years Ended 31 December HZE12B31BIEEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024F 20234 20225 20214 20204
US$’000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
S TEn TEr FTEx FTEx
Continuing Operations HEREEY
Revenue WA 236,603 235,978 279,468 368,357 340,809
Gross profit el 74,651 67,318 63,850 102,744 97,550
Gross profit margin (Note 1) ERE (Wzt1) 31.6% 28.5% 22.8% 27.9% 28.6%
(Loss)/Profit before income tax {3 AT (5548) /%8 (12,307) 40,436 (3,425) 9,770 (1,807)
(Loss)/Profit margin before Frisial (518) /
income tax (Note 1) R (fr21) (5.2%) 17.1% (1.2%) 2.7% (0.5%)
(Loss)/Profit for the year from REREEE 2
continuing operations KE (518) /78 (15,355) 37,650 (5,547) 5,191 (2,901)
Net (loss)/profit margin from BFEREEEY
continuing operations F (B8 /FEx
(Note 1) (1) (6.5%) 16.0% (2.0%) 1.4% (0.9%)
Profit for the year from FRESEER Y
discontinued operations AEFE - = = = =
(Loss)/Profit for the year from FECEERR
continuing and discontinued FRESEER
operations (Note 2) KE (§18) /7B
(£2) (15,355) 37,650 (5,547) 5,191 (2,901)
Attributable to: BUT& 5 A
Owners of the Company EN/NSIE 2PN (17,450) 35,713 (9,785) 902 (7,506)
Non-controlling interests S 2,095 1,937 4,238 4,289 4,605

Note 1: Gross profit margin equals to gross profit divided by revenue;  fifzt7 . EFEZEREFBUUEA ; FFERA (B
B) /ANBESREFRERA (BB /78
BRUURA ;73 (B518) FIBESENAE (5

18) /FRERRLEA

(loss)/profit margin before income tax equals to (loss)/profit before
income tax divided by revenue; net (loss)/profit margin equals to
(loss)/profit for the year divided by revenue.

Note 2: (Loss)/Profit for the year represents (loss)/profit before netting off

Kzt : F (B18) /FIE ARG
EAFEFERN (B8 FEe

profit for the year attributable to non-controlling interests.

BLERERBRAE 202453, 5



Financial Highlights
BTS2

As at 31 December ’12H31H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

2024F 2023F 20225 20214 20204

US$’000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000

S TEn TEr TEx FTEx

Non-current assets ERBEE 312,182 350,596 322,945 317,198 310,852

Current assets RBEE 249,238 241,507 266,077 364,517 359,509

Current liabilities eI =R 82,541 79,178 106,640 152,171 146,377

Net current assets FREBEE 166,697 162,329 159,437 212,346 213,132

Total assets less current liabilities ABERREEE 478,879 512,925 482,382 529,544 523,984

Non-current liabilities E| =N 10,949 10,324 10,974 14,385 15,944

Total equity g 467,930 502,601 471,408 515,159 508,039

Including: Hep:

Equity attributable to owners AREHEEBAN

of the Company FE(L R 456,498 483,771 454,492 501,150 494,203

Non-controlling interests JEER i 11,432 18,830 16,916 14,009 13,836

Current ratio (Note 1) TEILEE (Hat1) 3.02 3.05 2.50 2.40 2.46

Note 1: Current ratio equals to current assets divided by current liabilities. Kizt1 mEtE RS REBERLUREIAE.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present to you the 2024 annual report of
the Group.

Review in 2024:

In 2024, in the face of the global economic slowdown, coupled with the
Russian-Ukrainian war and the high inflation index, the market economy
environment was constantly changing, and all the industries were facing
major challenges in their operation. Major banks and financial institutions
had lowered their GDP growth forecasts for various countries one after
another, resulting in a sharp drop in their confidence in economic growth
this year. The global economy growth was expected to remain stable at
3.2% in 2024 according to the latest World Economic Outlook published
by the International Monetary Fund.

With the continued downturn in the economic environment, the demand
in the consumer market has declined as a whole, and the competitive
pressure in the terminal market has further increased. It is of particular
importance to reduce product costs to enhance the competitiveness of
the Group’s products. The Group has been adjusting its procurement
strategy, using bidding, price negotiation processes for large-value
orders, monitoring the trend of bulk raw materials and its correlation with
the pricing of purchased materials, and expanding in-house proportion of
blow molded, extruded and roll-formed parts to ensure the reduction of
procurement costs.

During the Reporting Period, international lighting business was still the
Group’s core business and contributed a majority of revenue to Group.
Despite the challenging economic environment, the Group implemented
several reforms to maintain its business health. These include, among
others, the development of new products designs, launch of new
products, evaluation of the Group’s procurement strategies, all of which
helped to enhance the competitiveness of the Group’s products in term of
prices and functionalities.

Chairman’s Statement

ERHRS

HNEARER :

EANERXREBESTG AEURESER
2024FFEHRE

20244 O] -

2024 > EH IR BEME M LEHBSE
F EBREEERSM ERTBERBEIRIE
%ft%’viﬁ’ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁmﬁﬁﬁm%km%
Bro TEIRIT %nMAﬂ% THREZEN
GDPIgZRTEHF > B E &zﬁﬁ\zlsﬁﬁaﬁi%/;ft‘
RELOARBTE BEREEESMHEABIMFE
EMP(HEAKERE)REHIEL > B
2024 FE 2B ERBHIFTEEES 2% °

@E%%&Ef&iﬁﬂﬁﬁua TER HEMEE
RSB T8 4 05 05 5 B I ) 1 — 5 9B
7(°§‘ﬁﬁ)§iuuﬁ$ﬁéﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬂ$%.)§iﬁﬁﬁ
FNRBAREBR - AEERBRBEE
RBEER - RITBEZBE - BEXRFRREMH
i%]ﬁi—i?“’ﬁ%#@ﬁmf“fﬂ’ﬁfﬁEﬁ‘lﬁ&%ﬁﬂk

“EBNERTHRN BRI BERXRE
BMSE’J"FB%O

RBREFERN BREBEZNELER
ZOER  REAEBERT RBIWA -
BEAEREHRBENCERE D7 #
RAEEETHNREEER AEEERKS
BHE UERENERKS HEEWE
o A AEENRBRE  ARIEASE
EEERETERKRMELNHEFES -

BLERERBRAE 202453,

7



8

Chairman’s Statement

ERHRS

Outlook for 2025:

In 2025, international lighting business will still be the core business
of the Group. In additional to this, the Group will continue to promote
the development of the indoor air quality business to enhance the
Group’s revenue stream in the future. Although it is expected that the
global economic environment will remain uncertain for 2025, the Group
believes that a series of reforms conducted in 2024 will bring benefits
to the Group in 2025, in particular the efforts from the Group’s research
and development team, whose innovation allows the Group to expand
its current products portfolio in a speedy and cost-efficient way. The
Group intends to promote cost-effective and intelligent products to the
customers. Further, the Group will proactively improve its brand image to
enhance its brand awareness in the international markets.

North American Market

Due to the uncertain macroeconomic conditions in 2025, the rising
interest rate environment affects the demand for home improvement. In
2025, the Group will continue to increase investment in the development
of the ETI brand, promote sales on online platforms, and form a basis for
offline store sales growth by reaching end consumers online.

In addition, we will continue to optimize our product lines through
principles such as platformization, modularization and standardization to
maintain our position as a strategic supplier. On the other hand, based
on our insights into the retail market, we will use new technologies and
materials to develop new product lines such as outdoor decorative lights,
outdoor commercial products, safety lights and PRO mirror lights. Due
to fierce external competition, we will adopt a strategy combining self-
production and outsourcing, arrange the product roadmap in advance,
and grasp the opportunity of cooperation with customers, so as to lay a
solid foundation for the business take-off in 2025.

In 2025, we will summarize the experiences from bidding with new
customers in 2024 and recommend new products more accurately based
on customer needs, so as to be well prepared for each bidding and strive
to secure more new projects.

In addition to the retail channels, OEM business has also improved. In
2025, we will strive to develop more OEM customers, which will become
another growth point for sales.

ETI brand will launch more than 60 new products across various channels
in 2025, and the linear light series will also be available in early 2025.
The key task is to ensure that every key point of these products will be
implemented as planned, and that these products will be launched in time
and become a growth point for sales in 2025.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Japanese Market

The Japanese economy is expected to face certain uncertainties in
2025, and although the government may take measures to stimulate the
economy, the overall growth may still be limited. Among the growth of
prices, wages and interest rates, wage increases are the most important
factor determining Japan’s economy. Japan now looks set to record
a third straight year of wage increases next year, which will change
consumer behavior. As the cost of living increases due to rising prices,
consumers will continue to prefer more cost-effective products and
services. Therefore, lighting products in retail channels need to pay more
attention to price competitiveness and energy efficiency.

It is expected that the demand for lighting products at the retail end
will not rebound significantly in 2025 and may remain at a relatively low
level. Competition among lighting companies is fierce, with price wars
compressing profit margins. The lighting demand in the Japanese market
is expected to remain flat in 2025. E-commerce continues to develop
in the Japanese market, but physical stores will still play an important
role. In the future, the online-and-offline integration model may become
more common. The Company intends to add new product lines in retail
channels, including small ceiling lamps, small chandeliers and other new
products.

The Japanese team will strive to expand sales in 2025, with the main
task of promoting the ceiling lamp own-brand business while focusing
on developing new customers. We will continue to optimize production
processes to reduce costs and improve product competitiveness, and will
expand sales channels and strengthen online sales.

UK and Nordic Markets

The economic indicators for 2025 closely reflect the trends observed in
the second half of 2024.

The increase in container and insurance costs moderated in the latter
part of 2024; however, the margin benefits will materialize in 2025 due
to lead times and stock consumption. Weak domestic demand in China
has significantly improved our negotiating position with suppliers, creating
opportunities for margin enhancement. However, weak market demand
particularly in the UK may prompt competitors to leverage these lower ex-
factory costs to reduce their own prices in 2025.

In 2025, we plan to focus on enhancing performance in the Danish
market, re-entering the Norwegian market more seriously, and piloting
the AURA linear product offering. The 2025 plan commits to a recovery in
sales, further positive development in gross margin, and the introduction
of new sales leadership to the business in early 2025. Efforts are also
underway to address structural overhead.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRS

Other Overseas Markets

In terms of markets and channels in 2025, for the Vietnamese market, we
will continue to follow up on key projects by promoting the conversion
rate of project reserves and facilitating the implementation of orders. In
particular, we will follow up with distributors, contractors, designers and
homeowners on related projects, while preparing for key projects in the
coming year. In 2025, we will focus on following up on the distribution
channels. We have already contacted several key distribution channel
distributors in the south and the north. We need to prepare for the launch
of distribution products as soon as possible in order to sign orders with
customers. Finally, we are also starting to promote electrical products
in the Vietnamese market, hoping to first expand through distribution
channels and open up the entire local and regional markets.

For the Singapore market, we will continue to drive business growth
through three aspects. Firstly, in terms of projects, we will continue to
follow up on key projects by promoting the conversion rate of project
reserves and facilitating the implementation of orders. Secondly, we will
expand into new projects and acquire new customers such as project
distributors, contractors, homeowners or designers. Finally, we will
expand our business in distribution and retail channels. We hope that
through these efforts, we can fully open up our business.

For overseas markets, we will continue to focus on the development
of key new markets, such as Indonesia, Malaysia and other Southeast
Asian countries, entering local markets through project and distribution
channels to prepare for future business growth.

In terms of products, we will continue to focus on key product lines and
enrich product lines to maintain our gross profit, and will also follow up
on newly launched product lines and enhance the implementation of
potential new orders. In terms of product management, we will maintain
the competitiveness of product performance and pricing to manage
updates. We will introduce new product lines such as AURA, linear
lighting for data center applications, and electrical products.

In terms of operations, we will establish effective project sales-related
demand forecasts and streamline the entire operational process to
increase efficiency and control costs.

In terms of branding, for the local markets of Singapore and Vietnam,
we will continue to organize one-to-one communication with customers
in the office through the showrooms. In terms of brand promotion, we
will continue to carry out targeted promotion on relevant platforms. For
overseas markets, we will focus on participating in important exhibitions
in some key countries as important platforms for the continued exposure
of NVC Lighting products and brands.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Brand Building, Product Development and Internal
Management

Brand growth and business development complement each other. In
2025, the Group’s branding strategy continues to emphasize steady
and continuous investment, consolidating and maintaining a matrix of
sub-brands covering different consumer levels, including “high, medium
and new”, and continuing to give each brand a suitable image and
clear connotation. In 2025, some sub-brands will also see a complete
revitalization of their brand images, promotional videos, official websites
and social media. At the same time, the Group will also invest in
marketing and promotional resources to enhance the visibility of each
brand and help develop business opportunities.

In future product research and development, we will further promote the
core value of “NVCI — driven by nature and presented with technology”.
We will research lighting technologies that improve the human
environment, expand the application of core patented technologies and
continue to improve the cost performance of our products in the depth
and breadth of our existing product lines. We will also rationally utilize
platformization, serialization, modularization and standardization to
continuously provide new products and services that meet market needs,
thereby empowering consumers and users, providing a comfortable and
healthy lighting environment and improving people’s quality of life.

As market competition further intensifies, the cost competitiveness of
products needs to be further improved. In terms of the supply chain,
price control of raw materials will be a key concern of the Group. The
Group will strengthen management in terms of material prices, inventory
control and team personnel optimization. The Group intends to further
improve the competitiveness of its future products and transformed the
same into the Group’s comprehensive strength through the following
means: annual bidding and price negotiation; expanding localized
procurement in Vietnam; and accelerating the comprehensive self-
production of blow moulding, extrusion and roll parts. In addition, the
Group will continue to promote the digitalisation and informatisation
construction throughout the Group. In 2025, the Group is devoted to
promoting the ERP system transformation of its subsidiaries, so as to
achieve globally cross-regional cooperation and resource sharing among
main businesses, thereby enhancing the overall operating efficiency of
the Group. Meanwhile, the Group will enhance its ERP function and, by
adding different functions, further enhance its governance effectiveness.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRS

Acknowledgement

Our stable development for over 20 years depends on the wholehearted
contributions and persistent support from the Board and all staff
members. | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to the long-term
support of all shareholders, clients, suppliers and distributors. In the
future, we will strive forward steadily as in the past with full responsibility
to all shareholders, clients, suppliers and distributors, with an aim to
make the Group’s brand “NVC International” a world-wide respected
brand and secure satisfactory results to repay the support from various
sectors.

WANG Donglei
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Market and Performance Review

In 2024, in the face of the global economic slowdown, coupled with the
Russian-Ukrainian war and the high inflation index, the market economy
environment was constantly changing, and all the industries were facing
major challenges in their operation. Major banks and financial institutions
had lowered their GDP growth forecasts for various countries one after
another, resulting in a sharp drop in their confidence in economic growth
this year. The global economy growth was expected to remain stable at
3.2% in 2024 according to the latest World Economic Outlook published
by the International Monetary Fund.

With the continued downturn in the economic environment, the demand
in the consumer market has declined as a whole, and the competitive
pressure in the terminal market has further increased. It is of particular
importance to reduce product costs to enhance the competitiveness of
the Group’s products. The Group has been adjusting its procurement
strategy, using bidding, price negotiation processes for large-value
orders, monitoring the trend of bulk raw materials and its correlation with
the pricing of purchased materials, and expanding in-house proportion of
blow molded, extruded and roll-formed parts to ensure the reduction of
procurement costs.

During the Reporting Period, international lighting business was still the
Group’s core business and contributed a majority of revenue to Group.
Despite the challenging economic environment, the Group implemented
several reforms to maintain its business health. These include, among
others, the development of new products designs, launch of new
products, evaluation of the Group’s procurement strategies, all of which
helped to enhance the competitiveness of the Group’s products in term of
prices and functionalities.

Selling and Distribution

The Group has established sales networks and channels in major
countries and regions including North America, Europe, Australia, East
Asia, Middle East, Southeast Asia and the PRC leveraging its extensive
marketing experience and superior globe-based operation team.
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North American Market

In 2024, the global lighting market continued to grow, driven by
technology, environmental protection needs and smart home trends. The
Asia-Pacific region remained the world’s largest lighting market, with
urbanization and infrastructure construction in emerging economies such
as China and India driving demand growth. Developed markets such as
North America and Europe had strong demand for energy-saving and
smart lighting products, with policy support further promoting market
expansion. The lighting market in the Middle East and Africa also grow
steadily due to urbanization and the need to improve energy efficiency.

In 2024, the U.S. dollar remained strong. Due to the weak global
economy and the noticeable slowdown in the real estate market, end
consumers reduced their spending, market demand was suppressed. The
United States LED general lighting market was generally weak in 2024.
Having said that, the Group’s largest customer in the United States,
a global home improvement retailer, recorded a positive sales growth
throughout the year, mainly benefiting from its strategic transformation
from a retail company to a service-oriented company.

The development direction in 2024 and the next few years will continue
to focus on product optimization and maintain strong competitive
advantages. We will consistently uphold our advantages in terms
of pricing and specifications for hot-selling products, and analyze
the reasons for less popular products and decisively make technical
improvements or replace them with new product offerings.

In 2024, new customers and new projects brought considerable sales
to the retail channels and project channels. However, sales in the
commercial channel were lower than expected mainly because of the
underperformance and the unsatisfactory sales completion rate of agents.
Additionally, the construction projects, especially those involving high-
priced products, started slowly with stagnated demand.

Japanese Market

In 2024, the U.S. dollar continued to strengthen, and the exchange rate
once fell to 161.5 Japanese yen to 1 US dollar, setting the lowest level
of Japanese yen depreciation in 34 years since 1990. The trend of rising
prices caused by the depreciation of the Japanese Yen has not changed,
which has had a significant impact on residents’ consumption. Japan’s
actual economic growth rate in 2024 was -0.3%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Rising prices have led to an increase of the cost of living for residents,
thereby suppressing overall consumer spending. As a result, consumers
may turn to cheaper alternatives or reduce consumption. The overall
demand for lighting products at the retail end has shrunk compared with
the year of 2023. The demand for both ceiling lamps and light bulbs have
dropped significantly as compared with 2023. Coupled with the market
recession in 2023, the lighting-related market has become increasingly
grim. According to the statistics of the Japanese Industrial Association
on the market situation in 2024, the demand for domestic LED lighting
products in 2024 was only 90% of that in 2023, and the market has
shrunk relatively. Sales in the Japanese market fell year-on-year, mainly
due to the depreciation of the Japanese Yen and reduced demand.

UK and Nordic Markets

The UK and European markets continued to be impacted by slow
economic growth, high interest rates, and a lack of liquidity. The security
crisis in Ukraine has specifically affected the Finnish market, where there
is a shared border with Russia.

Regarding the UK market, some of the largest wholesalers introduced
cost-cutting measures in the latter part of 2024, primarily targeting
reductions in headcount within their branch networks. Notably, the upper
segment of the residential, hospitality, and heritage markets in the UK,
where DERNIER & HAMLYN (“D&H”"), a century-old high-quality luxury
lighting manufacturer, operates, remained relatively unaffected by the
broader macro-economic challenges facing the UK.

This situation continues to validate the “channel-only” sales approach,
despite the efforts invested to drive demand for the NVC Lighting brand
and our focus on larger, more financially robust wholesalers.

UK NVC also retains its commitment to managing processes using
International Organization for Standardization (ISO) standards, and along
with the ISO 9001/14001/45001 in place at the end of 2022 in the UK
and Nordics, and added ISO 22301 (Business Continuity), and ISO 50001
(Energy Management) to the operating standards. The lighting test facility
continues to be certified by the UK Lighting Industry Association.

In addition, we have invested in EPD (Environmental Product Declaration)
Certification for our professional product offering, being relaunched as
“PROe”, to reflect our commitment.
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Other Overseas Markets

The Southeast Asian market mainly comprises of three parts, namely the
overseas markets, the local market in Singapore and the local market
in Vietnam. The overseas market mainly includes countries such as
Pakistan, Sri Lanka, Uruguay and Mongolia. The dual-channel (project
and distribution) business strategy formulated at the beginning of 2024
yielded obvious results throughout the year.

First of all, the project channel performed strongly in the Vietnamese
market in 2024, mainly in the fields of outdoor landscape and street
lighting, indoor office building lighting and factory and industrial lighting,
and secured considerable orders. We also gained certain profits in the
Singapore local market. We worked directly with local terminal home
owners to provide public lighting project solutions and won orders from
competitors. In terms of overseas markets, our projects in Uruguay grew
rapidly, making breakthroughs in both commercial and retail projects.
In the distribution channels, our Vietnamese team entered the home
distribution channel, opened up the situation and secured orders,
laying a solid foundation for long-term cultivation of this target market
in the future. In the overseas market of New Guinea, we achieved very
significant business breakthroughs by cooperating with a large local
supermarket chain. In terms of brand marketing activities, we focused
on the local markets of Vietnam and Singapore by holding customer
seminars, participating in key exhibitions and building office showrooms
to invite customers for one-on-one product introductions and business
negotiations.

Through the above efforts, we not only effectively introduced and
promoted our product solutions, but also created great influence on the
brand. We are very gratified to see that the activities we held directly
led to the placement of sales orders and the promotion of the brand,
establishing a solid foundation for building a credible, professional and
quality brand. At the same time, we were also facing some market
challenges. In Pakistan, due to the local general election in the first
quarter of 2024, government projects were directly affected, resulting in
a direct impact on and delays of our business. Commercial projects in
Sri Lanka continued to suffer from past national bankruptcies/economic
crises and were slow to progress.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

Htigsrmi5

REDHMEETBREE=ZED BHIHH
MMRAM T ZNBEATIHZ o BT
GUBEHB - HEFF JUNENRE S
Bl % X & - L2024 F B ENERE (B
BHRE FBRENEEAHBHIRY -

BEAREERE2024F N BEHHRIFR
B URMREMNBIERA EAMAER
M TIHmIERAEES DT WEAFTHEB
B MM AMHIZHES —E W -
RANEMKBETEREGHF REQIH
RAEEBARAF TRGKFHFEDE
BB E - BITHSHNERRERR
BoABENTERBTEBERRK TR
BRE RMUEEREAXERBERE
REELHEETE  AUBRRAMEE
BERTHIT TRENER -EBIITH
MAHEAND RANSFEFERENESTR
B REME R BBERESF -
miEfTHEER S E RAREE- BN
MmAEMTIS B TERANEG BME
HMEGURERRAERTEBRBFEER
M—H—HERMTEMEH LK

TEEMNNBHEERMANERSE B
REMRBLDEREANTED HMER
ENEIRMENNEHERFTHHE
STEMEMURBESRENRY > SEm
BT EReEAfE EXNEREN DM
EMNRIRENER AR RMAOEE—
LEHIZHE > BREIIBANEH20245F
F—FENARE BNREEERIZE
RANEGZOZINEENTEMTEE &
ENrREXEERNESIBEBRKE
RERHNTE EERIE-
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In 2024, in the Middle East and North Africa, we began to participate in
the quotations of large-scale projects in different regions, including hotels
and villa complexes in Saudi Arabia, real estate projects in the UAE, and
projects of the Kuwait Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development.
At the same time, we have carried out further product updates and brand
promotions for existing distributors to improve brand competitiveness and
strengthen the investment of the designer team.

Brand Image Building and New Product Research and
Development

“Light”, “Air”, and “Water” are the three key elements of the Group’s
business development and also the three main threads of brand
building. In 2024, “Light” remained the continuous driving force and
core foundation of the Group’s development. The Group has not only
completed the brand upgrade and re-launch of the Group’s brand and
a number of its lighting sub-brands this year, giving them a younger
vitality; it has also re-integrated and repositioned its other businesses
and brands. In the business areas where each brand operates, each sub-
brand has been actively utilizing various marketing activities and social
media to continually build up its brand image, enhance brand recognition
and loyalty, and help capture more market share.

In 2024, the Group continued to review and upgrade its owned brands, in
line with its branding strategy of “Advancement through Stability” in 2023.
First of all, the brand image of “ETI", the lighting brand in North America,
was renewed. On the basis of the continuation of the original brand color
and key identifying graphics, the “ETI” brand logo has been optimized to
a greater extent, and a new interpretation of the brand concept has been
injected to make “ETI” more youthful and approachable.

Subsequently, the Group has revamped logo and visual identity system
of the Group’s own brand “NVC International”, refocusing on the core
elements of NVC and injecting more vitality by increasing the saturation
and brightness of the colors. The new version of the Group’s brand
identity has been put into use in the third quarter of 2024, while a new
promotional video, introduction brochure of the Group and a series of
office document sets have also been released simultaneously.
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In the fourth quarter of 2024, on the occasion of the fifth anniversary of
the establishment of the Vietnam Branch, the Group’s first integrated
brand showroom was inaugurated at the Vietham Manufacturing Centre,
bringing together four of the Group’s most important lighting brands and
showcasing their brand strength, R&D innovation capabilities and core
products.

In addition, the Group’s sub-brands have also been actively engaged
in local market activities. AURA and NVC Lighting made their debut at
industry exhibitions in North America and Southeast Asia, both of which
were well received by the market.

The Group’s strategy is to illuminate the world with an unmatched
portfolio of LED lighting solutions. We accomplish this through a
vertically integrated global supply chain, deep partnership with our global
network of independent distributors and a diverse portfolio of brands,
applications, and products in the lighting and electricals sectors. The
Group attaches great importance to the research and development of
innovative technologies. The research department propelled the operating
model of “synchronous development and concurrent engineering” within
the Company by adhering to the R&D concept of “innovation, speed,
quality and cost” and the R&D ideas of “three generations (production
generation, development generation and pre-research generation)”,
greatly speeding up the efficiency of new product research and
development. In the process of developing a series of new products
in 2024, the focus was on platformization, serialization, modularization
and standardization of key product categories. The platformization
and serialization work of major product categories was successfully
completed, and the introduction of some new processes and new
materials enhanced the competitiveness of the manufacturing system.
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The Group’s Main New Products

The Group focuses on developing creative research and development
capability and providing customers with professional and optimised
lighting and non-lighting solutions. It aims to promote the global energy-
saving and emission-reduction and enhance green lighting industry
forward to more sustainable, healthy and well-regulated growth. The
Group has now established sales networks in major countries and regions
such as North America, Europe, Australia, East Asia, the Middle East and
Southeast Asia. The Group develops and promotes products according
to regional characteristics and customer needs, providing distributors,
project customers and consumers with customised and differentiated
products and services. The following shows the main new products
developed and successfully marketed by the Group during the Reporting
Period.
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Financial Review
Sales Revenue

Sales revenue represents the invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts. During the Reporting
Period, the sales revenue of the Group amounted to US$236,603,000,
representing an increase of 0.3% as compared with the sales revenue in
the Corresponding Period.

For business management need and the nature of business units based
on the products and market, the Group classified the reportable operating
segments as follows:

Revenue by geographical locations, NVC brand sales and non-NVC
brand sales

The table below sets forth the sales revenue by geographical locations,
NVC brand products and non-NVC brand products and the growth rate
of each item. Our non-NVC brand products primarily consist of ODM
products.
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Year ended 31 December

HE12B31HILLFE
2024 2023 Growth rate
20245 2023%F BR=E
US$’000 US$’000
FET FTET
Sales revenue from the PRC REFEBHE WA
market
Non-NVC brands JEE LT 11,458 14,041 (18.4%)
Subtotal ViY-ia 11,458 14,041 (18.4%)
Sales revenue from international R B BB A 85 & WA
markets
NVC brands B L mhE 31,986 36,839 (13.2%)
Non-NVC brands JFE T MR 193,159 185,098 4.4%
Subtotal &t 225,145 221,937 1.4%
Total =1 236,603 235,978 0.3%
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The Group continues to focus on the lighting products in overseas
markets. During the Reporting Period, sales revenue from the PRC
decreased by 18.4%, due to the increasingly fierce competition from
other competitors. Meanwhile, international sales slightly increased by
1.4%. This led to a slight increase in the overall sales revenue by 0.3%
comparing with the Corresponding Period.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales mainly consists of the cost of raw materials, outsourced
manufacturing costs, labor costs and indirect costs. Major raw materials
of the Group include iron, aluminum and alloys, glass tubes, electronics
components and LED packaged chips. Outsourced manufacturing costs
primarily include the cost of purchased semi-finished products used
in the production of our products and finished products produced by
other manufacturers. Indirect costs primarily include water, electricity,
depreciation and amortisation and others. The table below sets forth the
composition of our cost of sales:
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Year ended 31 December

HE12RA31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Percentage in Percentage in
US$’000 revenue (%) US$'000 revenue (%)
& W A LE B 1 WA EE 481
FEr (%) FE (%)
Raw materials (including BEMR (BN EEME)
outsourced manufacturing costs) 131,273 55.5% 136,557 57.9%
Labor costs B TRA 16,915 7.1% 15,373 6.5%
Indirect costs HZER 13,764 5.8% 16,730 71%
Total &5t 161,952 68.4% 168,660 71.5%

During the Reporting Period, the cost of sales as a percentage in revenue
decreased from 71.5% to 68.4%, while the gross profit margin increased
from 28.5% to 31.6%, which was mainly attributable to the adjustments
on procurement strategy and shipping cost have become normalised.

RBREFER HEMFTERANBEDL
HT71.5%P&EE68.4% > EFER28.5%IFF
31.6% T EEHNBRTRBREKLRESH
RABKESE-

BLERERBRAE 202453,

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERED R

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit is calculated as the net value of sales revenue less cost of
sales.

During the Reporting Period, gross profit was US$74,651,000,
representing an increase of 10.9% as compared with the gross profit of
sales from the continuing operations of the Corresponding Period, and
gross profit margin of sales increased from 28.5% to 31.6%.

The table below shows the gross profit and gross profit margin by
geographical locations and NVC brand products and non-NVC brand
products for the periods indicated:

EFMREF R
ENEHERARSHERRBRAFER

REREFEN BIREFNA74,651FFE7T°
REPNFELSEERNHEEEF M
10.9% ’ SHE EF E W28 5%IE E31.6%°

TRARFATPENENENERE TR
BERRFEELREERNENRERNE:

Year ended 31 December

HE12831ALLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$’000 US$'000 (%)
FE=r FET (%)
Gross profit from PRC sales: FEHEEENERN
Non-NVC brands FELTRIE 1,568 13.7% 1,719 12.2%
Subtotal &t 1,568 13.7% 1,719 12.2%
Gross profit from international ESHEEENERN !
sales:
NVC brands BT mkE 13,230 41.4% 12,688 34.4%
Non-NVC brands FELRE 59,853 31.0% 52,911 28.6%
Subtotal NEF 73,083 32.5% 65,599 29.6%
Total &t 74,651 31.6% 67,318 28.5%

With the continued downturn in the economic environment, overall
demand in the consumer market has declined, and competitive pressure
in the terminal market has intensified. It is particularly important to
reduce product costs to enhance the competitiveness of the Group’s
products. Firstly, the Group transferred its best-selling product lines
to factories in Vietnam, where more favorable trade policies are in
place. Additionally, the Group strengthened its procurement strategy
and technology to reduce costs. Secondly, the Group implemented
self-production processes for blow molding, extrusion, and roll parts,
replacing purchases from third-party vendors for assembly. With the
combined effects, the overall gross profit margin of the Group during the
Reporting Period increased from 28.5% to 31.6% as compared with the
Corresponding Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Income

Our other income mainly consists of government grants and other
subsidies, bank and other interest income, surcharges from suppliers,
rental income, consultancy service income, trademark licensing fee and
others (the breakdown of which is provided in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statement in this annual report). We received various types of
government grants in the form of tax subsidies, incentives for research
and development activities and expansion of production capacity of
energy-saving lamp.

Other Gains and Losses

This item represents the Group’s net foreign exchange gains, gains
(losses) on fair value changes of held-for-trade investments, loss on
disposal of property, plant and equipment and, loss on fair value of
contingent consideration payable and others during the Reporting
Period. During the Reporting Period, other gains and losses of the
Group decreased as compared with the other gains and losses from the
Corresponding Period, which was mainly due to combined effects of
decrease in net foreign exchange gains, loss on fair value of contingent
consideration payable, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment,
and increase of gain (loss) on fair value changes of held-for-trading
investments and others.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Our selling and distribution costs mainly consist of freight costs,
advertising and promotion expenses, staff costs and other costs including
office expenses, customs clearance expenses, travelling expenses,
depreciation and amortisation, insurance fees and other miscellaneous
costs.

During the Reporting Period, the selling and distribution costs were
US$30,843,000, representing a decrease of 11.5% as compared with the
selling and distribution costs from the Corresponding Period. The selling
and distribution costs as a percentage in revenue decreased from 14.8%
to 13.0%, which is mainly resulted from a decrease of market research
fee.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly consist of staff costs, amortisation
and depreciation, office expenses and other expenses including tax
expenses, audit fees, other professional fees, and other miscellaneous
expenses. These taxes mainly include land use tax and stamp duty in
connection with our administrative functions.

EEEmEADHh

Hfttig A

FFINEMUA T E2 85 BUT 44 B K H At
RO REMAM B WA REHERED
fINE - HE WA EHRBUWA - BIRET
BEREM (HAMBLREFERNGE M
BHREWET?) -FRKZFARIEZEEDR
W e R~ BB #E 1T R BB 3 AN HR K ED AR B
FE BEHY BT A/l B

Hthifm

ANI8 2 BRI IR S F A A 5 [ B S P LR
D RPUEFERENAABEESH W
(BX) REVE -BEKRRHEHER B
HHEABENAAEEEERAMEF -1
BREFER AEBNEMBZRFRD
HBEmBMAL  TERANRIEFIK
@A BNRANENAABEEE &
EVE - BERRBENBR - RXZUFER
ENAnBEEZFNE (BB BMURE
VRS R BT -

HERDHER

BPNEERDHERTEUREEE B
BNMHEERE BT AMEMER  SEH
NE - HEE - XBEE -FENHE RRE
EME MR-

RREFEFER EERDHERRBEHEZ
HERDIHER ~11.5% £30,843F =
T RREERDHEHERMGWABLA A
14.8% ~PEE13.0% > TEE RN T IZAH
BRI

EEEH

EEERTECREE THA BEMITE
MABERRAMER HMERTEARE
ME BB HMWEXERMEMMEIE-
BERNBTEZECEARMITHIIER
BY L 3thfE AR ENTERR ©
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During the Reporting Period, the administrative expenses were
US$33,939,000, representing a decrease of 7.2% as compared with the
administrative expenses from continuing operations of the Corresponding
Period, which was mainly resulted from a decrease of depreciation and
amortisation. Our administrative expenses as a percentage in revenue
decreased from 15.5% for the Corresponding Period to 14.3% for the
Reporting Period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs represent the expenses of interest on bank loans, interest
on lease liabilities and interest on vendor financing.

Share of Results of Associates

This item represents the Group’s share of net profits or net losses in the
associates during the Reporting Period.

Impairment assessment of interests in an associate, Brilliant

Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd.

More details about the impairment assessment of interests in an
associate are provided in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 251 to 255 of this annual report.

Income Tax

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s income tax increased to
US$3,048,000 as compared with the income tax from the Corresponding
Period. It is mainly due to the increase of current income tax provision

from other countries including Vietnam, during the Corresponding Period.

Loss for the Year (including Profit Attributable to Non-
controlling Interests)

Due to the factors mentioned above, our loss for the year (including profit
attributable to non-controlling interests) was US$15,355,000 during the
Reporting Period.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company for the Year

Due to the factors mentioned above, loss attributable to owners of the
Company was US$17,450,000 during the Reporting Period.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Non-controlling Interests

During the Reporting Period, profit for the year attributable to non-
controlling interests was US$2,095,000.
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Cash Flow and Liquidity

Cash flow

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEmEADHh

RERERREE

The table below sets out selected cash flow data from our consolidated TXREINXEFAMNGESEESNERTPEHIE

statement of cash flows.

Net cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities
Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of cash flows

&ﬁéiﬂ (Fﬁﬁﬁ) /ﬁﬁ
MEEBARER

WERE
HIREREEIE-
31 December
12HA31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
US$’ 000 US$’ 000
FE7T FET
TMERER 18,310 35,095
FIREMEFRE (29,435) 25,206
=235 (3,923) (30,924)

RERRSEEY L)

reRERERTE5

(15,048) 29,377

E%ﬂiﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁgﬁﬁ% 108,273 85,057
703 (6,161)

MNIRERIREEEY 93,928 108,273

At the end of the Reporting Period, the cash and bank balances of the WR{REFE KR AEBNR S KIETLHER

Group were mainly denominated in US$, RMB, HK$, GBP, JPY, SGD

BUET ARBE BT EHIE-BHT W

and VND. RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, ML HEETE ARBEADT B HEIRSL
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and HtmEE /A RIZPE A (IINEE
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange  IE{& 17;7|J>))§’z(<,,;. “EERNESERE)
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other ZHREBEHEAESEETIEZFNIERE
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange T AR LAZHMERK

business.
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Liquidity

Sufficiency of net current assets and working capital

The table below sets out our current assets, current liabilities and net
current assets as at the end of the Reporting Period.

e

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Tax recoverable

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Fixed deposits with maturity of more than

three months
Cash and cash equivalents

Subtotal current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities
Borrowings

Deferred income

Lease liabilities

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Tax liabilities

Subtotal current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

RBEE

FE

ERZYE LA E N

HAMEWERR - (REE R AT

RN IRE

BRAREESFAEDR
(MRARBEST AR B
TREE

HRBE=EANERER

RERREEEY

MENEE/E

mREaR

ERZ) NN
HMEN IR R TARE A
GRA&R

RN

R WY 7

HE&R
BARBESABEZNEHER
nHBER

mENE

FREBEE
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FRBEEREESZTHAEM

TR KREFERNABDEE R
BERFRBEE-

Year ended 31 December
HE12B31BLLEE

2024 2023
202445 20234
US$’000 US$’000
FET F=

40,361 45,236
49,535 49,464
10,671 13,437
12 =
54,731 3,939
- 21,158
93,928 108,273
249,238 241,507
40,854 39,445
32,498 29,501
2,184 5,516
2,603 1,699
140 142
1,436 1,793
334 -
2,492 1,082
82,541 79,178

166,697 162,329




Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the total net current
assets of the Group amounted to US$166,697,000 and US$162,329,000,
respectively, and the current ratio was 3.02 and 3.05, respectively. In light
of our current liquidity position and our projected cash inflows generated
from operations, the Directors believe that the Group has sufficient
working capital for our present requirements and for the next 12 months.

On 24 October 2024, the Company entered into an investment
management agreement (the “Agreement”) with Parametric Portfolio
Associates LLC (the “Manager”), pursuant to which the Company
agreed to appoint the Manager, and the Manager agreed to accept such
appointment, as manager in relation to the provision of discretionary
investment services by the Manager to the Company with respect to
an investment advisory account established by Morgan Stanley Smith
Barney LLC on behalf of the Company, pursuant to the terms and subject
to the conditions of the Agreement. The proposed investment amount
is not more than US$50 million. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 24 October 2024 and 19 December
2024 respectively and the circular of the Company dated 25 November
2024.

Capital Management

The table below sets out our gearing ratio as at the end of the Reporting
Period.

EEEmEADHh

2024512831 HF2023F12831H > 4
EENFREBEELIE DR A166,607F =
TT/162,329F =7 MEMLEE BRI A3.02
K23.05° B F I B B B R BN M AR K TA R
AREMEXFNRET A EEIRAELE
BEERTENEEESUEMBR KRR
12BENESFE K

20245108241 » &/~ B B2 Parametric
Portfolio Associates LLC (T&IE AJ) £T
UREEERE ((ZHz1) Bk &2
AREZEEEBEA MEBAREESE
ZAEAEEBEAN BEZBENERIZH
BHENENIBEL TEAR TR MHEMorgan
Stanley Wealth Managementf{ &R A& A 5 5%
VTHRKREBEBRPNE2ESZITRERE
BREESEINBB0EEETT o E— DT
B E2RARTHEDA2024F108
240 K2024F12B10HMN ASE UK BEA
202411 H25H B R ©

BEXER
TRHEINBEFERNEFTERBLER

Year ended 31 December

HE12B31HLEFE

=h

Borrowings LEER

Total debt B ast

Less: cash and cash equivalents and Fixed
deposits with maturity of more than
three months

Net debt FER

Total equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Gearing ratio

W RERIRESEY RARER
—EANTEHREMR

ERBV A AEIL BT

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’000 US$’000
FET TE=r
2,603 1,699
2,603 1,699
(93,928) (129,431)
N/A N/A
B TE A
456,498 483,771
N/A N/A
AEH TE A
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The primary goal of our capital management is to maintain the stability
and growth of our financial position. We regularly review and manage
our capital structure and make corresponding adjustments, after taking
into consideration changes in economic conditions, our future capital
requirements, prevailing and projected profitability and operating cash
flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. We manage our capital by monitoring our gearing ratio
(which is calculated as net debt divided by the total equity attributable to
owners of the Company). Net debt is the balance of borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents.

Inventories

The balance of inventories represents our balance of stock of raw
materials, work in progress and finished goods as at the end of the
Reporting Period. We monitor our inventories on a regular basis.

More details about the inventories are provided in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 260 of this annual report.

Trade and bills receivables

Trade receivables of the Group mainly represented proceeds receivable
from sale of goods. The Group’s trading terms with its customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit periods generally range from 30 to 180
days for major customers. Each major customer has a maximum credit
limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivables balance.

More details about the trade and bills receivables are provided in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 256 to 258 of this
annual report.

Trade and bills payables

More details about the trade and bills payables are provided in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 262 to 263 of this annual
report.

Borrowings

More details about the borrowings are provided in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 268 of this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital Expenditure

We funded our capital expenditure with cash generated from operations
and bank loans. Our capital expenditure is primarily related to expenditure
on property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets. During
the Reporting Period, the Group’s capital expenditure amounted to
US$20,952,000, mainly attributable to the increase in cost of machinery
equipment and other intangible assets.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangement

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding
derivative financial instruments and off-balance sheet guarantees for
outstanding loans. The Group did not engage in trading activities
involving non-exchange traded contracts during the Reporting Period.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the capital commitments in respect of
purchase of property, plant and equipment were US$484,000 (31
December 2022: US$971,000).

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the continuing connected transactions of
the Group did not exceed the annual caps previously disclosed in the
relevant announcements of the Company.

Mergers, Acquisitions, Investments and Disposals
and Significant Investments Held

On 8 March 2024, NVC Lighting Limited (as purchaser, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) (“NVC Lighting”) on one part, and
Shining Beauty AB and Opeco AB (as vendors) on the other part, entered
into a share purchase agreement, pursuant to which NVC Lighting agreed
to purchase shares in NVC Lighting AB (being a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group), which represented the remaining 40% interest in
NVC Lighting AB, for an initial consideration of SEK6,000,000 (equivalent
to US$582,000) (the “Acquisition”). Based on NVC Lighting AB’s earnings
before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation in years 2024 to
2027, the vendors may be entitled to a separate earn-out consideration,
provided that the maximum total consideration for the Acquisition shall
be no more than SEK100 million (equivalent to approximately US$9.7
million) in aggregate. NVC Lighting AB has become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group with effect from 8 March 2024. For further details
of the Acquisition, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 8
March 2024 and 29 April 2024, respectively.

EEEmEADHh

Bzt
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On 12 June 2024, ETI Solid State Lighting Inc. (as purchaser, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“ETI Solid State”) and
Thurmon Tanner Logistics Il Owner LLC (as seller) (“Thurmon Tanner”)
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which ETI Solid
State conditionally agreed to acquire, and Thurmon Tanner conditionally
agreed to dispose of, certain parcel of land lying and being in Land
Lots 97 and 113, 8th Land District, City of Flowery Branch, Hall County,
Georgia, the United States (the “Real Property”), all buildings, structures,
fixtures, parking areas and improvements owned by Thurmon Tanner
and located on the Real Property (the “Improvements”) thereon, all of
Thurmon Tanner’s right, title and interest in and to the ownership or
operation of the Improvements, and all of Thurmon Tanner’s right, title
and interest in, to and under the licenses and permits, the intangible
property and the engineering product as relate solely to the Real Property
(collectively, the “Property”), at the consideration of US$15,250,000.
Completion of the acquisition of the Property took place on 28 August
2024. For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 12 June 2024 and 29 August 2024 respectively.

Save as disclosed above and in this report, the Group made no material
acquisition, merger, investment or disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures and there were no significant investments held
during the Reporting Period; and the Group did not hold any significant
investments as at 31 December 2024.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital
Assets
Save as disclosed in this report, there were no material investments or

additions of capital assets authorised by the Board as at the date of this
report.
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Use of Net Proceeds

On 9 July 2023, the Company and Canopy Capital Limited (being the
“Subscriber”) entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Subscriber conditionally agreed to
subscribe and the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total
of 845,456,130 new Shares (the “Subscription Shares”). The subscription
price of HK$0.083 per Subscription Share. The net proceeds from the
issue of the Subscription Shares amounted to approximately HK$69.7
million (equivalent to US$8.9 million).

During the Reporting Period, the remaining unutilized net proceeds of
US$7.2 million, carried forward from 31 December 2023, had been fully
utilized with their intended purposes, US$6.3 million of the net proceeds
had been used for the overseas business development and expansion
and US$0.9 million of the net proceeds had been used for general
working capital.

Other Significant Investment and Performance

Except for the information disclosed in other parts of this annual report,
the Group did not make or hold any significant investments (including any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5 percent or more of
the Group’s total assets as of 31 December 2024) during the Reporting
Period.

EEEmEADHh
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Pledge of Assets

The Group’s borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s
assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets are as follows:

BREE

FEBNERAUASTEBNEEFIRF A
WMEENKREEDT :

ME BB RkRE

Property, plant and equipment

B Z RN

Trade receivables

Market Risks

We are exposed to various market risks in the ordinary course of
business. Our risk management strategy aims to minimise the adverse
effects of these risks to our financial results.

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to transactional currency risk. Such risk arises from sales
or procurement by an operating unit in currencies other than its functional
currency. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in the exchange
rate between the functional currencies and foreign currencies. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had entered into several forward exchange
contracts in place to hedge the foreign exchange exposure and did not
experience any material difficulties or negative impacts on our operations
or liquidity as a result of fluctuations on currency exchange rates.

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to fluctuations in the prices of raw materials which are
influenced by global changes as well as regional supply and demand
conditions. Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials could adversely
affect our financial performance. We did not enter into any commodity
derivative instruments to hedge the potential commodity price changes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity Risk

We monitor our risk of having a shortage of funds by managing the
maturity of our financial instruments, financial assets and liabilities and
projected cash flows from operations. Our goal is to maintain a balance
between continuity and flexibility of funding through the use of bank
loans and other interest-bearing loans. Our Directors have reviewed our
working capital and capital expenditure requirements and determined that
we have no significant liquidity risk.

Credit Risk

Our major credit risk arises from exposure to a substantial number
of trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables from
debtors. We have policies in place to ensure that the sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit limit, and we have
strict control over credit limits of trade receivables. Our cash and short-
term deposits are mainly deposited with registered banks in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Singapore. We also have policies that limit our
credit risk exposure to any financial institutions. The carrying amounts
of trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents and short-term deposits included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent our maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to our financial assets. We have no other financial assets
which carry significant exposure to credit risk. In 2024, we entered into
a number of one-year insurance contracts with China Export & Credit
Insurance Corporation, which covered 90% uncollectible receivables
from international sales during the period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June
2025 with a maximum compensation amount of US$20,000,000. We
purchased such insurance in order to minimise our exposure to credit risk
as we expand our business. We plan to renew such insurance contracts
when they become due.

Employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 2,163 employees
in total (31 December 2023: 1,967). The Group regularly reviews
remuneration and benefits of its employees according to the relevant
market practice and individual performance of the employees. In addition
to basic salary, employees are entitled to other benefits including social
insurance contributions, employee provident fund schemes, discretionary
incentive and restricted share unit scheme.

Contingent Liability

Please refer to note 47 to the consolidated financial statement for details.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFNEREERE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. WANG Donglei (£ %), aged 60, is an executive Director, chairman and the chief technology officer of the Company. He
is also the former chief executive officer of the Company (Mr. Wang has resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 22 February 2019, has been re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on 20 May 2020 and
has been re-designated again from a non-executive Director to an executive Director on 17 July 2020). Mr. Wang has been
appointed as the chief technology officer of the Company with effect from 19 July 2021. He is also a director of a subsidiary
of the Company. In addition, Mr. Wang has been appointed as a director of Brilliant Lights (Finco) Pte. Ltd. and Brilliant Lights
International Holding Pte. Ltd., the associates of the Company, with effect from 12 December 2019.

Mr. Wang joined the Group in January 2013. He has many years of experience in product research and development,
manufacturing and business management. In 1996, Mr. Wang participated in the founding of Zhuhai China Resource Appliance
Co., Ltd.* (BkBZEBM B8R ARAF) (which was subsequently renamed as Elec-Tech International Co., Ltd.* (Z#iESHEBR
1B BRA ) (‘ETIC”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, and the shares of which were listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in China in 2004) and served as the chairman and the general manager. He has been serving as a director and the
chairman of ETIC from 2001 and has resigned as the chairman of ETIC on 8 October 2018; and resigned as director of ETIC
on 11 May 2021. Mr. Wang graduated from China Dalian Institute of Technology (subsequently renamed as Dalian University of
Technology) with a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Wang is the father of Mr. WANG Keven Dun. Mr. WANG Keven Dun is
an executive Director of the Company.

FLELRE RFOR AR NTEES EEZRANEFEME  TAETEARAFTEERNTE (HE
R2019F 28220 B EAR AT EREHAITE » R2020F5 820 HAITE S AEAIERITES » R2020FE7817
HEENTEESEFATANITES) c FEENR2021F7TR10HESZSF AR AT EHERME - MMEARKALXR
Bl—[ERBABES b4 THEBE2019F12812HERIEE KRR B B & A B Brilliant Lights (Finco) Pte. Ltd.
Kz Brilliant Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd.Z 55 o

ESEER2018F1 AMAKEE A S FNERFY  EENUE SEEIRER T5HEBRI1096E SR
A EENERARAR RELARNESARERARGERAR (BRPE)  FAANTERRT 1
BRAPR2004F ERERIIBH R RH L) WRAEEEREEIE - EH2001 FRBERTHENESRE
520185 10F8H B AR HEEEE LN 2021458 1 HREBEEHEES T AL EERPEAE
IBE GELAABRBIAS) IEGISS LB - IRERIBRENLR THELRFATNAT
%o

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Directors and Senior Management

EFhERELRE

Ms. CHAN Kim Yung, Eva (BR#3%), aged 57, is an executive Director, the vice chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company. Ms. Chan joined the Group in November 2018 and has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 22 February 2019. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. In addition, Ms. Chan has been
appointed as a director of Birilliant Lights (Finco) Pte. Ltd. and Brilliant Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd., the associates of
the Company, with effect from 12 December 2019.

From 1998 to 2004, Ms. Chan served as the general manager and vice president of Zhuhai China Resource Appliance Co.,
Ltd.* GkEEHEES AR AT (how known as Elec-Tech International Co., Ltd.* (Z#ESHEERRMHERAT) (‘ETICY), a
substantial shareholder of the Company), where she was in charge of the sales and marketing of global business; from 2004 to
2012, she served as the senior vice president of ETIC where she was in charge of the company’s global business strategy and
risk management; from 2012 to 2018, she served as the chief executive officer of Elec-Tech Solid State Lighting (HK) Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company mainly engaged in international LED lighting business. Ms. Chan graduated from University of
Saskatchewan where she obtained a bachelor’s degree in Engineering in 1991, a master’s degree in Engineering in 1993 and a
master’s degree in Business Administration in 1995.

BREIBLL RE7H REALABMTEE RIEEZREFREF/HATE -BRL LN2018F 11 B MARER L
2019F 2B 22HEEEZERAA R EFENTE MEAKARATNETHERATES LI BRZ T H2019F12
A 12H B H#EE A A 5 58 & /A S Brilliant Lights (Finco) Pte. Ltd.&Brilliant Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd.
==

Mz T EH1998FEE20045F P EBEBEESNEARLAD REeATHEZTHEETRARMNERLAS (ME=HEE]) »
ﬁ@ﬂzis}%ﬁ&%)#E%E%&E&EJM% BERKTIBERHE ; B2004EE2012F R EsHEETS KA
WE BESR AT ZEHREREREAKEIE ; B2012EE2018F  RAQAT —BWB AT IEE (B8 AE
WSEEBE/AT(DZ’ATI REFEELEDERHER) ETEFATE BT TEXNEHRERABEARZ 110015
ETREES B P93EETREE T 24 K190 FEETHEEB LT 2.
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Mr. XIAO Yu (), aged 65, is an executive director of the Company and vice president of manufacturing of the Company.
Mr. Xiao joined the Group in May 2014 as a non-executive Director and re-designated as an executive Director in August 2014.
He is also a director/chairman of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Xiao has extensive experience in enterprise production management. He once served as a senior officer in companies listed
in Mainland China for several years and therefore has in-depth knowledge and understanding on corporate governance and
enterprise management. From July 1986 to June 1996, Mr. Xiao worked in Beijing Beinei Group* (1t i IE W& E) as the deputy
chief coordinator and the party secretary of the Communist Party of China of the Central Coordination Office, during which
he was awarded the titles of Beijing Model Worker and Beijing Excellent Young Intellectual. He was the chairman and general
manager of Westar (Zhongshan) Electrical Appliance Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (EiHrZE 23 (L) WEERAT), a subsidiary
of ETIC Group from July 1996 to August 2004, was the deputy general manager of the ETIC Group and the chairman of Westar
(Zhongshan) Electrical Appliance Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (Bi#r#Z E 25 (L) &iEHBRA =) from September 2004 to February
2008, and was senior vice president of ETIC from March 2012 to December 2014. From May 2008 to December 2019, he
had successively served as the consultant to the president of ETIC Group, the chairman and general manager of Elec-Tech
Photoelectric Technology (Dalian) Co., Ltd.* (KEE SR ER AR A F) and the general manager of Elec-Tech Photoelectric
Technology (Wuhu) Co., Ltd.* EEHERBENXBERIZAERAE). Mr. Xiao previously worked in different subsidiaries of ETIC
Group as: a director of Appliance of America (Zhuhai) Limited* (363823 (%8) BFR/AF), an executive director of Elec-
Tech Photoelectric Technology (Dalian) Co., Ltd.* (KEEZ BRI LB R /A B and an executive director of Huizhou Thorled-
opto Co., Ltd.* (BINFBEAESFHARAT). M. Xiao graduated from Dalian Institute of Technology (later renamed as
Dalian University of Technology) with a bachelor’s degree in 1985 and also graduated with an EMBA’'s degree from School of
Economics and Management of Tsinghua University in 2008. He holds the engineer’s qualification certificate.

HFERE RFSR BARAANTESZTREELEERGHNEIBH - HAENR2014F58MATER » &I
HITES HEN204F8ARBERNTES MEKAERRADETHBANES 'EF K-

AR EERANGELEEETI LR ENBFEETTREAE LI TRATSAEEAE R AERD
*EEEAFANDRRAMNIEBM B EZN1986FE7E E1996F6 A B EILRIENEBENT T(E > &I a
BAERREAEEEDSED B RT AR EHNEE - IEmATEETEEHHMD F oM B 19965F7
BE2004F8BHEETESHEEE TB AR ERS (L) HEFRATDMNESERFELE 712004
FORE2008F 2T HEEE S KA EKCEFREESS (D) REERATINEEZTEER
20123 E2014F 128 i EE B HES R B H -t H2008F5 8 E20190F 128 B EXEZHEEEH
MWEHER ABEESEABREER AN EESREFAKERFENESHENSHEBERATELIE . ¥
EBREFEDANRUTEEHEZEENHRB AT PETHT - 6=2ES (B ERABEF ABEES=NHER
FAERADRITES BEMNEBAESHERATINTEST HALEMBEREENAKBETIER (BERLAK
HETAE) ITRESBLT2MUKN2008FEEER EEASBKECTEERSR I A S EFEE  EET2M tA
BEREIEMEREEZ
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Mr. WANG Keven Dun (E£18), aged 32, is an executive director of the Company (Mr. Wang has been re-designated from a
non-executive Director to an executive Director on 1 September 2022) and was appointed a vice president of the Company and
a member of the Strategy and Planning Committee from 1 September 2022. Mr. Wang joined the Group in December 2016.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wang has been the analyst in Compass Lexecon LLC. from
August 2014 to December 2016. Mr. WANG obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics and Molecular and Cell Biology from
University of California, Berkeley in 2014 and a master’s degree in Business Administration from Harvard Business School in
2022. Mr. WANG Keven Dun is the son of Mr. WANG Donglei. Mr. WANG Donglei is an executive director and the chairman of
the Company.

Mr. WANG Keven Dun indirectly held 84,545,613 shares of the Company, representing 16.67% of issued shares of the
Company as of 31 December 2024.

FEEE BE32K 2R R HITEE (FAEEN 2022098 1HBAFRNTESHEANITES) » L0
2022F0 R 1HEZEAXR AR BERAHBERIEZETHE - THREN2016FE12AMARER - tERA
TABETHEBABES  THALEBE20145FE88 E2016FE 123 A Compass Lexecon LLC.IEEDMEN o £ 4
FR2014ER MM AZEB RO RINEGEE2N D FHRMBEY BB LB WHR2022E R HEERERE T
EEEELTEN - TEAERETFRELENRF MELEAEESARTINNITEETHESE-
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BLERERBRASE 202453

39



40

Directors and Senior Management

EFNEREERE

Non-executive Director

FERITES

Mr. YE Yong (M), aged 56, is a non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Ye joined the Company in November 2018.
From 1991 to 1994, Mr. Ye served as the department manager of Chongging Qinwang Company Limited* (EEZEHBRA
B]), where he was involved in the foreign trade and management matters; in 1994, he founded and had served as the chairman
and general manager of Xiehe Lighting Company Limited* (% F1B&BEABRAED) till 1999. He founded Sichuan NVC Lighting
Equipment Operations Co., Ltd.* (74)I|E - BREEZEMEE B RAE) (“Sichuan NVC”) in 1999 and has served as the chairman
since then, in charge of sales and management of the Company’s business in Sichuan Province. Mr. Ye graduated from
economical management department of Southwest University in 1991 with a college diploma.

Mr. Ye and his spouse held an aggregate of 28,147,200 shares of the Company, representing 5.55% of the issued shares of the
Company as of 31 December 2024.

HEXE IRESGH EAATFEHNITER - HEEMN2018FE11ANMARAT o 4 B1991FE E19944F > it
EREETERADEAHAKE  RENEREEITIE; 19945 BB MBI ERAR » WLE1994FEFE
1900FETEFT R RAEKIR ; 710095 > 8#iMY)I | E LHRABZMEEAGRAR (WIIEL) TETEF R
BEARATNRO)IENHEREEB T HEE MM EREN AR ASBEEEBREX  EREF.

HAEEHERBERIFEAEERRTKRMD28,147,2000% » (54 A B 1R2024F 12831 H B #1715 895.55% ©
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Independent Non-executive Directors

BIERITES

Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway (ZF#f), aged 70, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Lee joined
the Company in November 2012. He received a bachelor of arts degree from Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston
Polytechnic) in London and further obtained his postgraduate diploma in business from Curtin University of Technology in
Australia. Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young (“EY”) for over 29 years, until 2009, during which he held key leadership
positions in the development of EY in China. Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants, Australia and New Zealand, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee
currently also serves as an independent non-executive director of Chaowei Power Holdings Limited, West China Cement
Limited, China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., GCL New Energy Holdings Limited, (the shares of all these companies are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange), and Intchains Group Limited (the shares of which are listed on NASDAQ Stock
Exchange). He previously acted as an independent non-executive director of CITIC Securities Company Limited (the shares
of which are listed on main board of the Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange) from November 2011 to May
2016, Tibet Water Resources Ltd (the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from March 2011
to February 2020, China Rundong Auto Group Limited (the shares of which were previously listed on main board of the Stock
Exchange and were delisted in 2022) from July 2014 to December 2020, WH Group Limited (the shares of which are listed an
main board of the Stock Exchange) from July 2014 to June 2022, Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the listing of the shares
on the Stock Exchange being withdrawn in July 2023) from November 2013 to July 2023, GOME Retail Holdings Limited (the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from Marh 2011 to September 2023, and Guotai Junan
Securities Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange)
from October 2016 to November 2023, respectively. Mr. Lee was a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Hunan Province (B & & Bl Z &) in China from 2008 to 2017,

FARAHERE RE705 BA AR BIUIERNTEST - ELER2012FE11BNMAXRAT R BHEHEBEAS
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AR~ 1R20114EC B E£2023F 9 i & FR20165F 108 £2023F 11 BRI T EES RN BER AR (—RB&
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Mr. WANG Xuexian (E25%), aged 61, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Wang joined the
Company in May 2014. Mr. Wang graduated from Renmin University of China with a Master’s degree in Civil Laws in January
1990. He is a lawyer in China, and his qualification for serving as an independent director has been approved by the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. From January 1990 to the present, Mr. Wang has worked as an assistant professor and lecturer in Dalian
University of Technology. He currently serves as a deputy professor of Dalian University of Technology, a lawyer of Heng Xin
Law Office* GREZ1B{52EMEFFR) in Liaoning. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in law studies, teaching and the work of
lawyers, once served as an independent director of several listed or unlisted companies in the Mainland China, and has in-depth
knowledge and understanding on domestic and overseas laws, corporate management and corporate governance. Mr. Wang
acted as an independent director of ETIC from April 2014 to October 2018.

FEELEE BF6IR eARBBIUIERITES c THLER2014F58MARRT c EHREN1990F1H E
RARARKEZ T ESREZIZBIEN HMAFTIHEMENR TERS L EESRFMBILEFTER T
HEBI0F1BESHERBETIAZSTI (5 BEXYH B B TAGEETAREETIASRER EEE
ERMEREM TAE EE RN IR HEREM T LR B ETHRPHAE LT RIELST
NEBUEBEE HEBERIMNEE CESERATAEBEEFAWIHMIBRE - THAEZBN2014FE48 E20185F
108 i EEEEHENEBILES -
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Mr. CHEN Hong (Bk354), aged 59, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Chen joined the Company in
December 2021. He served as an engineer of Guangzhou Wenchong Shipyard Co., Ltd. * (BN >CH AL R A R S E A 8) from
September 1986 to January 1991. From July 2002 to July 2020, Mr. Chen served as a lawyer of Guangdong Yinghui Law Firm*
(EERBEREMEFFN) . Since August 2020, he has been serving as a lawyer of Guangdong Jiegao Law Firm* (EBERiES
7EEIEFEFT) . Mr. Chen graduated from Dalian Institute of Technology* (K3 T 2 5%) (currently known as Dalian University of
Technology* (K72 T K£)) and obtained a bachelor’s degree in ship engineering in July 1986. He also obtained the legal
professional qualification certificate from the Ministry of Justice of the People’s Republic of China in September 2002.

FRSASC A > 59 B AR AT B FHMITEE PRI LN 2021 FE12AMAR AT c B1986F9RE1991F18 > &
EEINS OB ERSF AT EE LIZEM oL EBH2002FE 7B E2020F 7R HEE BB EMERTIEFRE
Bfoc B2020F8B R TERES RMERFIEMTRM - MAELENI19086FETHEEN KB T2 GRBE | KERE
TAE) N EMM TR E B0 H I N2002FI ERE ARENB T EHE T EEZHESHK
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Senior Management
=R EEE

Mr. WANG Donglei (E£ &), aged 60, is the chairman and the chief technology officer of the Company. His biographical
details are set out above under the paragraph headed “Executive Directors”.

FELERE RFOOR RAAAMNEETRAEREME MNEAABNEELXAITESFI —RPMEA-

Ms. CHAN Kim Yung, Eva (&%), aged 57, is the chief executive officer and vice chairman of the Company. Her
biographical details are set out above under the paragraph headed “Executive Directors”.

MRABR L RESTR BREAANERITERIEFR - MHNEABNEELXAITES I —RPlE-

Mr. XIAO Yu (B ), aged 65, is the vice-president in charge of the manufacturing of the Company. His biographical details are
set out above under the paragraph headed “Executive Directors”.

HFELEE RE6SK BARARBEEERENRBH - MHNEAABNEE L RITES I —RPHH-

44 NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Directors and Senior Management

EFhERELRE

Mr. NG Hon Lun ({RFZ{®&), aged 44, is the chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Ng joined the Group in 2020 as chief
financial advisor of the Company and was appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company with effect from 5 January
2021. Mr. Ng has more than 22 years of experience in finance and accounting. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ng processed
professional accounting and auditing experience with RSM Hong Kong as deputy audit manager. After that, he acted as
financial controller in TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited, a company which shares were previously listed on the
Stock Exchange and were delisted in the year 2016 (stock code: 2618), vice president and chief financial officer in Unisplendour
Technology (Holdings) Limited (now known as Sino ICT Holdings Limited), a company which shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0365); and deputy general manager and financial controller in Shenzhen Infinova Limited, a company
which shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 2528), respectively. Mr. Ng graduated from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in accounting obtained in 2002. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

HEREE RFE4MR BEARANEFYHBE - AAENR2020FMARER  EHAREAEEMFBERR
R2021F1 AR ERERBREMBE MAERNMB RS A EEREB22FER - EMARRE 2/ A5k
EHEEPREHMEFMETEARCE AFEXENEHNEAER HBMBARETCLEMNKERE
RAB (ERHBRBAIA L (RH S : 2618) W H2016F Rk M BMRE « ZXRE (IER) BIRAT
(ﬁ%ﬁuﬁiﬂ&?’“ﬂxﬁﬁﬁ@j) (HRMIEAIAr £ (R AU5E 1 0365)) EERIMBKREREMBE  UKRTE
RYERABKROABRAT (EROIARINZZA L™ (BRI ASE ! 2528))?)251 BIREE R BRE Lk
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Ms. YANG Yan, aged 50, is the chief operating officer of the Company. Ms. Yang joined the Group in September 2023 as
assistant to the chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as the chief operating officer of the Company with
effect from December 2023. Ms. Yang has more than 26 years of experience in home appliance industry especially in oversea
market. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Yang served ETIC, a substantial shareholder of the Company, as vice president
between April 2014 and May 2023, and as director of ETIC from April 2014 to June 2022. Ms. Yang graduated from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics where she obtained Bachelor’s degree in International Trade in 1998 and also graduated
with an EMBA’s degree from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2002.

BiEZt 50 EAAEINEEEEE - BLTN2023F9BMARER  IEFEAATNITHRERBIE TR
2023 F 12 R ER AR AR NEEEEE BRIEREELLHEBI T HEBEEBBE26EMNLKE I A
KABA B TR2014F 4B E2023E 5 B B E XA A T ERFTES HENGER  WHR2014F48 E
2022 R HiMIEAEEHENEE G T8 FEEXEN TR AZ - EHEERESFEXE2 24 UK
2002FERERPNARE  EESHEEBAETIEHEEBE LT 21

Ms. XIE Dongmei (8% #8), Aged 51, is the vice president in charge of new business development of the Company. Ms.
Xie joined the Group in November of 2018. She has many years of experience in oversea market development, international
business negotiation and operations management. She severed Elec-Tech International Co., Ltd.* (2B HEER KRN BRE
‘A7) (“ETIC”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, as sales manager and sales director etc. between 2003 and 2011.
From 2012 to 2018, she served HKSSL as assistant general manager and executive deputy general manager. In addition, Ms.
Xie has been appointed as a director of NVC Lighting Japan K.K., a subsidiary of the Company effective from December 2019.
Ms. Xie graduated from Economics Department of Sun Yat-Sen University where she obtained Bachelor’s degree in Economics
in 1995. She is also a certified Intermediate Economist and International Business Engineer.

HEBRL RES1R BARBEMEFHENBNER - HLLN2018FAMARER - MASLFE
FTERTESITHER BERAFTKARCEEESELR  MR2003FE 22011 FELTHEZTHEBRR
PBERRE (MBFHE CARAZEIERR) EAHECEREERESHE c B20128 E2018% 5B
BERIRKEREBERIE LT WHR2019F12B RBEBEEARLRE ZH B AENVC Lighting Japantkz{ &1t
BEFEoHZ TR0 FEERFUABRKREZZ TEKSERLE T2 o HLTAF PR TE & EKE
HEMERFES o
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Ms. FAN Qianwen GEf&Z), aged 51, is the sales vice deputy general manager of HKSSL, a subsidiary of the Company, in
charge of sales management and business development. Ms. Fan joined the Group in July, 2012, has years of experience in
oversea market development and new business management. She served ETIC, a substantial shareholder of the Company, as
sales manager and sales vice-director etc. between 1998 and 2012. Ms. Fan graduated from Master’s degree in International
Marketing of Macquarie University in 2014.

BREELLT BER B SN B AR EAMENHERELKE A5 R ESELNIHESERERT
BoSBUITR2012F7TAMAKREER EHELSENBINTBIIRATERESE T /ERLKER - Y 1998F F2012
FEEESEE(FXATDZEERR)  EAHEREMIERBESERE X TN2014FEXNEEHAE
EEBEETISEHBELIE .

Mr. Akira MORITSUNE (#18%), aged 63, is an executive director of NVC Lighting Japan Co., Ltd. (‘NVCJP”), in charge
of the overall operation of all NVCJP business unit since his appointment by the Group on 5 July 2021. After Mr. Moritsune
graduated from Yokohama National University with a degree in economics, he joined for Toshiba group company which is one of
Japan’s leading international companies. He has led the group for many years as head of sales for the lighting businesses which
include housing, public facilities building, lamps and equipment at Toshiba Lighting & Technology Corporation.

HIEE %A% > 635 ° NVC Lighting Japan Co., Ltd. (TNVCJPJ) MFITE S > B2021E7ASH WA E BT
Mok BENVCIPERETHNERELE RAEEXENBREACUASZ EELEL2E2UB HMATESER
2E) (BRBANBERASZ—) MEBERZRBARZMASIHRTRAEENHETELSE ZEXBKEREEE
NHRHEEE - BEMKE
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Mr. Chikao SANO (f£¥F 52 4), aged 60, is an executive director of NVC Lighting Japan Co., Ltd. (“NVCJP”),
in charge of the overall operation of all NVCJP business unit since joining the Group on 1 January 2019. After
Mr. CHIKAO graduated from Kanto Gakuin University with a degree in engineering, he joined for Toshiba group
company which is one of Japan’s leading international companies. He served as the head of lighting equipment
and electrical equipment at Toshiba Lighting & Technology Corporation for many years, primarily responsible for
residential lighting.

EF R LKL 605 2NVC Lighting Japan Co., Ltd. (TNVCJP ) BIEfTE S > B2019FE1B1HMARER L
> BENVCIPEBBE TN ERES AHLFERENBHRERAZ B/ I2E2UEBE HMATEZEE QT
(HAEANBERABZ—) MBAERZBEARMABETIRBAXGENEARESIEZF T EZAEEER
BA o

Mr. Joe CLARK, aged 65, is the chief executive officer of NVC Lighting Limited (“NVC UK?”), a subsidiary of the Company, and
a director of UK and Nordic subsidiaries. Joe obtained a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering. Mr. Joe joined the Group
in late 2016, has held senior positions in a number of overseas market-leading electrical product manufacturers and distributors.
Mr. Joe leads NVC UK’s development programs across multiple areas of the business.

Joe CLARKE & » IRE655% » 24 A B MY B A TNVC Lighting Limited TEEE ) WEEHITEURER K
BB ATNES c Joe B BEM TIEE L E 1 JoeM2016EEMARER  BRZRBINTIHELENSE
REMNEAAKCHEEEAER Joc BB THBE L ELEXHKEIMNE RS -
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Mr. Andy PAGETT, aged 59, is an executive director of NVC UK. Andy joined the Group in October 2017. He is the chief
operating officer of UK and Nordic subsidiaries. Andy has extensive experience in operational management. From 2007 to 2017,
he worked for a privately owned UK company, Unipart Group of Companies, running both forward and reverse logistics and
repair operations for various blue-chip companies, from Vodafone, Sky and Three Mobile. Andy has an extensive knowledge
and experience in implementation of lean manufacturing, having worked with Industry Forum, a lean consultancy, during his time
with Unipart. Prior to 2007, Andy has worked in several manufacturing sectors, including Defence, automotive and aerospace.
Andy graduated from Coventry University with a MSc in Engineering Business Management.

Andy PAGETTH 4% IRFL9m BRRBEE THHITES - AndyR2017F108 M AR EE - fth 2 =B & IEBR
MEBABNEREEEE AdyEBEEEFAER S ENLER  c H2007FF2017F  MMEREE —KRLE QT
Unipart Group of Companies T{E> AVodafone ~ Sky&Three MobileE 2 REE N T E S 1E M K FE B¥R &
HEER AndyERGRNEENM T AEE S ENAM KK > FUnipartT BB S EB R 559 A Sindustry
ForumT {Ec 1220075 A AndyB EZEEETE T/ SFERHF - AEEMEMK - AndyE 2 Coventry
University » S TE X ERERBE L 210

Mr. Neil CLYDESDALE, aged 52, is the commercial and finance director of NVC UK and a director of UK and Nordic
subsidiaries. Neil joined the Group in later 2020, bringing experience from a career exclusively in the electrical product industry,
including significant tenure at overseas market leading businesses such as Honeywell MK Electric and Weidmuller. Neil is a
Chartered Management Accountant (ACMA), having begun his career in finance and subsequently transitioned into senior
commercial and business leadership roles. Neil leads the wider commercial development and oversees all business support
functions.

Neil CLYDESDALES & » 5255 > A HEBEIE T E R AR » UK EB KRIGEUH B 2 BRI E S o Neilit2020F T F F AR
EE BRTEASRERTENE EMELE  GiEEHoneywell MK ElectrickWeidmullerF i858 e 2 ERMNER
o Nell2— 21T EIE S5 ANACMA) B E L FRN EMEE BRAENSREEMREBEER U -NelBEERZNE
EERUEEMBEBEINE

BLERERBRASE 202453

49



50

Directors and Senior Management

EFNEREERE

Company Secretary
ANEIME

Ms. KWOK Siu Ying Sarah (88JK%), aged 41, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 26 August 2022.
Ms. Kwok is currently a manager of corporate services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited. She has over nine years of
experience in the corporate services industry.

Ms. Kwok obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Business Studies from University College Dublin, National University of Ireland in
June 2012 and a master’s degree in Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in November 2017. She
has been an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an associate member of The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom since 2018. She is also an affiliate member of The Society of Trust and Estate
Practitioners.

Ms. Kwok is currently the joint company secretary of Shanghai Bio-heart Biological Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2185), Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6609), Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc., a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2373) and Black Sesame International Holding Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2533).

BBIKE L L 4158 » FR2022F8B26 HEZ T AR R B AR TE - LTI Vistra Corporate Services (HK)
Limited W £ RECIB - HECERBITERBANFLR -

HUETR2012F6 A ERERFRAUBLMMABEHEERE LB W R2017F 1B ESBHLGREFEREE
ERRITR2MU-KE2018FE—ERATBRAAEAEN T URARARKHF AR AEAGNE L -KITAE
RESKEERIBENBEEE -

BRLEBEBLEEEOREYRMBRNBRAE (—HKRMXPAERLTHRE > RIS 1 2185) ~ EiBLIR
BERRERODERAR (—RIEBXFAERLTHAT  RMHMRSE 1 6609) ZRHEBREREXARAT
(—RIPBZPAERLETHRE > RMHRSE 2373) REZMEEBBRERBERAB(—RINBMIFAERLS
AT IRHAIE : 2633)MEFE LB WE -
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The Board presents this report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Financial
Statements”).

Principal Activities

The Company was redomiciled from the British Virgin Islands to the
Cayman Islands on 30 March 2010 and incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability. The Group’s operations are conducted
mainly through the direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company. The
Group is principally engaged in the design, development, production,
marketing and sale of a variety of lighting products, and gradually extend
to non-lighting business areas. During the Reporting Period, there is
no significant change in the Group’s principal activities. The financial
performance of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the
consolidated financial statements on pages 180 to 183.

Subsidiaries and Associates

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
Particulars of the Group’s interests in associates are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The Group’s profit for the Reporting Period and the state of affairs of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 180 to 304 of this annual report.

The Board has proposed not to declare final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting (“Annual General Meeting”) of the Company
is scheduled to be held on 13 June 2025. A notice convening the Annual
General Meeting will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in
due course.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
10 June 2025 to Friday, 13 June 2025 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong before 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 9 June 2025.
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Business Review

The discussion for the business review of the Reporting Period of the
Group as well as the major risks and uncertainty factors facing the Group
are set forth in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13
to 35 of this annual report. The future business development of the Group
is set forth in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 7 to 12 of this annual
report. The critical indices adopted in the financial statements for the
analysis of the performance of the Group during the Reporting Period are
set forth in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 35
of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations affecting the
operation of the Group significantly.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group acknowledges that our employees, clients and business
cooperative partners are the key to our sustainable development. The
Group is committed to the establishment of close relationship with our
employees and the provision of industrialised, chain-based and one-stop
solutions to our clients, and continues to strengthen the cooperation with
our business cooperative partners so as to attain the win-win outcome for
various parties and push ahead with the healthy and rapid development
of the lighting industry.

Environmental Protection and Social
Responsibility

The Group is committed to the support for the sustainable environmental
protection. As the well-known supplier for lighting products in the
industry, the Group shall comply with various environmental protection
laws and regulations formulated by the relevant international and local
government departments. The Group is the advocate pioneer for green
lighting and committed to the promotion of “Lighting Environment”: to
beautify the commercial and living space with artificial lighting, protect
the healthy living environment for mankind with energy-saving lighting for
environmental protection, and support the energy-saving environmental
protection business for the whole world with action taken. The Group will
go further to continue to carry out the enterprise social responsibilities as
a means of feedback to our society.
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Equity-Linked Agreement

Save as disclosed in the “Restricted Share Unit Scheme” section in this
annual report, the Group neither entered into nor had any equity-linked
agreement during the Reporting Period.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, each Director
is entitled to the compensation out of the assets and profits of the
Company for all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages, expenses or
liabilities incurred due to the execution of his/her duties or taken place
related to such execution. The Company has taken out the appropriate
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy for the Directors and
officers of the Group as a means of security.

Financial Highlights

A summary of the audited results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five reporting periods is set out on pages 5 to 6 of this
annual report.

Bank Loans

Details of bank loans are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 268 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not grant any loans
to any entities, nor did it offer any financial assistance to its associates or
make any guarantee for the facilities granted to its associates.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment for the

Reporting Period are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 243 to 244 of this annual report.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital for the Reporting Period are set

out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements on page 271 of
this annual report.
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Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 303 to 304 and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 184 to 186 of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to US$336,707,000.

Public Float

As of the date of this annual report, based on the information publicly
available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules for the Reporting Period and at any time prior to the date of this
annual report.

Important events after the Reporting Period

No important events affecting the Company occurred since 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where
the Company was incorporated.

Tax Allowances

The Company is not aware of any particular tax allowances granted to the
Company’s Shareholders due to their interests in its securities.
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Directors

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:
Executive Directors
WANG Donglei appointed as a non-executive Director on
11 January 2013, re-designated as an
executive Director on 2 February 2015,
resigned as the chief executive officer
on 22 February 2019, re-designated as
a non-executive Director on 20 May 2020,
re-designated again as an executive Director
on 17 July 2020 and appointed as the chief
technology officer on 19 July 2021
appointed as an executive Director and
vice chairman of the Company on
25 November 2018 and appointed as the
chief executive officer on 22 February 2019
appointed as a non-executive Director on
29 May 2014 and re-designated as an
executive Director on 8 August 2014
appointed as an executive Director on
12 December 2016 and re-designated as
a non-executive Director on 20 May 2020,
re-designated as an executive Director on
1 September 2022

CHAN Kim Yung, Eva

XIAO Yu

WANG Keven Dun

Non-executive Director
YE Yong appointed on 25 November 2018
Independent Non-executive Directors

LEE Kong Wai, Conway appointed on 28 November 2012
WANG Xuexian appointed on 29 May 2014
CHEN Hong appointed on 1 December 2021

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Directors’ and senior management’s biographies are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 36 to 50 of this
annual report.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract with us that is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The relevant information on Directors’ service contracts is set out in
the section headed “Appointment and Re-election of Directors” in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 72 to 94 of this annual report.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

Save for certain continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this report, no
Director nor an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or at any
time during the Reporting Period.

Confirmation of Independence from the
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, Mr. WANG Xuexian
and Mr. CHEN Hong, the annual confirmation letter of their respective
independence. The Company considers that the independent non-
executive Directors were independent from their respective date of
appointment to 31 December 2024 and remain independent as of the
date of this annual report.

Arrangement to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the “Restricted Share Unit Scheme” section in this
annual report, at no time during the Reporting Period or at the end of the
Reporting Period was the Company, its subsidiaries, its holding company
or the subsidiaries of its holding company, a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or recorded in the register required to be maintained pursuant to
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were otherwise required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
provisions of the Model Code were as follows:
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Approximate

percentage
Number of Shares or of the total
Name of Director Nature of interests Class of Shares underlying Shares issued Shares
(Note 1)
HERITROLH
EEH4 REHEE & 15 £8 7 B 17 sk AE R IR D B B M4 E 2Lt
(Hia£1)
YE Yong Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 27,403,900 (L) 5.40%
L] BEREAA Zimps
Spouse’s interest Ordinary Shares 743,300 (L) 0.15%
BBy = Zimps (Note 2)
(Hiz22)
WANG Keven Dun Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 84,545,613 (L) 16.67%
T BREBA ZmEs (Note 3)
(K1z%3)

Notes: Htat -

1. The approximate percentage of the total issued Shares is 1. HERTRMOBHENBMAB DL 2EBA
calculated with reference to the Company’s number of Shares in NBEIR2024F 12831 HZ EETRNDER
issue as at 31 December 2024, i.e. 507,273,677 Shares. (B1507,273,677R: e 17) 5tE ©

2. As these Shares are held by Ms. GAO Xia, the spouse of Mr. YE 2. HRZEROGHNBAENREBEER LT
Yong, Mr. YE Yong is deemed to be interested in these Shares. FE ALEMHBRERBRARZERG S

HERED -

3. These Shares were held by Canopy Capital Limited. As Canopy 3. ZERMHXREEABRLABFE AR
Capital Limited is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Keven REEBABRAGHIELEBIZEEE
Dun, Mr. WANG Keven Dun is deemed to be interested in these B ITHEEERRANRZERDPER#
Shares. o

4. (L) represents long position. 4, (IR S =1
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were notifiable to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or recorded in the register required to
be maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
which were notifiable to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the provisions of the Model Code.

Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had 5% or more interests
or short positions in the issued Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

bR EXFRIREEE 9 > 1R2024F12H31H > &
NAEFYURSTHRABITER KA T
Hi#zE (EER(BHERBEKRHD)EXV
) 2R EEARD HEREETERN
WRABBEIARE(GESRPERL) S
XVEBE 7 K8 D BAME A AT KRB ZFTH
BRI ke (BERB(ESERIPERA)H
EWEEIHRARTBENERERXE) XA
SEARIB(GE S R ERA) FE 3528 B EA
@ﬂf%zuaﬁﬂﬁmﬁﬁﬂ E#EIJZE%D@
NIRRT A e g

;.Eg% g?—:ﬂ:ﬁ&*ﬁ%ﬁﬂzfﬁﬂﬁ

R2024F12831H  MALRDEETAES
THABMA RE(ESRPERA)SE
QG BEFEENELLMER T AL
(FEXRRBDEFHIESTHAE) RERIT
Hyﬁ})ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁx@ﬂw&ﬁm%utm% i 3
/J\E'n-

Approximate

percentage
Number of Shares or of the total
Name of Shareholder Nature of interests Class of Shares underlying Shares issued Shares
. . maﬁﬁém%é
RRBE HEME &1 8R! Rz iR sk R R (P & B BaB oL
(ffzz1)
Elec-Tech International (H.K.)  Beneficial owner Ordlnary Shares 74,034,600 (L) 14.59%
Cpmpan Limited EEEEA EiEg
ERHEER (&5 ERAH
ETIC ) Interest of corporation controlled by Ordlnaw Shares 74,034,600 (L) 14.59%
ERBE the substantial shareholder EER (Note 2)
EREMEGINEENER (Hrzt2)
Gold Interact Investment Security interest Ordlnary Shares 64,935,064 (L) 12.80%
Limited il o BBk (Note 3)
EHNRERRAE (H15£3)
SU Lixin Beneficial owner Ordlnary Shares 64,935,064 (L) 12.80%
BR 3L Bk EER
Rising Wealth Limited Eenefﬁ:ial owner Ordlnary Shares 63,840,000 (L) 12.58%
MAHBRAR BaEBA EEk
ZHAO Yu Interest of corporation controlled by Ordlnary Shares 63,840,000 (L) 12.58%
e the substantial Shareholder BEER (Note 4)
TERRMEHNEENER (Hyzt4)
Harbour Faith Enterprises Beneficial owner Ord|nary Shares 41,491,100 (L) 8.18%
Limited EEEEA BBk
CHAN Sin Wa Carrie Interest of corporation controlled by Ord|nary Shares 41,491,100 (L) 8.18%
Mg the substantial Shareholder EERk (Note 5)
TEREEGNZENER (Hiz5)
Canopy Capital Limited Beneficial owner Orolmary Shares 84,545,613 (L) 16.67%
REEAERAA BREBEA eVl
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Approximate

percentage
Number of Shares or of the total
Name of Shareholder Nature of interests Class of Shares underlying Shares issued Shares
,_HéNoz‘eg
- . EBE TR A
IR ATE HaEE R A5 £8 5 P HAEmRMEE HBAE ST
(Hzt1)
Leap Gain Limited Interest of corporation controlled by Ordlnary Shares 84,545,613 (L) 16.67%
the substantial Shareholder i@ (Note 6)
TERFMEHNZENER (Mzte)
Oneworld Legend Limited Interest of corporation controlled by Ordlnary Shares 84,545,613 (L) 16.67%
the substantial Shareholder ZER (Note 6)
ZR RN AR R (Hzte)
Harker Hall Capital Ltd. Interest of corporation controlled by Ordmary Shares 84,545,613 (L) 16.67%
the substantial Shareholder EiEk (Note 6)
TERRMEHNEENER (Hizt6)
Notes: Hizt
1. The approximate percentage of the total issued Shares is 1. EEBRTRMBENBAT DL 2 A
calculated with reference to the Company’s number of Shares in AER2024F12831H 2 EBITRHOEE
issue as at 31 December 2024, i.e. 507,273,677 Shares. (BP507,273,6778. AR 15) 5T & ©
2. These Shares were held by Elec-Tech International (H.K.) Company 2. EZ%HXT%EE BERHEZRE (F8) fRAB]
Limited. As Elec-Tech International (H.K.) Company Limited is a A BEHERER (58 ARABRER
wholly-owned subsidiary of ETIC, ETIC is deemed to be interested SHENZENB AR FHILERHER
in all these Shares. RWARZERDPEE R
3. Gold Interact Investment Limited has entered into a share charge 3. EPMBEEARAE ((FREARA) BHREK
as chargee with Mr. SU Lixin as chargor, pursuant to which IHARE ERI|EA) ST ILKRMFLH
64,935,064 Shares were charged. Gold Interact Investment Limited 3 HEILRIRSC 64,935,004 PR o &R
is deemed to have interest in these Shares by virtue of its security ML B AR AERER MR Z
interest. ERMER TR
4, These Shares were held by Rising Wealth Limited. As Rising Wealth 4. ZERMDBAMAARABRGA - AT
Limited is wholly-owned by Ms. ZHAO Yu, Ms. ZHAO Yu is deemed BRABAMBR T 2EER > HHEL
to be interested in these Shares. THWRERNZERDPHERE R
5} These Shares were held by Harbour Faith Enterprises Limited. As 5. Z F MR 1p HHarbour Faith Enterprises
Harbour Faith Enterprises Limited is wholly-owned by Ms. CHAN Limited & o M tHarbour Faith
Sin Wa Carrie, Ms. CHAN Sin Wa Carrie is deemed to be interested Enterprises Limited i [RIEEE L + 2 & 4
in these Shares. B-REBEELUTHRARNZEIROTER
M o
6. These Shares were held by Canopy Capital Limited. Canopy 6. ZERMARBEEARAERABDFAE -
Capital Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Leap Gain %ﬁ$ﬁf5§/ zELeap Gain |_|m|tedB’J
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Oneworld Legend EME AT Leap Gain LimitedRIHH
Limited. As Oneworld Legend Limited is wholly owned by Harker Oneworld Legend Limited®& %5 o B
Hall Capital Ltd., which is in turn wholly owned by Mr. WANG ItOneworldLegend LimitedfHarker Hall
Keven Dun, Mr. WANG Keven Dun is deemed to be interested in Capital Ltd.%ﬁ%ﬁ > Harker Hall Capital
these Shares. Ltd R TWEAELERE > THEAERES
NZERR D PR R
7. (L) represents long position. 7. LREREFE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as the
Directors are aware, no other person (except the Directors and chief
executive) or corporation had 5% or more interests or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares which were recorded in the register
required to be maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

Br EXXCPIREEE SN LB E P A > 1220244
128318 BIEEFAL (RRBDEFHAR
SITHASRIN SUEEERAELINIRE
(BHFKRHAG RGN ) F336IF R ERAT A

BENE

5C 1l P9 BY AR 10 e 48 B A& 195 % B3 X

LR mEK A
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Restricted Share Unit Scheme
Purposes

The restricted share unit scheme of the Company (the “RSU Scheme”)
was approved and adopted by the Shareholders on January 25, 2019
(the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to further
improve corporate governance, enhance the sense of responsibility and
sense of mission of the Company’s management team and to promote
healthy development and sustainability of the Company so as to ensure
that the Company’s growth objective will be achieved by providing
certain individuals with the opportunity to acquire equity interests in the
Company.

Participants in the RSU Scheme

The Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors), the directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries and the employees of the Group or any other person as
determined by the Board who the Board considers, in its absolute
discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares under the RSU Scheme

The total number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted
pursuant to the RSU Scheme and any other share-based incentive
schemes of the Company is 5 percent of the Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"). At any time during the
Term (as defined below), the maximum aggregate number of Shares that
may underlie the RSUs granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme shall be
the Scheme Mandate Limit minus (a) the maximum aggregate number
of Shares underlying the RSUs already granted pursuant to the RSU
Scheme; and (b) the maximum aggregate number of Shares that may
be issued and/or transferred upon the vesting or exercise of any awards
already granted pursuant to any other equity-based incentive plans of the
Company.

As at the date of this annual report, no Shares are held by the trustee
of the RSU Scheme (the “Trustee”) for future grant of RSUs. As the RSU
Scheme expired in February 2024, the total number of shares available
for issue as at the date of this annual report in connection with the RSU
Scheme is nil.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant
The number of Shares entitled by a participant is subject to such terms,

conditions and undertakings as the Board considers, in its sole and
absolute discretion, appropriate.
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Vesting

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, determine the vesting terms
and conditions and the vesting schedule.

Upon the vesting of RSUs on the vesting date, the Company shall, in
its absolute discretion, satisfy such RSUs either by: (a) directing and
procuring the Trustee to transfer to the grantee the relevant number of
Shares credited as fully paid; or (b) paying or procuring the payment of a
cash payment to the grantee, and (c) to the extent that the grantee has
any Shares purchased by the Trustee (the “Purchased Shares”) which
were held by the Trustee, directing and procuring the Trustee to transfer
such Purchased Shares to the grantee and remit to the grantee any
distributions received by the Trustee in respect of Purchased Shares held
on trust by it (if any).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company, the Trustee or any
grantee would or might be prohibited from dealing in the Shares by the
Listing Rules or by any other applicable laws, regulations or rules within
the period specified above, the date on which the relevant Shares shall
be transferred to the grantee shall occur as soon as possible after the
date when such dealing is permitted by the Listing Rules or by any other
applicable laws, regulations or rules.

Duration

The RSU Scheme was valid and effective for a period commencing
from the Adoption Date and expired on the fifth anniversary thereof (the
“Term”). The RSU Scheme expired in February 2024.

Details of RSUs Granted under the RSU Scheme

The Company has not granted any RSUs to the Participants pursuant to
the RSU Scheme since the Adoption Date.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company (including the sale of treasury shares). As at 31 December
2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.
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Interests of Directors in Competing Business

During the Reporting period, so far as the Directors were aware, none of
the Directors nor their respective close associate (as defined under the
Listing Rules) had any direct or indirect interests in any businesses that
constitutes or may constitute a competing business of the Company.

Controlling Shareholders and Their Pledge of
Shares

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have any controlling
shareholders.

Connected Transaction

On 8 March 2024, NVC Lighting (as purchaser, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) on one part, and Shining Beauty AB and
Opeco AB (as vendors) on the other part, entered into a share purchase
agreement in relation to the Acquisition. Further details of the Acquisition
(including, among others, the terms, consideration and purpose) are
set out in the section headed “Mergers, Acquisitions, Investments
and Disposals and Significant Investments held” of this report and the
Company’s announcements dated 8 March 2024 and 29 April 2024.

As at the date of the Acquisition, each of the Vendors held 20% of
the entire issued share capital of NVC Lighting AB. Accordingly, each
of Shining Beauty AB and Opeco AB was a substantial shareholder
of NVC Lighting AB and a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. The Acquisition
constituted a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Acquisition was subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, and is exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Framework Finished Products and Raw Materials Purchase
Agreement

The Company entered into a framework finished products and raw
materials purchase agreement on 10 December 2018 with ETIC (the
“ETIC Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Company agreed
to purchase finished products and raw materials including but not limited
to LED chips, LED power sources and LED lamp products from ETIC
and its subsidiaries on a non-exclusive basis. As ETIC is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, ETIC and its subsidiaries are connected
persons of the Company (as defined under the Listing Rules), and
the transactions between ETIC and its subsidiaries and the Company
constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of Listing Rules.
The quality, quantity and technical standards of the products delivered by
ETIC and its subsidiaries must meet the Company’s standards as set out
in the sub-contract for each purchase order. The prices charged by ETIC
and its subsidiaries will be agreed following arm’s length negotiations
between the parties with reference to the prevailing market price. The
term of the framework agreement was three years commencing on 1
January 2019. The Company entered into such purchase agreement
given the Group has a continuous demand for the relevant finished
products and raw materials in the next three years and the fees
charged by ETIC and its subsidiaries are competitive (please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 10 December 2018 for details).
The Company entered into a renewed framework finished products and
raw materials purchase agreement with ETIC (the “New ETIC Purchase
Agreement”) on 26 November 2021, which the Company agreed to
purchase finished products and raw materials including but not limited
to LED chips, LED power sources and LED lamp products from ETIC
and its subsidiaries on a non-exclusive basis. The New ETIC Purchase
Agreement has a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2022
(please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26 November 2021
for details).
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The maximum aggregate annual amount payable by us to ETIC and its
subsidiaries under the New ETIC Purchase Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2024 is US$18,126,000. During the Reporting Period, the
actual amount paid by us to ETIC and its subsidiaries under the New
ETIC Purchase Agreement was approximately US$515,000 which did not
exceed the annual cap.

ETIC Sales Agreement

The Company entered into a framework sales agreement (the “ETIC Sales
Agreement”) on 10 December 2018 with ETIC, pursuant to which, the
Company agreed to sell finished products and raw materials including
but not limited to LED luminaire products to ETIC and its associates
on a non-exclusive basis. As ETIC is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, ETIC and its associates are connected persons of the
Company (as defined under the Listing Rules), and the transactions
between ETIC and its associates and the Company constitute connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of Listing Rules. The quality, quantity and
technical standards of the products delivered by the Group must meet
ETIC and its associates’ standards as set out in the sub-contract for each
sales order. The prices charged by the Group will be agreed following
arm’s length negotiations between the parties with reference to the
prevailing market price. The term of the framework agreement was three
years commencing on 1 January 2019. The Company entered into such
sales agreement given the continued demand for such finished products
and raw materials by ETIC and its associates in the next three years and
the fees paid/payable by ETIC and its associates are competitive (please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 December 2018 for
details).
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As the ETIC Sale Agreement entered between the Company and ETIC
expired on 31 December 2021 and the Company intends to continue
carrying out certain transactions thereunder in the ordinary and usual
course of business with ETIC, the Company entered into a renewed
framework sales agreement (the “New ETIC Sales Agreement”) with
ETIC on 26 November 2021, which the Company agreed to sell finished
products and raw materials including but not limited to LED luminaire
products to ETIC and its associates on a non-exclusive basis. The New
ETIC Sale Agreement has a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2022 (please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26
November 2021 for details).

The maximum aggregate annual amount receivable by us from ETIC
and its subsidiaries under the New ETIC Sales Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is US$3,934,000. During the Reporting Period,
the actual amount received by us from ETIC and its subsidiaries under
the New ETIC Sales Agreement was less than US$1,000 which did not
exceed the annual cap.

The Lease Agreement |

The Company entered into a lease agreement on 10 December 2018 with
ETIC, pursuant to which the Group agrees to lease certain properties
from ETIC and its associates (the “Lease Agreement 1”). As ETIC is a
substantial shareholder of the Company, ETIC and its associates are
connected persons of the Company (as defined under the Listing Rules),
and the transactions between ETIC and its associates and the Company
constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of Listing Rules.
Details of each properties to be leased will be set out in the sub-contract
for each lease. The rent charged by ETIC and its associates will be
agreed following arm’s length negotiations between the parties with
reference to the prevailing market price. The term of the Lease Agreement
| was three years commencing on 1 January 2019. The Company
decided to enter into the Lease Agreement | given the Group has a
continuous demand for the relevant properties in the next three years and
the rent charged by ETIC and its associates are competitive (please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 10 December 2018 for details).

As the Lease Agreement | entered between the Company and ETIC
expired on 31 December 2021 and the Company intends to continue
carrying out certain transactions thereunder in the ordinary and usual
course of business with ETIC, the Company entered into a renewed
lease agreement with ETIC, pursuant to which the Group agrees to
lease certain properties from ETIC and its associates (the “New Lease
Agreement 1”). The New Lease Agreement | has a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2022 (please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 26 November 2021 for details).
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The maximum aggregate annual amount payable by us to ETIC and
its subsidiaries under the New Lease Agreement | for the year ended
31 December 2024 is US$703,000. During the Reporting Period, no
transactions occurred under the New Lease Agreement |.

The Lease Agreement Il

The Company entered into a lease agreement on 10 December 2018 with
ETIC, pursuant to which the Group agrees to lease certain properties
to ETIC and its associates (the “Lease Agreement II”). As ETIC is a
substantial shareholder of the Company, ETIC and its associates are
connected persons of the Company (as defined under the Listing Rules),
and the transactions between ETIC and its associates and the Company
constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of Listing Rules.
Details of each properties to be leased will be set out in the sub-contract
for each lease. The rent charged by the Group will be agreed following
arm’s length negotiations between the parties with reference to the
prevailing market price. The term of the Lease Agreement Il was three
years commencing on 1 January 2019. The Company entered into the
Lease Agreement Il given ETIC and its associates have a continuous
demand for such properties in the next three years and the rent paid/
payable by ETIC and its associates are competitive (please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 10 December 2018 for details).

As the Lease Agreement Il entered between the Company and ETIC
expired on 31 December 2021 and the Company intends to continue
carrying out certain transactions thereunder in the ordinary and usual
course of business with ETIC, the Company entered into a renewed
lease agreement with ETIC, pursuant to which the Group agrees to lease
certain properties to ETIC and its associates (the “New Lease Agreement
I1”). The New Lease Agreement Il has a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2022 (please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 26 November 2021 for details).

The maximum aggregate annual amount payable by us to ETIC and
its subsidiaries under the New Lease Agreement Il for the year ended
31 December 2024 is US$703,000. During the Reporting Period, no
transactions occurred under the New Lease Agreement Il.
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Confirmation on Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions have been reviewed by the independent non-
executive Directors, who confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(if) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to relevant agreements governing them on terms that
were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s the
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued a letter to the Board containing a conclusion that the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group above have no non-
compliance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The auditor’s letter has
confirmed that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;

(ii) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group as stated in this annual report;

(iii) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing the continuing connected
transactions; and

(iv) have exceeded their respective annual caps for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 set out in the previous announcements
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered into
certain transactions with “related parties” as defined under the applicable
accounting standards, which include transactions that constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Group for which the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied
with. Details of the material related party transactions are disclosed in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Changes of Directors and Changes in Their
Information

From 1 January 2024 and up to the date of this report, there is no
change in the Board and the information of Directors that should be
disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Disclosures Pursuant to Rules 13.21 and 13.22 of
the Listing Rules

The Board is not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
responsibility of disclosure under Rules 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing
Rules.

Employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 2,163 employees
in total (31 December 2023: 1,967). The Group regularly reviews
remuneration and benefits of its employees according to the relevant
market practice and individual performance of the employees. In addition
to basic salary, employees are entitled to other benefits including social
insurance contributions, employee provident fund schemes, discretionary
incentive and restricted share unit scheme.

Employee Training

The Group regards training management as a part of its daily operations,
and continuously improves its internal staff training system to better
help staff to improve their professional skills. According to the work
and training needs of each department, we formulate scientific and
reasonable employee training and development plans. In terms of training
forms, we combine classroom lectures with practical operations to
encourage employees to apply what they have learned. After the training,
the Group also conducts an effectiveness assessment to understand
the learning outcomes of employees. If the assessment result is not
satisfactory, we will improve the training method or reorganize the training
according to the situation.
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Remuneration Policy

The Group’s remuneration policy is to compensate our employees based
on their performance, qualifications and our results of operations.

The emoluments of our Directors and senior management are determined
by our Remuneration Committee with reference to our results of
operations, their individual performance and the comparable market
statistics.

The Company was not aware of any arrangement under which a
Director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments. Details of
the remuneration of the Directors and the Group’s five highest-paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 and note
15 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 237 to 241 of this
annual report, respectively.

Housing Fund and Pension Scheme

According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Group’s
subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate in the
housing fund and the contribution pension scheme operated by local
governments. Under these schemes, the Group is required to pay to
the contribution pension scheme based on a certain percentage of the
remuneration of its employees. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the housing fund and pension scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. Contributions made under the housing
fund and pension scheme are charged in the statements of profit or loss
as incurred.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under
the Scheme.

The Group also participates in defined contribution retirement scheme
organised by the relevant local government authorities in the United
States, Japan and Vietnam etc.. Certain employees of the Group eligible
for participating in the retirement schemes are entitled to retirement
benefits from the scheme. The Group is required to make contributions
to the retirement scheme up to the time of the retirement of the eligible
employees, excluding those employees who resign before retirement, at a
percentage that is specified by the local government authorities.
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The Company may not utilise any forfeited contributions in order to make
fewer contributions than the current amounts.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s contributions to the
housing fund and pension scheme from continuing operations were
US$4,140,000. Details of the Group’s contributions to the housing
fund and pension scheme are set out in note 13 on page 236 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

Charitable Donations

The Group has not made any charitable donation of not less than
HK$10,000 during the Reporting Period.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the Reporting Period, the revenue from the sales of goods or
rendering of services to our largest customer and top five customers
accounted for 28.8% and 83.4% of the Group’s total revenue
respectively; and the purchases of goods and services from our largest
supplier and top five suppliers accounted for 4.3% and 14.8% of the
Group’s total purchases respectively.

None of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) had, at any time during the Reporting Period, a beneficial
interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

Compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance

During the Reporting Period, the Directors are of the opinion that the

Company had fully complied with the principles and codes provisions set
out in the CG Code.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specific enquiry has been
made to all Directors, and all of them have confirmed that they have
complied with all relevant requirements as set out in the Model Code
during the Reporting Period.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Auditor

The figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position, consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the related notes thereto
for the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in this annual report
have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, to the amounts set out
in the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year.

A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as our auditor will
be submitted for Shareholders’ approval at forthcoming annual general
meeting.

There have been no changes of independent auditor during the preceding
three years.

By order of the Board
Chairman
WANG Donglei

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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The Board presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Corporate Culture

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term
business, economic success and sustainable growth of the Group. A
strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable
performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate citizen. The
Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive culture
that is built on its Vision, Mission and Values.

During 2024, the Company continued to strengthen its cultural framework
by focusing on the following:

. Vision: For our customers, we aim to be the world’s leading
provider of products and solutions across the construction
fixtures sector, embodying meticulous craftsmanship, human-
centric innovation, and thoughtful design.

For our partners, we work tirelessly to be a partner of choice
in doing business. NVC champions a culture of radical candor,
constant improvement, and a value-creation mindset for all
stakeholders we work with.

For our employees, we strive to build an organization that
embodies true meritocracy. We commit ourselves to the ideals
of diversity and inclusion, and to an “aspiration” centered culture
that empowers everyone to achieve more.

For society, we endeavor to create superior value for our
shareholders through sustainable, profitable growth. Equally
important is our goal of becoming a trusted steward of the earth
by developing technologies and products that are consistent with
our commitment to sustainability and a zero-carbon future.

o Mission: To build products that transform the spaces we love and
enrich all aspects of life.

. Values: Customer Obsession
Aspiration Centered Culture
Brands Above All
Product Perfectionism
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The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and
requires all employees to reinforce. All of our new employees are required
to attend orientation and training programs so that they may better
understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn relevant
laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In addition, from
time to time, the Company will invite external experts to provide training
to our management personnel to improve their relevant knowledge and
management skKills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose, values
and strategy of the Group are aligned.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards.

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the
CG Code as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Board is of the opinion that, during the Reporting Period, the
Company had complied with the principles and code provisions as set
out in the CG Code.

Model Code For Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code which was set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions by the relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-
sensitive information of the Company (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”).

The Company is not aware of any incident of non-compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees.

EXERHRS

EEEHEREECEXE BHEREKR
TREEMRET KMAENHERN
E2MAR RGNS UEREMELHF
MTHRBEMOGEXC-RERKE 28
MHERERZEEZER RaRENEERH UL
Gh o AR BN TE BRI EE Sh BB B R F
NEBABETEI LUESKENHEERE
%Dnﬁk&éiiﬁﬁbo

EFERREEXLEAEENRE B
BHERBEERZE -

EEERER

EFTRNERSKENTEEESR

FRBEHRMEEER TR ET
AFXEREBE TR LUREREXEE
AER

EEgHE BKRENEEEATREMH—
BEEZER EAERERERRM D12
%m%ﬁ?ﬁ HIEHEBREREE UK
REHZHEMBEE-

EXgRR NREFERN ARAT—EHE
ST E A T RIPT 8RR B AN T R ST o

HERXZHEEST

TRABEHRM(LETRA) M ERCIPTE R 2
SAREREFETESFRZNTAT
He

KABECBOMEBEESIELEAEN > M
BEEUHEIAREENEHE2024F12831
HIEEEFEFEN—BHETIZESTH

MAEEAEELRDIFARREHHENH
EREEMENTHNESXZ ~AFTE
FIEBRATRENENEETRNEEIES
(MEEEmEESIY) -

ARBLANEBEAEREBERETREE
EEESINESF-

BLERERBRAE 202453,

73



74

Corporate Governance Report

EXERHRS

Board of Directors

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Independence

The Company recognizes that Board independence is key to good
corporate governance. The Company has put in place effective
mechanisms that underpin an independent Board with independent
views. The current composition of the Board, comprising more than one
third of the independent non-executive Directors and the members of
the Audit Committee are all independent non-executive Directors which
comply with the independence requirements under the Listing Rules. The
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee are all chaired by
independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors are subject to a regular review to maintain
competitiveness and commensurate with their responsibilities and
workload. The independence of each independent non-executive Director
is assessed upon his/her appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if
any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board at the
Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External
independent professional advice is available to all Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary. The
independent non-executive Directors have consistently demonstrated
strong commitment and the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge
their responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and informal
means whereby independent non-executive Directors can express
their views in an open manner, and in a confidential manner, should
circumstances requires.

On the basis of the above measures that have been put into place, the
Board is of the view that the above mechanism was effective in ensuring
that independent views and input were available to the Board throughout
2024.
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Board Composition

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the

Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors WANG Donglei (Chairman and chief
technology officer)

CHAN Kim Yung, Eva (Vice chairman and
chief executive officer)

XIAO Yu

WANG Keven Dun

Non-executive Director YE Yong

Independent LEE Kong Wai, Conway
Non-executive WANG Xuexian
Directors CHEN Hong

The biographical information of the existing Directors is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 36 to 50 of
this annual report.

The relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the respective
Director’s biography under the section “Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 36 to 50 of this annual report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. WANG Donglei serves as the chairman
of the Company and Ms. CHAN Kim Yung, Eva serves as the chief
executive officer of the Company. The Company had fully complied with
the Code Provision C.2.1 as set out in Part 2 of CG Code.
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EXERHRS

Independent Non-executive Directors

Rule 3.10(1) and 3.10A of Listing Rules required every board of directors
of a listed issuer must including at least three independent non-executive
directors and an issuer must appoint independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the board. The Board comprises eight
Directors, and three of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
The Board met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board. One of them is possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway,
Mr. WANG Xuexian, Mr. CHEN Hong in respect of their independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors were independent from their respective date of appointment to
31 December 2024.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code Provision B.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment
and succession planning of Directors and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years with effect from their respective
date of appointment unless terminated by not less than three months’
written notice served by either the executive Directors or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term
of three years with effect from their respective date of appointment unless
terminated by not less than three months’ written notice served by either
the non-executive Directors/independent non-executive Directors or the
Company.

The above appointments are subject to the provisions of retirement and
rotation of Directors under the Company’s Articles of Association.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Company’s Articles of Association,
any new Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to
the Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84(1) and (2) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring director
shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a director
throughout the meeting at which he/she retires. The directors to retire
by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of
directors to retire by rotation) any director who wishes to retire and not
to offer himself/herself for re-election. Any further directors so to retire
shall be those of the directors subject to retirement by rotation who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so
that as between persons who became or were last re-elected directors
on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Accordingly, Ms. CHAN Kim Yung, Eva,
Mr. YE Yong and Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. None of the Directors
who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting or any other Directors has a service contract with us that is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

EXERHRS

BHATEFCRERATITURB L IR
FRFATEFHAETRAIUANDR=EA
WEEBBNMRILEGX SRIZFGHNESR
BEEEMESAH=F"

BEFRYCTEFTKBUFATEFEREHA
FRBRIUZEE BIFZFFERITES
SEBIUFFRITESTHUARBDUBHA DR
—ERZEEBNMMARILEEGH  SRIZF
BHNERBEZEEBES/H=F-

LHRERRABTAABEBERETNES
BREKRBESRIEE

RIBEARBNAEBGEZMRIE83B)F - E
HEZEUEFREREZRAFTMAESRE
ZHEEERERET —XRRRBEAE
BEEREERBEET

BEARTDNEBREEZMAE84(1)K%(2)
HREERRBFREL ERR/E=7
Z—HEF (HMEFARLIF=EH
AAREEEEBERA LR =Z2Z2—HNESFA
¥ HARFERE EBUEFAEEIE=
FRRRAFAELRE—R-BREEF
FERBEER TARKERENERES
ZHEEETIES RWEREINESTA
B GluEREEREREEEHEMS)
BEREFETHRBEEANEIANES -H
tMEMEREINEST B LRETRNES
FEFTHREMABFERINES &
HERUALRFEBHEREEES R
BUHBESNREREESFT AE CGRIFRS
ZEBEBE) At REBL L -HEL
ERFEBLRERNBERREEARER
FEEHBG BeERTREREBERE
BERELBEEBEE - FREERRBSF
AREEENEFUREFNEMESTHAE
EERBDRNEAEMBRADE—FATH
EATEE CEERBERIN NBERTAL
BARFF G-

BLERERBRAE 202453,

77



78

Corporate Governance Report

EXERHRS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from
each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company.

Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing
and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the Company
are delegated to the chief executive officer and the senior management.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in

order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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Every newly appointed Director will receive a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading material
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

The records of continuous professional development relating to director’s
duties, regulatory requirements and business development that have
been received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
summarised as follows:

Name of Directors
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1ENEER (Hrt)

BEEHS
Executive Directors BITES
WANG Donglei FLE
CHAN Kim Yung, Eva ek 1/ T8
XIAO Yu M
WANG Keven Dun TiB
Non-executive Director ERITES
YE Yong L=
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
LEE Kong Wai, Conway FHEE
WANG Xuexian FEE
CHEN Hong EEIN
Note:
1. Types of Training
A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to,
briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals,

magazines and relevant publications
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EXERHRS

Board Committees

The Board has established the following committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Strategy and Planning Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and
are available to Shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

Audit Committee

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include maintaining relationship with the auditor of the Group,
reviewing financial information of the Group, supervising the financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control system of the
Group, and the duties of corporate governance delegated by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to review the annual financial results and reports for the year ended 31
December 2023, the interim results and reports for the period ended
30 June 2024 and to review significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and internal audit function,
anti-corruption policy and whistleblowing policy, re-appointment of
external auditor and engagement of non-audit services and relevant
scope of works connected transactions and arrangements for employees
to raise concerns about possible improprieties, as well as reviewing the
corporate governance compliance.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee also met the external
auditor twice.

Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules requires the Audit Committee to comprise
a minimum of three members with independent non-executive Directors
in majority and at least one member with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the
composition requirement of the Audit Committee under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.
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As of the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee consists of
three members, namely, Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, Mr. WANG Xuexian
and Mr. CHEN Hong, and all of them are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, with appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting or related finance management expertise, is
the chairman of the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management, the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and senior management, and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the model set out in item (i)
under the Code Provision E.1.2(c) of Part 2 of the CG Code), i.e.,
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee met once
to review and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company, and the performance and
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and review the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts and other related matters during the Reporting Period.

As of the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely, Ms. CHAN Kim Yung, Eva, the
executive Director, Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, the independent non-
executive Director and Mr. WANG Xuexian, the independent non-
executive Director, respectively. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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In addition to the information about remuneration disclosed in note
14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
237 to 241 of this annual report, the remuneration of the other senior
management of the Company falls in the following bands:

PRI A ERF27TEHEF241EMNE ST
WRM AT M 15 B RIFH AN E KL 4b
KATDEMSHREEAENFNEREU
TAERI A

Number of Members
of Senior Management

SREERAK
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 47T £ 1,500,000/ 75 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7t £2,000,0007% 75 4

Nomination Committee

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and
appointment of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Director Nomination Policy below that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee met once
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, to consider
the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at the
annual general meeting and other related matters. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of
the Board is maintained.
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Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules requires an issuer to establish a
Nomination Committee chaired by the chairman of the board or an
independent non-executive Director and comprises a majority of
independent non-executive Directors. During the Reporting Period,
the Company has complied with the composition requirement of the
Nomination Committee under Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

As of the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee consists
of three members, namely, Mr. WANG Donglei, the executive Director
and the chairman of the Company, Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway,
the independent non-executive Director and Mr. CHEN Hong, the
independent non-executive Director, respectively. Mr. WANG Donglei is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the
Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that
the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
is committed to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional
and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.
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As at the date of this annual report, our Board consists of one female
member and seven male members and one in the age group of 30-40;
four in the age group of 50-60; three in the age group of 61-70. The
Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity that are
relevant to the Company’s strategy, governance and business, five of the
Directors are experienced in leadership and strategy, one Director is an
accounting professionals and two Directors are legal professionals.

The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female
representation, with the ultimate goal of achieving gender balance.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board is
sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy annually to
ensure its effectiveness.

Workforce Diversity

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) for the
year ended December 31, 2024 is 0.58: 1. The Group will aim to achieve
the gender diversity in workforce. For further details of gender ratio,
please refer to the disclosure in the Environment, Social and Governance
Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity
of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

. Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

. Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors
at general meetings.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Director Nomination Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

Strategy and Planning Committee

The primary function of the Strategy and Planning Committee is to
propose and formulate the strategic development plan of the Company
for the Board’s consideration.

As of the date of this annual report, the Strategy and Planning Committee
consists of five members, namely, Mr. WANG Donglei, the executive
Director, Mr. XIAO Yu, the executive Director, Ms. CHAN Kim Yung, Eva,
the executive Director, Mr. WANG Keven Dun, the executive Director and
Mr. WANG Xuexian, the independent non-executive Director, respectively.
Mr. WANG Donglei is the chairman of the Strategy and Planning
Committee. During the Reporting Period, no meeting was convened by
the Strategy and Planning Committee.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has delegated the responsibility for performing the functions
set out in the Code Provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code to the Audit
Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Attendance Records of Directors

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic means
of communication, of a majority of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held six Board meetings in
total. The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the Reporting Period is set out in the table below:

EEERMAE

Exg E?a/ﬁﬁﬁéé’%‘”%@ﬁﬁ%%
A ST BISE 288 B T BUMR SCEBA. 2.1 5 BT 8B

BE ©

N %Eifﬁfﬁq EBREEE MuTZIKQ}T
PEERBERER %%&E“ BIEE
E’\Jinu)ll)i’z%”%%%?éf@\K@E%?iﬂi
EFEERENHERBR - BTEETH
REEEMmMIESINB R URAQFET
EBATIRNRATPEEARSGELE
BEWNER-

EFHF IR

EHEZEERABEE /'\ el =
RBNEEFHINEBBEFBALINLHE -

B?%&%EFEWJIK’AE?E%H#%%%%

CREBFHENBEEERTHNESS
&é%éﬁ ZERUKRETRATRRREN
EEEIN TR

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/ERBTRY

Strategy and

Planning
Audit Remuneration Nomination Committee General
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ERE Meeting
Name of Directors EEiy B8 EBKRZEEY FHZEE ReZEE  REZEE BREAE
WANG Donglei I%E 6/6 11 N/A R B 0/2
CHAN Kim Yong, Eva BRaIA 5/6 11 N/A REF 0/2
XIAO Yu HF 6/6 N/A RER 2/2
WANG Keven Dun TiE 6/6 N/A R 2/2
YE Yong & 6/6 N/A R 1/2
LEE Kong Wai, Conway TEE 6/6 2/2 1 11 N/A RER 1/2
WANG Xuexian IZ2% 6/6 2/2 11 N/A R 0/2
CHEN Hong Bsh 6/6 2/2 il N/A RBF 1/2
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During the Reporting Period, no Board or Committee meeting was
attended by a Director’s alternate.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held one meeting
with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Company convened one annual general
meeting on 14 June 2024 and one extraordinary general meetings on 19
December 2024.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board confirms its responsibilities for the risk management and
internal control of the Group and it shall examine its effectiveness through
the Audit Committee to safeguard the assets and investment of the
Group as well as the interests of Shareholders. The risk management and
internal control system aims at the management but not the elimination of
risks of failure to attain the business target, and only provides reasonable
but not absolute guarantee for not having material misstatements or
losses.

Characteristics of the risk management and internal control
system of the Company, and the program for reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system:

The Board shall be responsible for the risk management and internal
control system, continue to inspect its effectiveness and warrant that the
Group shall establish and maintain the effective risk management and
internal control system; inspect the risk management and internal control
system of the Group at least once a year; supervise the management
in respect of the design, implementation and supervision of the risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee shall be responsible for the inspection of the
risk management and internal control system of the Company; the
assessment for the outcome of the evaluating and auditing the risk
management and internal control system; the supervision and promotion
of rectifying the defects of the risk management and internal control;
the discussion with the management over the risk management and
internal control system in order to ensure that the management has
performed its duties to set up the effective system; at the same time,
proactively or upon the appointment by the Board, the research in
respect of the material investigation outcome regarding the matters of
the risk management and internal control system and the response of the
management for the outcome of the investigation.
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The management shall undertake the duties of risk management and
internal control; formulate the appropriate strategy in response to the
risk; conduct the risk alert in advance and promptly issue the risk
management report; at the same time, be responsible for evaluating the
internal control; identify the defects of the internal control and formulate
the rectification scheme; inform the Board and the Audit Committee of
the relevant information.

Programs for ldentifying, Assessing and Managing the
Material Risk:

Risk identification: to determine the standards for measuring the risk;
identify the potential risk which may affect the Group.

Risk assessment: to assess the identified risk and classify the level of the
risk.

Risk response: to select the strategy in response to the level of the
risk for the risk control department to follow up whether the strategy in
response is effective; at the same time, formulate the relevant policy in
response to avoid the recurrence of the risk or minimise the relevant risk.

Risk supervision: to continue the regular inspection of the relevant risk;
promptly revise the risk management and internal control procedure;
ensure that the relevant controlling procedure is appropriate and effective;
provide the management and the Board with the regular report on the
outcome of risk supervision.

The Company has set up the internal audit and risk control department to
regularly monitor and assess the internal risk and control system of each
department in order to determine the risk which may affect the business
and other aspects of the Group (including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information safety).

With the support from the Audit Committee, the Board, having examined
the risk management and internal control system for the year as of 31
December 2024 (including the financial, operational and compliance
control) by means of the risk assessment report and the internal audit
report, is of the opinion that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual examination has also covered the adequacy of resources,
employees’ qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

The Company has set up the program for the purpose of issue-reporting,
so as to encourage the employees of the Company to express their
concerns on the premise of confidentiality in respect of the potential
misconduct concerning the financial report, the internal control or other
matters of the Company.
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As for the surveillance and disclosure of the inside information, the
Company has adopted the policy for the disclosure of inside information,
with the aim to ensure that the internal personnel shall comply with
the requirements for confidentiality and perform the responsibility for
the disclosure of inside information. The policy has expressly set forth
the identification of inside information and the decision-making tree for
taking the required action. The employees and other relevant parties shall
maintain strict confidentiality in respect of the inside information. In the
event of disclosing the inside information, it shall be made on the fair, true
and effective basis.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company does not tolerate any form of bribery, whether direct
or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, employees, agents or
consultants or any persons or companies acting for it or on its behalf. The
Company adopts the anti-corruption policy in assisting the employees in
recognising circumstances which may lead to or give the appearance of
being involved in corruption or unethical business conduct, so as to avoid
such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance
if necessary.

The anti-corruption policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, any
convicted cases will be reported to the Audit Committee.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company expects and encourages employees of the Group and
those who deal with the Group (e.g. suppliers, customers, creditors
and debtors) to report to the Company, in confidence, any suspected
impropriety, misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group. The
Company adopts the whistleblowing policy to provide reporting channels
and guidance on reporting possible improprieties and reassurance to
whistleblowers of the protection that the Group will extend to them in the
formal system.

The whistleblowing policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, any
suspected cases will be reported to the Audit Committee.

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 173 to 179 of this
annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration
The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the

Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of audit and non-audit
services for the Reporting Period is set out below:

EREBUZBMARERGEESMHRE
WERBEENERFNEFHRFI7TIEES
17T9OERBIUZBMMBRERN -

A% 25 Bl Y <2
EQABRBEFENBRRIFBLRE X
IFAABDIBRBTEDH « MERS T
SHETITRFEMIIM T :

Fees Paid/Payable

Service Category RFEIER gt ENER
US$000
FEw
Audit Services: BIZERT

- mainly related to annual audit —FE N R EEE 522

Non-audit Services: JEBIZRT :
— mainly related to interim and other review —FE N PR EMER 138
— mainly related to tax consultancy services —FENRREBHART 171
831

Company Secretary

Ms. KWOK Siu Ying Sarah has been appointed as the company secretary
of the Company.

Ms. Kwok is a manager of corporate services of Vistra Corporate
Services (HK) Limited, a professional services provider specializing in
company secretarial services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Mr. NG Hon Lun, the chief financial officer of the Company has been
designated as the primary contact person at the Company for working
and communicating with Ms. Kwok Siu Ying Sarah on the Company’s
corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Kwok Siu Ying Sarah has undertaken

not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Director. Pursuant to the Listing Rules,
all resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
except where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted
on by a show of hands, and poll results will be posted on the websites of
the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, an
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) may be convened by the
Board upon requisition of one or more Shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, while all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The requisitionist(s) must state the objects clearly in the requisition,
sign the requisition and deposit the same to the Board or the company
secretary or the primary contact person of the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one
or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to add resolutions to the agenda of a general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send

written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their requisitions, proposed resolutions for the
general meeting or enquiries to the Board as mentioned above to the
primary contact person of the Company as set out below:

Name:
Address:

The Chairman of NVC International Holdings Limited

Unit 705, 7/F., Building 20E, Phase 3, Hong Kong Science Park,
Pak Shek Kok, New Territories, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2375 1385

Email: ir@nvc-international.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions. The Company endeavours to maintain
an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. The chairman of the Board
as well as chairman of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committees will make themselves available at the annual
general meetings to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.nvc-international.com, where information and updates on the
Company’s business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.
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The Company has also established a range of communication channels
between itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include (i) the publication of interim and annual reports and/
or circulars, notices, and other announcements; (i) the annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for
Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views with the Board;
(iii) the provision of updated and key information of the Group available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website; (iv)
the Company’s website offering communication channel between the
Company and its stakeholders; (v) the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong serving the Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters;
and (vi) convening investor meeting and/or analyst briefings, which are led
by our executive Directors with existing and potential investors.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and
shareholders engagement conducted by the Group during the year, the
Board is satisfied that the shareholders communication policy has been
properly implemented during 2024 and is effective.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to Code Provision F.1.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. In
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as its Shareholder value. The Company intends to
distribute no less than 30% of its annual net profits as dividends to its
Shareholders, subject to the conditions and factors as set out below.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders of the Company, subject to the Memorandum and Articles
of the Association of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations
and the factors set out below. The Board shall also take into account
the following factors of the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends, including financial results, cash flow situation,
business conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings,
capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of Shareholders,
any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

EXERHRS

EATNEEHARR KBREEREMEF
MEZBEI—ZRYBRERE EPEIE®)
BHhHAREERER,/WEBER - BE
HMAE (WREBEASTHRERR K
g AKRERM %*%éa%&éﬂ%%ﬁ g
BEEBNES (iR AR T 48k K B2 P4
ﬁE%Ef#ﬁ%E@%%ﬁ&I B (iv)ERQ
SRR AN RAEFHE BN EE
RE (VWKATMNEBRMNBEL RESLEHM
FTERMNBERELETARERERTE;
URkViBHEBATEEMETFERIRE R
BIEIREENREETE R/ U DHEHG
R o

EEINAEBRERNBTNZEBEEE
FRRESE %%@1:.@)&%% B R
2024FBESEEMLIT AN

iz B EUER

KRB EBRBEEES TR F2809 T B F
XHEFAAME GRS A AR B BR o Y
BERERNERRER AR EEREHIR
ERHEE UBEMHEEEESERTR RREER
UkEREEE EF & NIFRGARER
WERT  ZAEREOERRDIKA DR
HFEEFHEAIB0%  ERRE -

REALADHBERERM AR -FIEE

RZERZER R TIREE %%ATMF_
KRDEBREFTERDRR -EFEES
RERKRER ERNEETIARASE
EHNER SEMBEE B AR %
BRI R RREERBRABEERBXK
Rz T8 RERBIF KA AR B Y
REIREFEERASEFANETAEMEA
%O

RRIEETIBRRNFAEREEAREN
2k

BLERERBRAE 202453,

93



94

Corporate Governance Report

EXERHRS

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period as interim
dividend, final dividend, special dividend and any distribution of net profits
that the Board may deem appropriate. Any final dividend for a financial
year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval. The Company may declare
and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited
and shall revert to the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to
time.

Constitutional Documents

During the Reporting Period, the Company has amended its
Memorandum and Articles of Association by way of a special resolution
passed on 14 June 2024. Details of the amendments are set out in the
circular dated 25 April 2024 to the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in constitutional
documents of the Company during the Reporting Period.

Going Concern
There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that

cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

About the Report

This Report is the ninth Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “Report”) published by NVC International Holdings Limited (the
“Group” or “we”), aiming to disclose the management methods and
data performance on environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
issues in the financial year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
(the “Year”), so as to deepen the understanding of various stakeholders
of the Group’s sustainable development strategies and measures. This
Report is available in both Chinese and English versions. If there is any
discrepancy between the two versions, the Chinese version shall prevail.
For information on the Corporate Governance section, see pages 72 to
94 of the Annual Report.

Reporting Guideline and Principle

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code (formerly named as the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, hereinafter
referred to as the “Reporting Code”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Global Reporting Initiative
Sustainability Reporting Standards and the actual situation of the Group.
This Report follows the principles of “materiality”, “quantitative” and
“consistency”, and the contents and data disclosed are based on the
internal records and files of the Group.

Reporting Boundary

The boundary of this Year’s report remains the same as last year. The
threshold in this Report’s boundary is set at companies in which we have
a stake exceeding 50%. The social performance data in the Report cover
the Guangdong Zhuhai headquarter office of NVC International Holdings
Limited, Zhejiang Jiangshan Base, Shanghai Qingpu Base, Guangdong
Zhuhai Base, Thailand Base and Vietnam NVC; and the environmental
performance data cover Zhejiang Jiangshan Base, Shanghai Qingpu
Base, Guangdong Zhuhai Base, Thailand Base and Vietnam NVC.

Feedback

We are committed to continuously improving our ESG disclosures and
welcome your comments and suggestions on this Report. Contact
information is as follows:

NVC International Holdings Limited

Address: Unit 705, 7/F., Building 20E, Phase 3, Hong Kong Science
Park, Pak Shek Kok, New Territories, Hong Kong

Email address: ir@nvc-international.com

Tel: (852) 3970 2238/3970 2237

Fax: (852) 2865 1638

Website: www.nvc-international.com
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Chairman’s Message
Dear Stakeholders,

In 2024, NVC International made steady progress in its journey into the
global lighting market, adhering to its corporate mission of “to build
products that transform the spaces we love and enrich all aspects of
life” and striving to build a green, innovative, efficient and sustainable
enterprise. Facing the complex and ever-changing market environment
and fierce competition, we have always been committed to high-quality
development and green development. We are fully aware of the intrinsic
connection and coordinated development between the circular economy
and social welfare, and have been leading the global lighting industry to
move forward steadily on the path of green transformation and innovative
upgrading.

We are well aware that sustainable development is not only the
responsibility of the enterprise, but also the core of its future
competitiveness. The Group has been deeply engaged in green
operations, adhering to the concept of green development throughout
the entire process of operation and management, building complete
and strict environmental management systems and controlling resource
utilisation from the source. Faced with the challenges brought by
climate change, the Group identified risks and took proactive measures
to address them, seizing opportunities to transform and upgrade its
green manufacturing industry. The Group has been promoting the
synergy between environmental responsibility and business growth
by comprehensively improving energy efficiency, vigorously promoting
carbon emission reduction technologies and efficiently handling waste.

Upholding the servicing philosophy of customer obsession and
the corporate values of “customer first, practical innovation”, NVC
International has built a comprehensive, accurate and efficient big data
analysis system to achieve in-depth application of data across the entire
chain. Through in-depth data analysis, NVC International has gained
an accurate and comprehensive insight into customers’ diverse needs
in the lighting field, and has ingeniously created a series of targeted
lighting solutions that integrate many advantages such as intelligence,
environmental protection, and technology. In addition, NVC International
attaches great importance to improving the energy efficiency of its
products and reducing the negative impact on the environment. It is
committed to bringing better quality, more environmentally friendly and
more intelligent lighting experience to global users and creating a brighter
and more sustainable future. In order to implement the “innovation-
driven” development strategy, we continue to increase our investment
in scientific research, actively build a diversified scientific research
platform, and bring together top professional talents in the industry to
comprehensively enhance our technological research and development
capabilities and our core competitiveness.
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Talents inject development momentum into enterprises. The Group
assists employees in their development in all aspects, allowing them to
realise their personal values in a harmonious environment, grow together
with the Company, and lay a solid foundation for long-term development.
The Group adheres to the core policy of “safety first, prevention first, and
full participation” to create a safe and healthy management environment.
The Group attaches great importance to equality and diversity, and has
specially set up the Procedures for the Labour Protection of Female
Employees to provide humanistic care for female employees. In terms of
employee development, the Group plans growth paths for employees and
builds career development platforms. In terms of incentive mechanisms,
we have established multi-dimensional reward programmes such as
performance and innovation to motivate employees to be proactive. In
terms of communication and collaboration, we have created open and
efficient communication channels and encouraged employees to express
their ideas through the Communication Management Procedures. At the
same time, cross-departmental cooperation and team-building activities
were organised to enhance employee understanding and improve team
cohesion.

The Group has been actively building a supply chain management system
and is committed to creating a high-quality supply chain ecosystem. The
Group has established strict entry thresholds, optimised cooperation
processes, and updated and upgraded its supplier list through a regular
and systematic performance appraisal mechanism. We adhere to the
principles of prudence and fairness when it comes to new partners, and
use a comprehensive and rigorous evaluation system to conduct an all-
round review. We require new partners to meet predetermined standards
during the probation period and undergo multiple verifications before
we formally establish long-term partnerships with them. This series of
measures ensures that our partnership with suppliers is always based on
mutual trust, transparency and sustainable development.

Looking ahead, NVC International will continue to work together with all
stakeholders to promote sustainable development and create more value
as it moves toward the forefront of the global lighting industry. On behalf
of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to all stakeholders who have given their trust and support to NVC
International over the years. We will continue to uphold the corporate
value of “taking social responsibility as our own responsibility” and closely
integrate the fulfillment of social responsibility into the entire process of
brand growth.

WANG Donglei
Chairman
28 March 2025

RIB - ERERHRS

AT ABEEIALEEFH N AEBRE S
BhhEITHER  ZETHEMNHEIREREIR
BABE BrtEHARE AREREREF
RE-EEERZ2EZ L -EHEAL 2
B8 WZLA ITEZ2RBREEER
B-ERERTERZ T BR(LBIE
HREEF)ALBITREAXEE-ET
BREIECEBAETIRINERE B
H&%%’f/ﬁ"m BN S E o RILEXM
J~ EREERBEE HBHE T RBIRE
CEBWIERE N EREMNERBEER
ﬁ EBEEEIERRE) BB T RES
EoRF BB SEARREEH i
EETITHRZ BABKERE-

FERBRGREEHEREERZ RN
TEEEHERELER -EEFERBEA
FIts BIESERE BEMRRNERE
G BERHEERREETNAR BN
FEH FHRBELAENRI YERAEE
BEBRBRNTERRETEAUEST - HM
EXRMEEBHEARBERNEINAEHR
HE>WKBZHENRSE AEUENEIR
HGFBE -E—RIIERBEERT HFHR
HEBNSFRABREIEERE -BH
MAFRERNER -

RERF ETEREHEFHEEERZIK
REBITEREMAUNERT REBRS
NSRS E LW BFESAIFEE
REARSEZEE I REAXREFE
BRANRGTFELTHRREEEZFNR
MmERDRURZEHE RAREERT
MEeEsERCHIE—EEBEE £E
THEEEERRERNmMEERNEBE -

I£E
EEE
2025%3H828H

BLERERBRAE 202453,

97



98

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE-HERELRHRS

About NVC International

NVC International focuses on the development of the global lighting
industry and is committed to providing efficient and innovative LED
lighting solutions. Since its establishment in 1998, NVC International
has always adhered to “human-centric innovation” and continuously
optimised its product portfolio, covering multiple fields such as
commercial, industrial, home, outdoor landscape and decorative lighting,
providing global customers with high-quality lighting experience.

With its profound industry accumulation, NVC International continues
to invest to build a global sales and service network. Currently, we
have regional sales offices in Birmingham in the UK, Atlanta in the USA,
Stockholm in Sweden, Tokyo in Japan, Singapore and Zhuhai in China,
and have established lighting operation organisations in 22 countries and
regions around the world, with business covering more than 30 countries
and regions. By strengthening local operations and global collaborative
development, we will further enhance our market competitiveness and
provide customers with more convenient and efficient services.

In terms of R&D and manufacturing, NVC International has always
insisted on technological innovation to promote industry development.
NVC International has five wholly-owned advanced factories and three
cutting-edge R&D centres in the Asia-Pacific region, with excellent
manufacturing capabilities and technical R&D strengths to ensure the
excellent quality of its products. In recent years, NVC International has
actively expanded the product applications of the three core elements
of “light”, “air” and “water”, focusing on the core life needs of human
beings, promoting the development of indoor air quality (IAQ) technology,
and achieving breakthroughs in the fields of air disinfection equipment,
water purification systems and fresh air disinfection equipment, and has
obtained multiple recognitions.

In addition, through its global brand matrix strategy, NVC International
has deeply integrated its many well-known brands, covering high-end
lighting, LED technology, architectural lighting and other fields, to provide
customised solutions for different market needs. At the same time,
we have also established cooperative relationships with internationally
renowned lighting companies to further expand overseas markets and
provide consumers with high-quality lighting products.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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In the future, NVC International will continue to deepen its global kK> ETFBREEE FLE2IKTEBE "
market presence, promote innovation in lighting and non-lighting BB K IFEBHEE RWEIFH  FTEEM
products, thereby creating a more intelligent, environmentally friendly ZEEIBE RN EFTR 1485|482
and technologically advanced living space, and will continue to lead the  BKBBBE{TH W EE o

development of the global lighting industry.

il

Industry Award Received

EHRITERRIA
e Our brand won the German iF ¢ KNX China User Organisation Committee
Industrie Forum Design award e KNXHEEREBEES

o MEN fm iR SRR EIFE R 5

e Shenzhen Internet of Things Industry Association
(iF Industrie Forum Design)#% 18

o RYTHYHBERHS

e China Smart Home Industry Alliance (CSHIA)

o B RER B E £ BACSHIA

e Shanghai Pudong Intelligent Lighting Federation

o LIBHERRBEHEE

e Guangdong Custom Home Association

s BERAEHMRETERS

e China Wood Protection Industry Association, Garden and
Balcony Custom Branch

s MEAMFETLXHGEEERAGEER D&
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o0

NVC International was established with the goal

of becoming a successful global lighting company
and building a world-class brand that people can

trust.

NVC International invested in and purchased DIALUX
lighting design software, becoming the first lighting
company in the Asia-Pacific region to own the software.
ELTEREEEE TDIALUXEBBER BT AT A&

_I]J_

BELXEBREMIL SERS KRN EKERAR
FoWRBRITEAEBEERERE-

NVC International was successfully
listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange with the stock code
HK02222.
BELTERMRHEEBRZM L
M REAHE AHK02222

NVC International became the sole title
partner of the FINA Diving World Series.

B - B PR Ak 2 FIN AR FR 7K Bk Bk ok 8 57 2 51
BENE—TLEIEBH-

NVC International successfully bid
for and won the lighting design and
supply contract for the 2008 Beijing
Olympic Games.

BT BRI R ES 72008516
REESENRBERFMNHESE

NVC International
— Middle East office
officially opened on
5 November 2017.

——

BEXEREZRMANRBAS -

o

International financial institutions
such as SoftBank and Goldman

— Sachs made strategic investments

in NVC Lighting.
RR - SREERTHMEERS
TIRBFETT T EERR B o

NVC International became the sole
title partner of the FINA Diving
World Series.

T+ B R AR A FIN AR B 7k B Bk ok

NVC Lighting UK has officially
been awarded the title of
“Certified Carbon Neutral
Company” by Carbon Neutral
Britain, the UK’s carbon
neutrality organisation.

NVC Lighting UKIE R 18
THEKP MBS Carbon
Neutral Britainf& 2 g9 M85
Bk AR A0 1B ZE R SR ©

NVC International’s manufacturing
plant in Kakegawa, Japan officially
went into production.

BT ERRALR B4 HE) I 898
BEIREXEALE-

@ |

B B PR R S REANBHR—BLAEBH-
BER2017F1185
BIERM%-

NVC International became a fully participating member
of KNX, the global open standards for commercial and
residential building automation worldwide.
BTERAALIKEENTEREB SN 2 IKFEKIE
EKNXN 2 E 2 B E ©

NVC International’s
Japan regional office
officially opened in
January 2019.
ELTBERBEAESE
B R 2019518
EXRZE-

NVC International identified “light”, “air” and “water” as
the three key elements for human survival on a changing
planet, expanding the Company’s future development
strategy and focusing on the core life needs of humans.
BRI ~ TR Mk E A ASBE R B
MK EEEN=ERRER  HEABRKEERHE  F
BEAEZLEFEER.

NVC International launched AURA,
a revolutionary lighting brand
created by Dernier & Hamlyn that
transformed architectural spaces

The second phase of
NVC International’s
manufacturing plant in

NVC International became the official
lighting solutions provider for the
2022 Qatar World Cup.
BLTEEMRA2022F FEHIHAEN
E 7 RBEER R MR-

Bac Ninh, Vietnam, has

officially been put into
— operation.

BT BRI

HEETRRE R E

|'| t

hrough innovative, high-quality

design.

ETEBREHTAURA E2H
Dernier & HamlynfT#& B — & 6
MHHERERE BRI e RE

NI AER RETNETRRER-
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Sustainability Management
Board Statement

NVC International is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance and fulfilling social responsibilities. It has formulated the
Social Responsibility Procedures in accordance with the laws and
regulations of the countries where it operates and its own business
characteristics to establish behavioural standards covering core areas
such as social responsibility, labour, environment, safety and health, and
business ethics. We continuously optimise our strategic layout through
regular internal audits and management method assessments to ensure
the foresight and efficiency of our governance system, and take remedial
and improvement measures in a timely manner to continuously deepen
the implementation of our sustainable development concept. The Board is
the highest governing body overseeing ESG risks. The Audit Committee
is responsible for reviewing all risks of the Group including ESG and
climate risks. The Board authorises the CEO to urge all functional
departments to conduct constant assessments of ESG risks, review
the formulation process of sustainable development issues that have a
significant impact on the Group, and the progress of the achievement
of sustainable development goals. The Board believes that a robust
sustainable development strategy is in line with the Group’s vision of
becoming a model of industry excellence and will further consolidate its
brand value to enhance its market competitive advantage and drive long-
term corporate growth, while contributing greater strength to the global
sustainable development process.

The Board of Directors confirms its responsibility for ensuring the integrity
of the sustainability report, and to the best of its knowledge, this Report
covers all relevant significant issues and provides an impartial account of
the Group’s ESG performance. The Board of Directors confirms that it has
reviewed and approved this Report.

RIE-HERELSHRS
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Materiality Assessment EERETE

The Group attaches great importance to communication with internal and A B &EHEE NI F ZHBE AN EE
external stakeholders. It gathers opinions from all parties and maintains F|BZ TN EEEBAETWEREHFEE I
close contact through multiple communication channels, including #FE XK, GEERAT -THEE
opinion surveys, regular meetings and corporate reports, to ensure R ABHREZH I 0 LR 1% EHEETIE LU
that the concerns of all parties are fully considered. In terms of issue HTHEZEE - TmEmpBEEEFE > ~&

identification and management, the Group comprehensively considers B4z &5 Z 2T (8

e %iﬁ&';éi‘ﬁﬁi

the Stock Exchange’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting  <FEI) ~ Al iH 48 % B @ st # 8/ & 85 & (SASB)
Code, the Hong Kong industry issues of the Sustainability Accounting &BETEZBE - ERITHAEBEARE AT
Standards Board (SASB), the key industry issues defined by Morgan (MSCIFF R EMITEMBEE  UKRIEE
Stanley Capital International (MSCI), as well as peer benchmark analysis 2B H M7 BB ERTEEE
and other industry-leading standards to establish an issue library, and WK {EESGISS| Bk IEE M | RS H= )
conducts assessment in accordance with the “materiality” reporting BIEE{h TfEe NEET LR T ©

principle required by the ESG Guide. The assessment results for this Year
are as follows:

A
High Level IV Level Il Level Il Level |
= BER BEER BIER F—ER

=

o
%

%o

(28]

00
25)

@g@ea o

Importance to stakeholders
A HAERANESY

—>
Importance to the Group High
HEmMNESY =
®  Environmental issues Employee issues ® Operational issues ® Economic issues
RizHSE BI#E aEaE ESE

Level Il E=/@4& Level Il H=E4 Level IV 50 E 4R

© s 0 mFrpeEm O Exw EROEKEE (1)
Energy efficiency Raw material management Waste, exhaust and wastewater
0O seEs @ mzmimws management o
Green products Cleantech Opportunities e BREH
@ zrwEE @ mremaze Environmental compliance (5
b=
Gustomer satisfaction ® Occupational health and safety @ wisEn
=T & 5 BIEE Compensation and benefits
@ Euuiﬁ%&ﬁﬁ ) Employee communication pos e
roduct marketing and labelling _ N @ AAER
@ EREREE @ BTHIIMER Talent management
o) Training and development _ .
Product quality management Q = I‘ﬁgﬁu 2 @ SR ERTEERE @
B R A A Sl LA - Diversity and equal opportunities
@ Researchnand development, and Employee guidsiines ML D
mtel\ectua\ property n%hts @ RI%R @ ?ﬁ LSR8 G 2 2 g ”
@ ABAIE Anti-discrimination S;s&grger privacy and networl
Corporate Governance @ HAEEEIE
Supply chain management
D =EREERz2
Product health and safety
@ wEyE
Economic benefits
@ ram
Anti-corruption
@ mxnmeE

Business ethics
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Water resources management
BERBEHK

Greenhouse gas emissions
FE¥ RizEME

Tackling climate change
BEEA

Environmental protection
investment

HE2EERU
Community engagement and
well-being
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The Group’s Our Actions
Sustainability Pillars

EEAFEZRSE BANTH

Environmental ° The Group has complied with all relevant international and local environmental laws and

Protection regulations, and formulated a series of internal management policies such as the Procedures

Green Commitment for Legal, Regulatory and Other Requirements, the Corrective and Preventive Control
Procedures and the Environmental Management

RIERE ° The Group has established an environmental management system led by the operations

iR IREE management department and assigned responsibilities to each department, so as to

fully implement and be responsible for the Group’s water and electricity management,
comprehensive utilisation and disposal of waste and other environmental management work

° The Group formulated corresponding management measures for waste gas, waste and
sewage generated during operation, and managed discharge from three aspects (namely
online monitoring, technical processing and contingency plans), so as to meet the
requirements of laws and regulations in the place of operation

° The Group has scientifically planned energy consumption during operations to improve energy
usage efficiency and reduce energy consumption

. BTERMBERREEMEMNSBRFERER  fIECERERREMERERF) (W EM
FALEIESERF ) MORIEEE) E—RIAMEEBER

. BYRBEEERRE SRFIEENREEERR 2EREEE4AEEAK AEEER
HRGEFBNREESRIEEET(F

. HHE LLEEPFﬁﬁéEE’\JsFEﬁﬁ\E%ﬁ% SKERIEH BN EEE MR KR
B BB EEEFIO UG EEMAEBIERERER

. MEBREELEE &EPB’JH.;/ UHFE IR S BEIRBIE AR BV BERE

Cherishing Talents o Based on the principle of “fairness, impartiality, openness and job matching”, we absorb
Creating the Future diverse talents through internal selection, employees recommendation, external recruitment,
Together campus recruitment and other channels
o Prohibit all forms of discrimination, and eliminate acts of discrimination or rights interference
BRAT due to employees’ race, social class, nationality, clan, disability, gender, etc.
HAEIKK . We have formulated institutional documents such as the Salary and Welfare Management
Procedures to motivate employees to work
° We have a complete employee complaint system, and employees can express their opinions
and suggestions through the suggestion box, employee representatives and other channels
° Sort out and integrate information on new products and services, so that customers can

obtain accurate and sufficient product information directly on the Group’s official website
anytime, anywhere

o The After-sales Claims Settlement Process and Policy to clarify the internal after-sales service
management process and ensure stable and effective after-sales services, improve customer
complaint mechanism and enhance customer satisfaction

Responsibility o« ERTAT AL AR AR I 0ED > B EIER B THE S HIER  REERE
Customers RERMZ TIEAA

Trustand Common o  EIF— BT A  HIEEEEEE RS R - B Sk TR 1555 5 E TR
Prosperity ﬁﬁ:iﬁ&m?ﬁﬂ']ﬁ%

o HE(TEEAEEEE) S MBS T ERE
EREE + BERENATSFME THATEEENE ATARSREEEACHEARES
(L . HEERRBBEAETMEES LEEFEBENEERAEESAREERD TN
EREE
>a . (B R IEEE R R IR ) BB B IR B D R SRS T E S E T =
Q EEEORES A B REE
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The Group’s Our Actions
Sustainability Pillars

EEAFEZRIE BANTH

Excellence in ° Implement strict procurement standards
Operations ° Management Measures on Suppliers’ Social Responsibility
Striving for o ISO9001:2015 quality management system certification
Excellence o Seven national and international product certifications
° Whole-process quality monitoring and inspection system
HES ° Recall mechanism for defective products, and specify the control, review and disposal process
Em KA for defective products of accessories and products, and clarify the responsibilities of each
responsible department
n ° Strict selection of raw materials to eliminate harmful substances
I_ o Improvement of product labelling to ensure customers have accurate labelling information
Q] o Clarify information such as product names, specifications, energy efficiency levels, and safety
instructions to help customers quickly understand product features, usage scenarios, safety
precautions, and other usage precautions
° Mature full life cycle management mechanism for product research and development
° A matrix of scientific research laboratories in the “Technology Product Innovation Iron Triangle”
o Focus on incorporating environmental factors into product design, raw material acquisition,

etc., and continuously improve the energy efficiency of our products to reduce the negative
impact on the environment

° Guangdong Zhuhai Base was recognized as a national high-tech enterprise

o This Year, we obtained 7 invention patents, 7 utility model patents and 4 design patents,
and we also applied for 2 utility model patents, 2 design patents, 9 invention patents, and 4
copyrights

° The Legal Department of the Group issued the Warning Letter on Confidentiality Obligations,

which made detailed and standardised requirements for the confidentiality obligations of NVC
International and other NVC international subsidiaries

. Revenue amounting to US$236,603,000

° Losses for the Year amounting to US$15,355,000

o Net assets amounting to US$467,930,000

. BRCEERBNIRBRE

o RUMEEHEEEEEAE

. #EAIS09001:2015mE BRI R 5058

o ES7 IR 3R AR K B PR AR R a8 58

o eniEEERARRER

. AERmBEEE WHAHNEGRERZASEMNEG - TEREERE  THEESSE
EEFIR TIERE

. BEIEEZERMNEE HBEEWE

o TEEMEE MEEPL THREEARS

. EREDLRE RS ERERAEZERBLEEE  EHEFRARETRERFE -ERSES
ZEMEpBEEAEMFEREIREE

o BRANERMEEEmERSIEES)

o BERBE#EH-A MRS REER

o ENRERRT EMNERESFAMARRRENZS THEABEERNERYGE B
BHEBRENEEFEZ

o EBRFKEEMESARSMEMEERTE

o AEEEBERASEFEERTE SAMESETRERTIE IMNERTEFREHATE WA
FERFERMESMEREIE IMNARSTEN2IE 2 EF|018 » IR E /EHE418

o REBEBHEHEGINREEENERR ) §SELTEBRKEMNS FTRABNREEHB M
ARER AR K R 8 F 5K

o WA A236,603T TTETT

o FEEEA15,355T TETT

. B EPEEAL67,930T TETT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental Protection

As a smart lighting solutions provider, the Group recognises the
importance of environmental sustainability to the long-term development
of the business. We actively promote the innovation and application of
energy-saving and emission-reduction technologies, and are committed
to optimising product energy efficiency, improving resource utilisation,
and strengthening environmental protection measures in operations
management to reduce the impact on the environment.

The Group strictly abides by various environmental laws and regulations
in the international and local areas of operation'!, and has established an
environmental management system to ensure the standardised execution
and effective implementation of various environmental protection
measures. We clearly define environmental governance requirements
in internal management policy documents such as the Procedures for
Legal, Regulatory and Other Requirements, the Corrective and Preventive
Control Procedures and the Environmental Management to promote
standardised and systematic environmental management.

The environmental management work is jointly advanced by various
departments, covering core areas such as efficient utilisation of energy
and resources, refined waste management and pollution prevention. We
comprehensively strengthen water resources and energy management
to improve resource utilisation efficiency; and at the same time, we
optimise waste classification and comprehensive disposal measures,
promote waste resource utilisation and reduction and actively respond
to environmental challenges, contributing to green and sustainable
development.

U For relevant laws and regulations, please refer to the “Laws and
Regulations” section of this report

RIE-HERELSHRS

IRIGIRE

RESREBRADERED ~&EER
NEBREIFEBEEHNECERESRNESR
M o Fx1PI AR 1 HE B 87 A JRL HF $2 9 B9 B R 2
R BOREBIEEREN BRAERNA
RowrEEEERMBRIRME > B
RIENEE-

AEEBRREERRAEEMETMNEE
BREZBER G UIBEREEERR MU
BRSERERESRENRERNTINEN
BB RN CERZEZREREMERER)
(HIEEMBHERIZEFER ) R(REE
B)SRMEERR X HARRELESR
RoEEBREL  RFCHRIEER -

RIEEETIIFASMAIBEIHELE  HEE
REBEBRSHAA BERVYBELCEER
SR AFEROES - RMEERIEKE
RASEREERE  BRABRINBUE ; FE>
BEUNRIBRGEEERK REER
MERECAREL BHREHRENRE B
HERRBREREMNE-

' BRERER F2REARSE NERKE
RIZEH
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RIE-HERELRHRS

Management

R

General Manager

epresentatives

BEEEARR

EEEES L

Human Resources
Department

ANEIREB

Technology Development
Department

15 1 el % &P

Quality Management
Department

HEEEE

Sales Department
HEH

Finance Department

BAE5 8D

Zhuhai Plant
Bki5 Tk

Supply Chain
Management Department

HEEREES

Schematic diagram of environmental management system
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Water Consumption

The Group continues to optimise water resource management to enhance
water use efficiency and sustainability. We have introduced water-saving
equipment in each production base, strengthened water recycling and
reuse, and reduced the demand for new water intake. At the same time,
through regular monitoring and equipment maintenance, we ensure
accurate and efficient water management, actively cultivate employees’
awareness of water conservation, and explore innovative water-saving
solutions to further reduce water waste and improve operational
efficiency, thereby achieving the goal of “saving water and eliminating
unnecessary water waste such as dripping and leaking”.

The Group uses tap water for its operations. The total water consumption
during the Year was 121,493 tonnes? with a water consumption intensity
of 0.5135 tonnes/thousand US$ revenue. There were no issues in
sourcing water that was fit for the purpose during the Year.

RIE-HERELSHRS

KERER

FEEFEREKEREE  URABK
MERAFEE - HPAESEEEMSIA
Bk ekt sMEKTBIR B A A BREMKE
Ko ZBREREANRRBEE BRF
BKEBBESY  LHEBEES THK
BEH O BRRAFBHKER LE—FRD
KERRBUIRABEME 5 HHH A
KoOMBE S REILEREBKINER

rREBREEFEHABRK 2FEBHAKES
121,493AME2 > FA/KZE %40.51352A0F /T
TTETTEX£B - AFEE AEETEBRER
KR £ R EE o

Water Consumption (Tonne)

197,340

2023

KERFERE (ANE)

300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000

50,000 121,493
0

2024

S Due to the relocation of Vietnam NVC'’s factory in this Year, related

facilities and water use management have been optimised, and
water consumption has decreased compared to last year

2 AEERBBEELHREER BRI
AXKEEBIELL FEKEREERLD
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RIE-HERELRHRS

Consumption of Packaging Materials

The Group mainly uses plastic bags, colour boxes, paper boxes, labels
and other packaging materials in operations. The total consumption of
packaging materials was 22,797 tonnes in the Year, and the intensity
was 0.0963 tonnes/thousand US$ revenue. The Group adheres to
the concept of environmental protection, strives to minimise the use
of unnecessary packaging materials, and gives priority to recyclable
or reusable materials to improve resource utilisation efficiency. We will
continue to pay attention to industry trends and relevant requirements,
and evaluate more environmentally friendly and efficient packaging
options based on actual operational needs to balance sustainable
development and business development needs.

BEMEFER

FEBEEERANEEMNEITEABH
R KR BB ERE-AFEE > HATL
HEE22, 797 A EEME - ERTRE A
0.09632”ME/TroETEXB-AEER
FREES  BYERLVIMKRENGEM
BEA TELEETEWRETBRN BN
Mkl LR A ERF BN E - H 985 &R
FTEBDERBER REBESKEZSE
RIFEFERR S EEIE U FEH
FESEAEREEE R

Packaging material consumption (tonnes) S ELHEE (A HE) m‘ 2023
Plastic bags BRE 125 82
Colour boxes ¥a 2,167 2,857
Paper boxes e 20,477 19,540
Labels 2% 28 9
Others Hith 0 50
Total BEMEHES 22,797 22,538
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Ecological Environment Conservation

The Group attaches great importance to ecological and environmental
safety. It has established environmental risk response mechanisms at
various production bases and equipped them with dedicated emergency
response teams to ensure that potential environmental risks can be
identified and responded to in a timely manner, minimising the impact
of emergencies on the ecology. In addition, we regularly conduct
environmental emergency drills and special training to strengthen
employees’ environmental management capabilities and improve
response efficiency to ensure the coordinated development of corporate
operations and ecological protection.

To further strengthen environmental risk prevention and control, the
Group has optimised its environmental emergency management
mechanism in accordance with the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China and relevant regulations. We have formulated
and implemented systems such as the Rules on Emergency Management
of Environmental Risk Accidents, the Rules on Emergency Management
of Chemical Spill and the Emergency Plans and Corresponding Control
Procedures to ensure that risks can be identified in a timely manner
and response measures can be taken quickly to minimise the impact of
environmental incidents on the ecology.

RIE-HEREGHRS

ERIRIBRE

FEFRERERREZE R EEEM
BURBEBRREHEEG  WEAEEPINE
=B FE X o LUBE R 85 50 T By o8 ) B R Y
BERBEER RREEFHHEBNEE
BERME I RAEHARREREZR
REBIRED REE TR EEE
RABENE  LEFREFEESHRERR
SR

mE—TRECRBREAKRME A& BKE
(P EARINMBEIRIE REZE) RERX
R BIEIRBEESEERG - HFAIHIELE
E(BRRRAREREREEREI(ERERR
REZEERE ) K (8 =2 R 15l
127 ) F > B R BE 50 e B 58 ) JEL B 3t PR
EERMENER RARERVREE M
HERHEE-

Summarise the

[ Emergency Incident
Environmental
emergencies rescue team assessment
takes (scope and
y RIBREEMH \\ action \ S?r\wlw%rggt;)f
=S € TNz

RRHETE E4T (REHE

MEERE)

Clarify the
handling measures
and implement
them

BA e BR IR HE I
iyl

BLERERBRASE 202453

causes of the
incident and the
effectiveness of

rescue efforts
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RIE-HERELRHRS

Emission Control
Air Emissions

The exhaust gases generated by the Group’s factory production and daily
operations mainly include nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx) and
particulate matter (PM). During the Year, the Group discharged a total of
0.2068 tonnes of nitrogen oxides, 0.0345 tonnes of sulfur oxides® and
0.3720 tonnes of PM*. In addition, volatile organic compound emissions
totalled 0.0320 tonnes this Year.

In order to further reduce the emission of harmful gases and improve
the effect of air treatment, the Group has formulated waste gas
management measures in accordance with relevant international and
local laws, regulations and management rules and other documents®, and
strengthened emission control through advanced technology processing,
real-time online monitoring systems and emergency plans to ensure
that various emission standards are strictly complied with and effectively
prevent sudden environmental incidents.

HEIUE S
BERBFIK

AEBIRMEENMOEEEMELENER
TEAEARIEMINO  FEE (SO &
BE - AEE AEBESHERERLY
0.2068" A~ M > BREA1E%)0.0345 A MES 7 {28 [
0.3720A Mo b4 » REEIEZEBIKY
BER 2 H 510.03207AMF o

HE—TRLESRENFRLEREARR
AR A & E K5 AE B A9 B PR & TR
PRIEM A RIERMEBERAFXXHHE
FREEMWL BRACERMEE BF
EREARAUKRBERARERMABHERE
EORARSEHFNEERIBBET BN
BEMREFERIEE M

Air Pollutants Emissions (Tonne)

ERISRYIBELE (ANF)

0.7000
0.6000
0.5000
0.4000
0.3000
0.2000
0.1000
0.0000

0.3720

0.0345

momos

2024

Nitrogen oxides
a8ty

ieak{wy)

. The increase in sulfur oxides in this Year compared to last year was
mainly due to the addition of self-tested emissions from the Patton
operation site in Thailand, totaling 0.0338 tonnes

& Since the PM of Vietnam NVC in this Year is recorded in units of
mg/Nm? in accordance with Vietnam’s environmental laws, the PM
of the Vietnam factory here is not included in the total statistics.
The PM emission data generated by the four monitoring points of
the Vietnam factory are: 29.80 mg/Nmé?, 31.30 mg/Nm?, 30.96 mg/
Nm?, 31.15 mg/Nm?

2 For relevant laws and regulations, please refer to the “Laws and
Regulations” section of this report
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Il Sulfur oxides

2023

Y
JEEE

e KEEMACYREFEN TERAR
MAZRE B RS ERMB TR 2B
510.0338/~ME

N AFEEHMEELT 2 EERREBERIE X
BFEE Umg/Nme& B0 % > AL > I
EHEIREERMAREFR cHET
TR PO 1) B R Bk AR 2 4 B9 V& B Bk R 2 B
DA% 29.80mg/Nm?3> 31.30mg/Nm?>
30.96mg/Nm?> 31.15mg/Nm?
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RIE-HEREGHRS

PTQCh"ic_a' e Activated carbon adsorption devices and other technologies
r??_essmg are used to reduce volatile organic compounds emissions in
15 i B2 B factories
o WAVEIBRIN SR RO TREETEEEARY
B
» - » S N %
yomine e Set up an online monitoring system for pollution sources to
Exhaust o O:‘_n? monitor industrial waste gas emissions to ensure that emissions
management E '{“’? & 75‘” meet standards
measures « RESRBEGBRAAL BEETEERNHR - LR
R B MA TR ZE R M HE R
» - . \, \

Contingency

Plans emergencies

e Develop an emergency plan for exhaust gas leakage to deal with

S S o FIEBERRRESTER UBHRERBR

Exhaust management measures

R E %

Solid Waste Management

The Group continues to strengthen the scientific management of waste
under the guidance of the Waste Management Rules. We focus on
hazardous waste generated from the R&D and production of lighting
products, such as used light bulbs, mercury-containing materials and
waste circuit boards. For these hazardous wastes, the Group cooperates
with qualified professional institutions to adopt the method of centralised
collection and environmentally friendly treatment to ensure that the
treatment process complies with environmental legal requirements.
During the Year, the Group generated a total of 5.65 tonnes of hazardous
waste and 1,260.82 metric tonnes of non-hazardous waste. The
generation intensity of hazardous waste is 0.00002 tonnes/thousand US$
revenue.

Category (Tonne) R (ANE)

EIREERYEE

KEBLUAAEHN(EZEYERERTE) AT
S EFEMBEEYMNRS2EIE - RMED
R ERAERMEREERENES
BEEY IEEEE SRYNNEEZES

WE-HNELEZEEY 2EEHEFES
EENEEHREBSF RAETRWRENR
REREEFNBEREBRENARIEEZR
ER-KNEE > REBBFTELES.5AMEAE
ERFEY > 1,260.82 M —REEY - Hh
EEREYNESEZEEA0.00002AM F
TTETTEELE

2023

Hazardous waste BEEEY
Non-hazardous waste —REEY

The Group actively responds to the call for sustainable resource utilisation
and environmental protection policies. In order to achieve the goal
of waste resource-utilisation, waste reduction and 100%-compliance
disposal, we divide the non-hazardous waste generated by daily
operations into recyclable and non-recyclable categories. Recyclable
waste, such as waste paper, plastic products and metal parts, are
recycled and reused through professional channels; and non-recyclable
parts are delivered to the municipal sanitation department for unified
disposal in strict accordance with relevant regulations. During the Year,
the Group generated 844.74 tonnes of recyclable waste and 416.08
tonnes of non-recyclable waste, both of which were 100%-compliant.

5.65
1,260.82

13.22
1,020.05

AEBERBBERS R FENARRRE
KL AEZRNBEEYERLE - RE1EK
100%EREENEZ AATHEESE
TR —REEZEY > MDA O UK EE SR
ElUsfE e AT El W EEEEY) - INEE4R - BN & &
REBIME ERFXRBLKENA;
AR O EB 9 > BB AS R IRABRE IR E > X
BB T REREFEHMEA—EE &
FE > REBDREES44.74AME ] [B] YR
BEEYNA416.08 A MEAR T[] EEEY) > 15
BR100% A RERIE-
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RIE-HERELRHRS

Wastewater Management

The Group’s wastewater mainly comes from domestic wastewater
generated during the production process and the daily lives of its
employees. We strictly manage the wastewater treatment process to
ensure that discharge meets standards. In the Year, the chemical oxygen
demand (COD) discharged by the Group in wastewater® was 0.08
tonnes and the ammonia nitrogen pollutant discharged was O tonnes.
In the future, we will continue to improve the treatment mechanism and
monitoring system to ensure that wastewater is discharged in a stable
and standard manner.

BKEE

FEENBEKIEZRNEEBEKRETH
BEFEENEEEK - HMEREERE
KEERE BERERFR -TFE &
EBE Ay EEkerh » [E R F R E(COD)FFHRE
730.08 AW AT HYHMEHORM -
KRR > FAPT R A i 5T = R 3B 14 Y B2 85 R AR
7o BREKREERER

Wastewater Management Measures

[ 7K B 22 $E B

v Develop operating
procedures for
wastewater treatment

v/ Conduct training on
wastewater treatment

v Install rainwater and
sewage diversion

. devices
BEmkEERteREr e ERERE

O

vV ZERISDREE

v Standardise the v/ Adopt a circulating
management of water system in the
sewage treatment production process
equipment v FEBRERBEERK

vV REBEIRSKEIERE TE

0

Since the wastewater discharge from Vietnam NVC under
the Group in this Year is recorded in mg/l in accordance with
Vietnamese environmental laws, the wastewater discharge in
Vietnam is not included in the total statistics. The pollutant data
produced by the Vietnam factory are: COD 40mg/l and NH+* 0.15
mg/l.
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v/ Domestic sewage is - -
filtered and discharged —
into the municipal =
sewage pipe network .
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Green Office

The Group actively practices the concept of green development, creates
a green office model in all aspects, and vigorously promotes a series
of energy-saving measures. By optimising the energy consumption
management of office equipment and other means, the energy
consumption level has been effectively reduced and the energy utilisation
efficiency has been significantly improved.

Gradually replace traditional lighting with
more energy efficient LED lights

28 LA B BELED WS

A B4R A
O O = PE
d d( e e O
dBHE m &
BHHIH
sessesssesce
b
00
G d O dpPe

Promote the conservation
of electricity and employees
to save electricity

RELHEBTEHHAE

O

-3
=

RIE-HEREGHRS

mema

EEEBERTHREEREI 2HUTE
BEBWMARIN KAOET—RIEBERE-
BRBLEMARBEEEESFR BN
M RBETRHFENKE  BBRALRI AN

Control the indoor
temperature is maintained
at 26 degrees Celsius

S ERERREKE

Use both sides of
the paper, minimise
single sided use

HERMAKE 2R EEERMREK
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RIE-HERELRHRS

Tackling Climate Change

The Group recognises the profound impact of climate change on
the global economy and corporate sustainable development, and is
actively taking measures to address related risks and opportunities. To
ensure the compliance of climate information disclosure, we refer to the
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standard S2 - Climate-
related Disclosures (IFRS S2) and the Stock Exchange’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code to identify, assess and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities, and continuously optimise our
climate change response strategies. The Group has incorporated climate
change-related risks and opportunities into risk management, strategic
planning and decision-making, ensuring that climate factors are fully
considered in business development and operational management to
enhance the Group’s resilience and sustainable competitiveness.

By focusing on the three aspects of “mitigation measures, adaptive
capacity, and policy review”, the Group has formulated the Climate
Change Policy as follows:

EHREE

FEEFRANREEIEHENEEREEA
FEZRNAEBRE T HEGRIEKE
HEERREKE SERAGEMKE
WEELEE RM2E(ARMBRSER
S25F — —RIRAERAM BE) (IFRS S2) K Bk 32 FRy
(BRI - HEREBRSTAINER #
A EHE R EEREAREE R RS W
BELREELERERB -AEHERK
RECERERREKBMARREE B
BEEERARRET BERERREES
ERNEZEEERRIRDZTE  URHA
EENIEEAFERFE D

AEBEGUREER BEED BRE
BIZESEHEN T (REZEER) :

Mitigation Measures
AR TEHE

Improve the production process,
minimise the use of fossil energy in
production projects, and increase
the use of renewable energy;
RELETE EARERLDE
ELIRPEAERERSE BN
BIBLRERNFA ;
Improve the level of industrial
energy utilisation efficiency
and promote the application
of the Group’s energy-saving
technologies;
REILEERMNBBERML  #HH
EEEHERMNER ;
Incorporate climate change into
procurement considerations,
and encourage the use of low-
or zero-carbon and energy-
efficient products and materials;
BFRESLHARBENZEHA
R o R R AR AR Bl 2 h e B 5B
TR B E AR
Draw on the industry’s advanced
practices to formulate voluntary
carbon reduction targets.
BEETENEBE  §IE BB
B R

Adaptive Capacity
EREREN

Improve organisational leadership
on climate change to prevent
or reduce the costs of climate
change;
TERHREBESLENABEE MU
TERG S P R IEZEERAIELR ;
Promote the popularization and
publicity of scientific knowledge
on addressing climate change,
and vigorously advocate low-
carbon production methods;
HEERHRESECHRBMANZ
ERMEG KANEBERKREER
s
Upgrade enterprise risk management
systems to incorporate climate
change and extreme weather events
into management procedures;
FAREXERREERF  KREE
EMBmRXRECANAEERRER
"
Collaborate with various stakeholders,
including employees, suppliers
and customers, to strengthen the
resilience of all parties to climate
change.
HESEEI - HERRBEREES
FMHE MRS HHRESEENE
FERES ©
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Policy Review
BEELT
Regularly monitor and
review the impact of
climate change on the
Group’s employees and
business operations;
EHE RN RE
SIEHERRBEME
BEENTE;
Regularly review and
update the Group’s
climate change policy
and report to the Board
on a regular basis.
EHETNEHMAE
EREECEE LFE
HAmESTER
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Governance

The Group’s Board is responsible for overseeing climate-related risks,
while the management team is responsible for identifying and managing
risks and opportunities related to climate change, and promoting the
implementation of relevant policies and various energy-saving and
emission-reduction measures to mitigate the potential impact of climate
change on business operations and ensure that climate actions are
closely integrated with the Group’s overall strategy and operations.

Strategy and Risk Management

The Group has incorporated the management of climate-related
risks and opportunities into its sustainable development strategy and
systematically identified and assessed their impact on its business. Based
on this, the management formulates and implements corresponding
policies to ensure that relevant challenges are effectively addressed
and opportunities are seized. We have allocated sufficient resources
for possible emergencies so that we can quickly implement response
and remedial measures when necessary. The following are the climate
risks and opportunities identified by the Group, their potential financial
implications, and the actions taken accordingly:

Risk Type Risk Description Potential Financial Implications
RRER B ik BEUBYE

RIE-HERELSHRS

Y4y
/a

FEBEETEEEEREHEBER B
EERagRINEEREZEREIHR
i B 38 o I B AE B IR CR B R IR EI BE R
RN TREE  LURRREEEH
EGEENEBEERE HAKETHESE
EEREBRNESRRES -

HBER Jm i E I

FEECRRIGHERERZRBEEREMA
AFEERRBR  TRAMHEFEH
HEBNZEZ - EEBRILFIELEEE
FEHER  ERANEHAHRELILEK
B-RMPERTELELENRESZHRER
RER UEERERARANITEYMNME
KB B o DUR 23 2 & B PR A Bl B9 SRUIR R B
HRB - HBEVHRE  UAEBREN
78

Strategies and Measures

R RIER

Physical risks

ERER

e Acute risks o

events, such as typhoons, hurricanes
or floods, may damage production
bases and offices, resulting in failure
of normal operations, damage to
operating facilities, equipment,
storage areas and goods, etc.
o EHER s HBBARSHRBOEM ME
B~ B K B R R i
AEERRAICEEL BREE
R R BRENENE

Risks driven by extreme weather o

Reduced revenue: being unable to e

produce and deliver on time with
business operations affected

Asset reduction: asset damage and
depreciation

Increased expenditure: repair and
replacement of damaged facilities and

equipment
WD BELEENRREREG #

BEERYE

BER)  BERBRE

ZEEM - BRBIBNRER
Bl

Set up relevant contingency plans, upgrade

enterprise risk management systems, and
incorporate climate change and extreme
weather events into management procedures

e Strengthen the maintenance of special facilities
and equipment for flood control and drainage in
production bases and offices, and manage rain
damage and tide damage in key areas

o REMBESEE ARCEERBREERA K
RE ENBRGERREHMAEEREF

o MBREEEMEMAZH LY KE BRI
REES URHEHRENRENHEEE
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Risk Type Risk Description Potential Financial Implications Strategies and Measures

EMEE i g BEMBRE IR R G

e Chronic e Prolonged changes in climate Reduced revenue: business o  Setup corresponding management teams
risks patterns, incremental changes in operations are affected, and the e  Prepare corresponding contingency plans in

o EMEAR .

climate (sea level rise, rainfall changes
and continued high temperature) may
lead to more frequent and severe
extreme events, and more frequent
transportation delays, affecting supply
chain reliability

REEARPEE RENEEE(T
(BTELA BREZLREES
B ERBREHENNEENGZS
BEHERDMAL wEMREED
£

market demand for products is
decreasing

BARD  $BEERTE THY
ERBXAERE

advance and look for alternative transportation
options to strengthen supply chain resilience

AEAEEERD
REAEFEAERNEZER SRERERHR
GRSl

Transitional risks

BURR
e Policy and .
legal risks

o HRRER e
i

Directly or indirectly affected by
policies and laws formulated to
limit the impact of climate change
and/or to improve adaptation to
climate change, including the
implementation of carbon pricing
mechanisms, increased environmental
disclosure requirements and stricter
environmental protection and climate
policies
BEREERIARNREZEEE
M/ daReHRESCEEEmS
ENHREENZE QEREER
HEH RRRBEEREBRERE
MIRMRERBEER

Increased costs: increased emission
costs and retrofit costs, as well as
litigation claims arising from non-
compliance

BUASEN - SEINHER R AR B R g
ER MR RERSI ENHARE

Regularly collect and update regulations
through various channels such as government
agencies and the Internet to ensure operational
compliance

Periodic examination

EHBBHAKE DRASRBRENENE
WER WRREESR
EHETER

e Technology °
risks

o MEKAER .

Directly or indirectly affected by
technological changes, including
industry support for global low-
carbon transformation, increased R&D
and investment in renewable energy
technologies, and the widespread
application of new energy-saving
facilities prompting the purchase of
new facilities and the replacement of
old equipment
ERYBEMZ IR EEROE
B OETEIFEREREE M
REDBEE RIS ENRERE
A HEERAE SR M BT FE A (R (IR
BRI BIRERE

Increased costs: increase investment
in research and development of green
technologies and products, and
purchase new equipment that is more
environmentally friendly and energy-
saving

Asset reduction: old equipment
decommissioned

MARM  MAERGERENER
BB B R A - R B IR RN ET A A0 R
Bd

BEERD RARBER

Incorporate environmental protection
specification requirements into product design
and production

Accelerate the energy-saving transformation and
automation transformation of equipment, and
improve the production process

Promote the use of new and clean energy

RERRFANEESRATAARRREER
MREERBNSEENBBENE L
EIE

EMERNBZERNER

e Marketrisks

o HHAR .

Climate change affects the supply and
demand of certain goods, products
and services in markets, including
higher resource prices such as energy
and raw materials
REELFENSLELER ER
MRBHEXER AFERER
RERAEME) BA S

Increased costs: rising raw material
prices

B : RATEHER L7

Implement flexible supply chain management to
promote low-carbon transformation

BETBNMHERER EEOREE
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Opportunity Type  Opportunity Description Potential Financial Implications Strategies and Measures

HBEY i Fetip BEMBRE R R IEHE

Opportunities

3]

e Opportunities ®  In the medium to long term, improving ¢ Cost reduction: lower operating costs ¢  Promote the efficient application of energy-
for energy energy efficiency can bring immediate saving technologies and equipment in
efficiency cost savings to operations and production and operation

contribute to limiting global carbon e Actively promote the efficient use of new and
emissions clean energy
¢ Promote the construction of an energy
management system and optimise the energy
structure

o BRMEE o URRPRE RARFMIRLEAEL o HMARE:FEEEME o HERERNNRGEELEREETNSHE

B BERREENBAEHN LARHZ A
IR B R o ERERNERNEZERNESNAA
o HESREERZER BRRER
e Opportunites ¢ Innovating and developing products ¢  Cost reduction: lower financing costs e  Actively participate in the low-carbon transition

for products

EmiE

and services with low carbon
emissions can improve our market
competitiveness. For instance,
customers prefer more environmentally
friendly service or product suppliers,
and investors prefer environmentally
friendly enterprises

B3N B8 BB BB B A0 2 A AR5 36
REmERIMM NERRIRIR
ROBRENERRED REERR
RERFEEE

Increased revenue: increased product
sales

ARG : RERERES
WA BMERHEE

and consider low-carbon/zero-carbon and
energy-efficient raw materials or products
Collect market information to understand
stakeholders’ demand for environmental
protection and energy-saving products and
propose product plans

Promote green supply chain management
BmSHEREL ZEER/ SROLERY
ENRMERER

KEDHERS NENTRREHRROEBL
ERFR RUERRE

REGOHEEER
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Metrics and Targets
Energy Consumption

The Group continues to strengthen the management of energy use,
scientifically plan energy consumption during operations, and improve
energy use efficiency, thereby reducing energy consumption. Energy
consumption in the Group’s daily operations includes petrol, diesel (direct
energy) and purchased electricity (indirect energy). In 2024, the Group’s
total energy consumption was 102,898 GJ, with an intensity of 0.4349
GJ/thousand US$ revenue. The direct energy consumption was 1,617 GJ
and the indirect energy consumption was 101,281 GJ.

EEREE
BEIRHFE

AEEBFENAHERERANEE HE8
ERRERNERHEEESTRZRECES
FERMERME M EREE-HE
EIER RS RHESE SRS (B
EAER) UKRINEET ) (BEAER) 2024
FoAREEEREEEZAS102,8908F HKE
H>BEA04349THKEER TrETE
EE -HERRHEEEA1,617TTIKEER:
R AE R HEE A101,281 FJKEH o

Total Energy Consumption (GJ)
BETRHFEMRE (TIREE)

120,000
100,000
80,000
60,000
40,000
20,000
0

101,281

2024

[ Direct energy
BIZAER

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

In 2024, the Group’s total greenhouse gas emissions totalled 15,227
tCO2¢e, and the emission intensity was 0.0644 tCO2e/thousand US$
revenue. Among them, the direct greenhouse gas emissions caused by
the use of gasoline, diesel and other fuels used in factory production
and vehicles are 131 tCOze; and the indirect greenhouse gas emissions
caused by purchased electricity are 15,096 tCO:e.

2023

B ndirect energy
e

B ERAETEIL

2024F > AEBBREREE MBS AT
15,227 M _RIEHRES  HEREES
0.0644 N NME_AILHEE,TETE
Em-HP AR IMEE -BEHREHAMS
SR ERAFERNEERER
BEHRABIIAB_AREE; ANESE
DR R R E RPN A15,0962
WS iREE-

GHG Emissions (tCO,e)
BERBEBINE (AW)
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12,000
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2024

B Scope 1
HE—
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Cherishing Talents

The Group firmly believes that outstanding talents are the core driving
force for corporate development. To this end, we are committed to
building a diverse and inclusive corporate culture, inspiring employees’
innovative thinking and teamwork spirit, and promoting the coordinated
development of enterprises and individuals. By adhering to the people-
oriented principle, we continuously improve our internal management
system and effectively protect the rights and interests of our employees.
To support the long-term development of our employees, we have
developed clear career development paths to help them improve their
professional skills, explore their personal potential, and strengthen their
professional qualities. At the same time, we pay great attention to the
physical and mental health of our employees and actively create a high-
quality working environment to ensure that our employees can continue
to grow in a good workplace atmosphere.

Employee Composition

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 2,163 employees
with a male-to-female ratio of 0.58:1, most of whom were aged between
30 and 50. Among them, front-line employees accounted for 81.14% of
the total number of employees with no part-time employees during the
Year. During the Year, the Group’s quarterly average employee turnover
rate was 10.14%, and the quarterly average new hire rate was 11.86%.
For detailed employee data, please refer to the “Performance Data
Summary”.

RIE-HERELSHRS

ERAT

FEBFRE BFEAABEEERENZO
Fheont RABNINBESZ TEEEW
B EAE - B3 8 TR B4 B E K7
e (R E X EBAABRE R - HMAR
RUABTHRA HETERHEEH
B UBRESEI D AP HEIREHR
R HAGEBHOBEREREE EHE
TRAFERAE  HWMENEE > WRCHE
X2 AR RAASEAIETINI LR
R RBBITEBEENITIFRE MERE IRk
HWERFNBEABTRERR-

\Y

ETHM

B E2024F12H31H > RERE £ F2,163%
BT BLtEAA0581 - FRTEEHRR
30-50p% c AR B T1h81.14% » AEE
AEEERBEE SR> AEENEITSE
EXHERAkERAE10.14% > SE T AR
EA11.86%  ETHMBIEBRL2RE 8IERE
WEE o
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Gender Distribution
BT 4RSS

Age Distribution
BTFEDMH

16.21% 16.69%

68.10%

m 30-50
30E50%

m >50
505% A k£

B <30
DIt308m%

u Male B Female
S hogi

Functional Distribution

STHEED

Contract Type Distribution
BT &NEEAMH

27.18%

72.82%

= Front-ine @ Management H Long-term W Fixed-term
Bi4s BEAS contract contract
RHIER EEH AR
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Region Distribution
BT EIHS

25.89%—

0.00%

= Mainland China B Hong Kong ® Overseas
Past B =yl

Educational Distribution
BT2EDMMG

B Master’'s degree = Bachelor’s degree

~H
m Associate W Below associate
degree degree
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RIE-HERELGRS

Quarterly Turnover Rate and New Hire Rate by Age
RERIDNFEE TRKREMARE

>50 9.88%
505 3.34%
30-50 7.64%
30E505% 9.13%
<30 30.89%
DRR305% 20.43%

0.00% 5.00% 10.00% 15.00% 20.00% 25.00% 30.00%
B New hire rate by quarter B Turnover rate by quarter
SR AR FERAE

Quarterly Turnover Rate and New Hire Rate by Region

ROt & B2 FE S MK MM ARE

=2l 17.99%

Hong Kong 0%

58 0%
Mainland China 5.57%
Pt 7.39%
0.00% 5.00% 10.00% 15.00% 20.00% 25.00% 30.00%
B New hire rate by quarter B Turnover rate by quarter
FEARE FEMAE

Quarterly Turnover Rate and New Hire Rate by Gender

RIERIBI D HIEE B TR B AR=E

Female 12.33%
2 10.64%
Male 11.22%
it 9.26%

0.00% 2.00% 4.00% 6.00% 8.00% 10.00% 12.00% 14.00%

B New hire rate by quarter B Turnover rate by quarter
FEM AR FERAE
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Talent Recruitment

The Group adheres to the recruitment principles of “fairness, justice,
openness and job matching” and strictly follows the Recruitment
Management Procedures to clarify the standards and processes and
ensure that all applicants are treated fairly under the same conditions.
In order to expand talent sources, we have established diversified
recruitment channels, recruiting talents through internal selection,
employees’ recommendations, external recruitment and campus
recruitment, so as to promote the diversity and innovation of the team.
We always adhere to integrity and compliance, have zero-tolerance for
any discrimination or misconduct in the recruitment process, and strictly
require recruitment personnel to abide by professional ethics to eliminate
any form of bribery and violations. Any violations will be investigated in
accordance with the law in order to maintain an open, transparent, fair
and rigorous talent selection environment and attract and retain the best
talents.

Protection of Employees’ Rights and Interests

The Group regards the protection of employees’ rights and interests as its
core responsibility and ensures that all employees are properly respected
and treated fairly in the workplace. We explicitly regulate employment
management and strictly eliminate any form of discrimination, including
but not limited to unfair treatment caused by factors such as race,
nationality, social class, gender, sexual orientation, age, political stance or
physical and mental condition.

To further enhance workplace protection, we have formulated the
Management Rules on the Protection of Female Workers and improved
relevant measures to provide necessary support for female employees.
At the same time, we value the opinions and demands of employees,
ensuring that their reasonable demands are responded to and handled
in a timely manner, and also standardise corresponding mechanisms
to promote information transparency and internal communication. We
select employee representatives in accordance with the Employee
Representative Election Procedures. Employee representatives work
together with the Human Resources Department to collect employees’
inquiries, questions and complaints, and coordinate follow-up handling.
The Group holds employee representative conferences regularly, where
employee representatives participate in discussions on the factory’s
performance in social responsibility, including issues such as work
conditions and discrimination, and continuously optimises the working
environment so that every employee can fully realise their potential.
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Compensation and Benefits

The Group continues to improve its salary and welfare management
system. Adhering to the principle of “performance-oriented
compensation, prioritising efficiency and considering fairness”, we
have formulated relevant documents such as the Salary and Welfare
Management Procedures to clarify the standards for the payment of
wages and benefits, ensure that salary distribution complies with the
principles of distribution according to work and equal pay for equal
work, and clearly regulate overtime pay. At the same time, we strictly
abide by local laws and regulations’” to ensure the compliance of working
hours and holiday benefits, and provide employees with a stable and
competitive salary system.

We also pay attention to the well-being of our employees and have
created a welfare system that balances work and life, covering vacations,
accommodation, meals and other aspects, to create a workplace
environment with a greater sense of belonging. Since October 2023,
the Group has officially implemented parental leave and nursing leave
in response to the Family Planning Regulations issued by the Human
Resources and Social Security Department of Guangdong Province,
further supporting employees’ family responsibilities and helping them
balance personal and family needs while developing in the workplace.

S

Additional benefits
REINMEF

%) &

Regulations” section of this report

RIE-HERELSHRS

B #E

FEEFETEHFELENEERNE &
PHRFIEEDE - NEBE - RBEATIN
RAGIE(TERMERRERF)EMEAX
> BAHE T & K /8 7 B9 2 IUR 2 > B 4R 7 B
NENERFIERELIRBARA I
HMNEHEETHRERE - FE > RFARSE
BREREMERER BRIKERRARA
WERM REIRHEREEEREARF S
BIRTENEE % o

HMTEEIET R T SRBEIEALE
FEHNEAERZ RENRB - B BESEZ
BrE “EFERBRMWRBBIRIE B
20283F 108 AEBIEXEITE RREA
EER ZEERS AMBEERNGIER
By BE—FFFEINREST EBHE
THESEENERREBALREE XK.

X

Monthly fixed Holiday and living Quality Accommodation Insurance and Statutory
salary allowance improvement and dining housing fund holidays
BEEEIE BB REERE  award and other arrangements AlE—& JETE (R EA
awards and FERAELHSE
bonuses
BERARE
RERE
Employee benefit composition
BT 57
7 For relevant laws and regulations, please refer to the “Laws and 7 HEERER FE2RARS ERKE

RIZEH
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Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group strictly abides by applicable labour laws and regulations® to
ensure that all employees enjoy the rights of freedom of employment,
freedom of resignation, freedom of overtime, freedom of movement, etc.,
and eliminates any form of forced labour. We have established an internal
management mechanism. All labour contracts and related rules and
regulations must be approved by employee representatives and reported
to the local labour department for review and filing. The Group firmly
opposes the use of child labour and forced labour, and has adopted
institutional documents such as the Control Procedures for Prohibition of
Forced Labour, the Management Rules on Preventing the Employment of
Child Labour and the Management Rules for Minors to implement strict
regulations on recruitment and employment management. We implement
strict entry screening and verify applicants’ identity documents to ensure
that all employees are over 16 years old, and strictly manage employee
personnel files to eliminate the possibility of child labour from the source.
If any child labour is found to be employed by mistake, the Group will
immediately activate the response mechanism, stop their work, arrange
for physical examinations, report to the local labour department, and take
appropriate measures based on the actual situation. If necessary, we will
also provide the necessary financial and resource support to help them
complete their statutory education.

Brik ETRE#% T

FEBEBERAMBERBINZE LR BRE
FFEETH=EAREREEBR - BHITBEH M
MEH THEHFREN HETHRIN
BB c AR ANEE RS AP
BERREEREFENACETIRNERA
B U LREMBHHFABZERZ -AEE
BARHEAETIRAFSZT  EB(R
B sEhEfiEF)(hLEERETEE
ME)RCRAFIEBRE)EHEMX
o HIEERAAESERNITEREEERE - H
ETBRNABRES RYEEESMHE
o BARMMEEEBFE M16E K > LARRER
BETAFEEZ HRBAMLEETRRENA
FEM-ERRERBBEINBR ~EHF
YRR EER G FIEETF ZEE SR
BE BHEMBEHFIRES  RBEERE
MENBEERE - NERE  ZATTRERM
VENEBERE R MBHETHIEE
HE-

Arrange to send back to his/her parents with consent of
labour bureau
MEEREE KEH/ERZ
ZHEANZELDRE 5E

Immediately terminate
his/her work and arranging
a check-up
U BAMELETAE
ZHEBRE

Identify child
labour
BIRET

Bear full costs until recovery
WEaE AEESNEREEHER

Provide appropriate financial and resource support to ensure

that the child labour completes statutory education

)]
ERZELTHEEHE

Remedial procedures after the discovery of child labour

EHEHE L HIES

3 For relevant laws and regulations, please refer to the “Laws and
Regulations” section
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Caring for Employees

The Group attaches great importance to internal communication and
ensures that employees’ opinions can be effectively conveyed and
responded to. We have formulated the Communication Management
Procedures and regularly hold employee sharing sessions to encourage

RIE-HERELSHRS

ETRAE

AEEERERNEE BREIEREN
ﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬂ\@lﬁ cHMAIECEBEER
F‘>>’”HH BWET N wWEEEFIE

8 B B S > DUE 2 B B 1R fF B 12 3 X2

cross-departmental communication and experience exchange to promote {53 3% © [3 E% %bﬁ'ﬂ %1 41@ “EREBEE
teamwork and corporate culture building. At the same time, we have set I'f‘t = 1;5% %J "L REREEE HEHFREETE
up various communication channels such as labour unions, suggestion s MEE B RA B ‘tb?‘f)ﬁ °

boxes and employee representative mechanisms to promote democratic

management and maintain the harmonious development of labour-

management relations.

In this Year, we held a variety of activities to let employees feel the care A& FEE » &{Fﬁﬁ;‘é}ﬁ EIER EE  ZEE T T

TEZEBRRT

B EEAIREOERBE o

and warmth of the Group after work.

Special Event for International Women’ S Day -
Sharing Session of “A Letter to Women”
HE)VPEE

S N\RBREFRREES — — (RWa N —

The Women’s Committee of the Zhuhai Labour Union specially organised

a sharing session on “A Letter to Women”, and invited three female senior
managers, namely the senior director of human resources administration,

the deputy director of quality, and the senior sales manager, to share their
experiences. At the meeting, guests shared and interacted on topics such as
gender, age, life goals, and women’s core competitiveness in the workplace.

HEMETEURIZESERAENR - —(REXMEN—HE)2ZTE FE-UXESKREEAS . N\ETHSREE HE
BRE SRIFECEETHZ L HEREMMUN FH8 AEERURKERBSZOREZNEEEETOZRES -

Annual Event

FERS

In March, we successfully held our annual event in Zhuhai with
the theme of “BX££12 & » A ¥ A11T -Growth-Minded, Forward-
Thinking”. The event invited many board members, overseas
senior leaders and the China team to participate, and everyone
gathered together to celebrate the event.

38 ?Jﬂf'ﬁﬁAiﬁii’éﬁ}ZIjJ;ﬁ?ﬂ?Tr?riﬁi§’F'J¥ AI{T
RogshE e RS A B & E Bt P RRE R —

-Growth-Minded, Forward-Thinking | FERE JEHMBAEZUESTZTHE

o B

Corporate Cultural Activities in Zhuhai Office

HREMABEEXICED

In order to further enhance employees’ sense of belonging and happiness, the Zhuhai office regularly holds various
corporate cultural activities. For example, birthday parties are held to send blessings and care to employees, and cooling
benefits are distributed in the summer to let everyone feel cool and caring in the hot weather. In addition, we launched the
“Training at the Grassroots Level” activity to promote team collaboration and growth through snow plum-making courses
and round box flower arrangement courses.

RE—SRASTIHEBREZ=RER I%i%ﬁﬂ@iﬁﬂ%iﬁ%”f‘ﬁ’ﬁ%ﬁﬂb

ARRERARRHRZBFREARD - UE5 > FRMEIEEE 1SS
BEBEREFRERESTEERE  REEXRBFLARE -
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Development and Training BRI

The Group has established a systematic system on internal training ZANEEE ZAFEREIZISER Z 0 B
management to help employees improve their professional capabilies N E LIRA BXEEIRBEZE - ASE
and occupational qualities. The Human Resources Department formulates 3R 2 1R 15 %% 28 P9 15 5l 28 K %l & &£ E 5 3l 51
an annual training plan based on the training needs of each department 2| HERE T B F 2 E W TG F AR - T
to ensure employees’ orderly participation and evaluate the effectiveness IR EE T R EBHE T (& RITEELRE
of training. We continuously optimise course content based on A IBFIEIIMNHEMEENM - FET
employees’ feedback and evaluation results to improve the relevance and ~ SE#/HGFT 2L A B EAE S o

effectiveness of training, so that employees can transform what they have

learned into practical skills.

Improving/
Assessing re-organising
training training

Classroom

Analysing job Developing lectures/practical

requirements

AT TERR

training plan operations
il $H 5/l 51 &I RERR

BRIFERE

effectiveness HUE B
A M FERE A=

Internal training system

A EBIE S B

126  NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

To ensure that the training meets the needs of different positions,
we have established a tiered and classified training mechanism. New
employees shall participate in induction training to familiarise themselves
with corporate culture and job requirements; special operation staff shall
receive statutory training and obtain operation certificates to ensure
operation safety; and personnel in positions involving major safety
risks shall receive special safety training to improve their risk response
capabilities. In addition, we provide a variety of courses covering product
knowledge, career development, office software applications, etc. to help
employees continuously improve their skills, enhance team effectiveness,
and promote the steady development of the Company. During the Year,
a total of 1,430 employees of the Group received training, accounting for
66.11% of the total, with the total training hours of employees reaching
33,869 hours and the average training hours per employee being 23.68
hours. The details are as follows:

RIE-HERELSHRS

AEREBININZEFEEMUER HMRIL
DEDEHEININES - ABETEZM
ABEI UABCEEEBEMNENR ; 5
BEXE T ERSATERITEBIRIES
B BEREEXZE IREAZZARNE
NAEBESEMANZ2EI BFARR
FEHBE 77 o b S » FoFI 1H 25 2= S A0 o4t ~
BEER BABHRERELTEERE B
BhE T FETRE R AE > 1% 8 B B BE > ¥ &Y
TrtEERZER - AEE AEBEHEEF1,430
LEIESEI - EREIZIESLEA
66.11%° BE T S|4 8 433,869/\6F >
BHEEINFHZIE#H A23.68/\FF- &
BHNETZINERUT :

Training Performance Unit 2024
BTIZIRER B 20244
Number of employees By age Male person
trained
BIZIA# 7 RE D B4 A 509
Female person
7% A 921
By function Front-line person
L AES Al 4R A 1,240
Management person
BEAB A 190
Employee training By age Male %
coverage
BITEIBEX R85 B4 % 64.35
Female %
gk % 67.13
By function Front-line %
R EE R Al #3 % 70.66
Management %
BIEAB % 46.57
Number of hours of By age Male hour
employee training
ETRIEH 4 R85 B4 NS 15,627
Female hour
e N 18,242
By function Front-line hour
R AR 2 Al AR NS 25,352
Management hour
EEAE 2N 8,517
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RIE-HERELRHRS

Training Performance Unit 2024
BT KRR =R} 20245
Average training hours By age Male hour
per employee
BT ABZIIFE 4R & D B4 NS 30.70
Female hour
Z NS 19.81
By function Front-line hour
R AE S A4 NS 20.45
Management hour
BEAE INEF 44.83

The Group has established a fair and transparent talent promotion ZANEBEEIZ AT FEHEMNAS S F#H
mechanism to promote talent mobility and stimulate the work enthusiasm BB SGIEEEENIB AL (BRE AT RI 2 B
and potential of employees through reasonable allocation of internal BRETWNIFEBMEREBE D - BREET
talents. To promote the career development of our employees, we have FIEZESEE > M TEBERELRIE
implemented a “dual-channel career development” model, setting up TV’ RUBEBENEERMBE BET
management channel and professional and technical channel to provide et Z T/IEI R o

employees with diversified development paths.

Cultivate employees’ management and decision-making capabilities to
help them gradually advance to higher-level management positions and
s enhance their organisational coordination and leadership.

BEEE ERETHEBREREAN EVHBS EAEESBRNERH M BH
B HREEE S o

Management Channel

Focus on deepening professional skills and technologies to help
Professional and employees grow into technical experts and core backbones in the field, and
Technical Channel promote technological innovation and professional breakthroughs.

B BESERBAERRIEN DHETHEAASNNRTERERZLEH
¥ B 12 1l BBy B B2 22 SR o

In addition, the Group has the Monthly Information Updates, in which we  [tE 4} > ZLY%. CHEEBERHR RATH

have set up a special organisational and personnel section to regularly AR EPI5 7 4H 4% A E M 38 > & HA E%ﬁ% E]
update the Group’s important personnel change information, thereby & &EHJ A $ “ BEE ELEEEBEIRT
encouraging employees to set clear career development goals. AT EEEEE
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Health and Safety

We always adhere to the core policy of “safety first, prevention first,
mass prevention and control”, and actively create a solid occupational
safety and health culture within the Company. The management team
works closely with all employees to ensure the full implementation of
safety responsibilities by improving the safety management system,
implementing risk prevention measures and conducting continuous
education and training. We value the physical and mental health of our
employees and are committed to providing them with a safe and healthy
working environment and effectively reducing risks and accident rates in
the workplace.

Safety Management

The Group has formulated and implemented a number of safety
management system documents, including the Environmental,
Occupational Health Operation and Testing Control Procedures, the
Safety Production Management System and the Occupational Health
Management System. We explicitly state our safety management
purpose in the Employee Handbook - safety is always one of our
top concerns. We plan health and safety management matters with
employees, encourage employees to actively participate in health and
safety programmes in the workplace, and are committed to promoting
the establishment of an occupational health and safety culture. To ensure
that the health and safety of all employees are fully protected, the Group
requires the Company and its branches and project departments to
set up a safety production leadership group to supervise and execute
related work, and establish complete emergency response procedures to
promptly identify and evaluate all potential accidents and emergencies.
We will take corresponding preventive measures for various risks and
regularly hold first-aid, fire-fighting and evacuation drills to ensure that
our employees are capable of dealing with emergencies. In order to
continuously improve safety management, we have also established an
accident reporting and investigation mechanism to encourage employees
to proactively report potential accidents and unsafe factors, jointly
promoting the continuous optimisation of safety management.

YEAR R

Number of work-related fatalies ETIERITHAZ (N)
(person)

Work-related fatality rate of
employees

Number of working days lost due to Kl T#5485% TEH & (K)

work-related injuries (day)

BTRTITHELEE
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2023 2022

0 0 0
0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
270 331 390
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Safe Production

The Group regards production safety as an important part of fulfilling its
corporate social responsibility. Before new equipment, new materials,
new products, new production processes, etc. are put into use or
adopted, we conduct a comprehensive health and safety risk assessment
to identify and predict potential hazards that may affect the environment
and employee health and safety. We have established and strictly
implement a set of high-standard safety operating procedures, requiring
employees to fully comply with them during work to ensure their own
safety. If any safety hazard is found, employees must immediately report it
to the relevant responsible person and handle it. In addition, we regularly
organise relevant persons in charge of each department to conduct
occupational safety and health examinations and risk assessments,
covering all processes, positions, types of work and related materials.
Based on the assessment results and potential risks, we take targeted
preventive measures to ensure continuous improvement and risk control.

In order to achieve in-depth management of potential hazards, we
adopt a multi-dimensional risk assessment approach. The responsible
department conducts quantitative analysis based on the possibility of
an accident (L), hazard occurrence frequency (E) and injury severity
(C), determines the final risk level through calculation, and forms the
Hazard Source Risk Assessment Table to ensure the scientific nature and
effectiveness of risk control measures and maximize the protection of
employee health and corporate safety.

ZEEE

FEERZ2EERRBETEEMEERE
MEZAMB D - EMBRE MR
Em - WEEIZRESRACHAKRA
Al RFETEEMNRERZ 2 RERTMG
AT EHRRE - BTREREZ S
EERENEECR RMABEBIIER
HIT—ESRENZ2BRERL X8
ITHIFERETEZEET BREIZZ-
MBERERNZ2REER 8 TARK QAR
BEEARSUREE IS RFIERERE
BPBHEE A AFERELE2EEREM
Rt 2EBELRF M TERE
R o AR R T Al A SR BB T ELRR  SREXET
HMUETAP R MR CUE R BRIEH o

REREEBECHRRNREEE  HMAK
BEHERRBNGH L BEHPRES
BB ERBIAEM (L) EERRE)URER
BENBREREC)ETELCD T BB
BERERQNEARS R LR (ERIRE
BT fhaR)  RERES BRI 2t E
ERE - RARREMEFEREE TRRARE

ZEe

Possibility of an accident (L)
BEEWHRTREMIEIREL)

—

Hazard occurrence frequency (E)

el E SRR EISREE)

Assessment

dimensions

SMEMRE

Injury severity (C)
BESHELENGERERERBIREC
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Health and Safety Training

The Group has established health and safety training procedures and
included health and safety training in the annual training plan to ensure
that all employees are able to master the necessary safety protection
knowledge and response skills. For all new employees, employees
transferred from other positions and employees engaged in high-risk
operations, we require them to participate in health and safety training
to ensure that they can be only officially employed after passing the
training. In addition, we provide a variety of training methods, including
classroom lectures, seminars, group meetings, blackboard posters, etc.,
and flexibly use online and offline methods to enhance the coverage
and effectiveness of training. In order to further enhance the fire safety
awareness and emergency response capabilities of all employees, we
regularly organise fire evacuation and fire-fighting drills to strengthen red-
line awareness, so as to ensure that employees can respond quickly
in emergencies and effectively protect their own safety and the work
environment. During the Year, the Group recorded a total of 4,671
person-time participating in safety training, with 18,012 training hours in
aggregate.

Prevention of Occupational Accidents and Occupational Diseases

In order to further prevent the occurrence of occupational accidents
and occupational diseases, the Group provides necessary labour
protection measures to ensure the life safety and health of employees.
The Personnel Administration Department is responsible for monitoring
and managing occupational risks and providing special protection for
female employees in accordance with the Procedures for the Labour
Protection of Female Employees. In response to risk factors such as
dust, toxic gases, noise, and high-temperature operations, we have
formulated and implemented operating specifications and require
employees to strictly abide by them to reduce safety risks. In addition,
we organise annual employee physical examinations and establish health
records in accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases to ensure that
occupational health risks are monitored and controlled.

RIE-HERELSHRS

12 r 2 2155
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Excellence in Operations

The Group has strengthened its product quality and safety defence by
strictly implementing product responsibilities, building a sound product
quality management system and implementing a full-process quality
control mechanism, and has also strengthened supply chain management
to create high-quality products. We continue to improve our product
R&D and innovation capabilities, and by adhering to the customer-
centric philosophy, we promote iterative upgrades in product design and
comprehensively optimise the user experience. At the same time, we pay
attention to the feedback and suggestions of customers and consumers,
and are committed to providing users with excellent, safe and sustainable
products and services, and continuously meeting the expectations and
requirements of domestic and foreign customers.

Green and Product Research and Development and
Innovation

With the vision of “Life As You Wish e :ZEAESEUIRFTFE", NVC
International closely integrates its brand mission with human life scenes,
provides full lighting solutions based on scene pre-design in overseas
markets around the world, and continues to provide high-quality lighting
products. On the one hand, we actively increase our investment in
research and development, and on the other hand, we keep up with
industry development trends and strive to create a smarter, more
technological and more environmentally friendly living space. In addition,
while continuously improving product performance through technological
innovation, we also incorporate environmental factors into multiple links
such as product design and raw material procurement, formulate full life
cycle management of new products, continuously improve the energy
efficiency of products, and reduce their impact on the environment.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Step 1: Customer Needs

MERR— AR R EXR

Step 2: Product Design/R&D
BEER — : EmaREt/AE

Step 3: Raw Material
Assessment

REER = : RHAEIIRER

Step 4: Production
BEERMY . EREE

Step 5: Product Sales

BERER : EREH

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELGRS

Collect market information, investigate consumer demand for environmental and
energy-saving products, then put forward the product planning schemes

WETSER REHEEHRAROEBEERT R REERRE

Carry out overall conceptual design; carry on trial production of products to verify
reliability and manufacturability; prioritise environmentally friendly materials; improve
products’ own energy efficiency
ETERARER ARNERREIEE RGNS BAEZBRRERFEME RAERE

S HERM @

Conduct material assessments to ensure that raw materials comply with the requirement of
environmental protection regulations

ETME TG REBERMEFAREERER

Establish stringent specifications on environmental production process to verify quality
and yield rate

FIEREIIRFREEMERSE  RELEEREX

Reduce the use of packaging materials in operations, make promotion plan and monitor
product performance

ROEERREPNEOERYEHER  fIERENE SEEERRER

Life-cycle management of new products

FEmMBIE L DB EE
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Product Research and Development and Innovation

The Group attaches great importance to research and development and
innovation and adheres to a new framework oriented towards “users’
needs” for R&D and product design. We have established industrial
design, mechanical design and other design teams, and introduced new
product development (NPD) and product quality test plan (PQTP) systems
to improve product quality and development efficiency. In order to gain
further insight into customer needs, we have established a customer-
centric big data analysis database, from data collection, data access and
storage, visual query and analysis to data-driven decision-making and
product intelligence, so as to achieve a fully data-driven linkage, gain a
comprehensive insight into user needs and provide recommendations for
targeted products and solutions.

The Group has set up the R&D centre in Shanghai, Zhejiang, Guangdong
in China and Birmingham in the UK. During the Year, the Group applied
for a total of 17 patents and obtained 18 authorisations. The details are
as follows:

B an i % B B R

FEESEERMEAN BRUTART
RIBEBERANEHRABETHENERR
st BT ERET HHMRStSRTERK
A0 513 ¥ E R (NPD) K & B 2 R & 5t
B(PQTP)RM UWIEAELmE BB EN
Ko BFE-—TRBTZFRPNBR RMHRT
&R R OB KEIED T E R E R
RE -BEEARFERH URLCERNEDN
UhBERHRRNERSESESTHE B
REBRPLER 2EHBAEBABER L
REHEENERMB RS ERZE-

AEERPEP LB T BERUKMRE
MEAERAMEP L AFE > AERH
R EM17IH BRE181R ARE RN
T

Number of patent Number of

applications authorisations

Type HE HEENHE BEHE

Utility model patents TR 2 7

International Patent Cooperation Treaty(PCT) B E A & EIRA(PCT) = e
Copyrights E1FE 4

Design patents SNERERE 2 4

Invention patents B ER ] 9 7

The Group’s Guangdong Zhuhai Base has been recognised as a national
high-tech enterprise. In addition, the Group owns three independent core
technologies: Arcade ballast technology, HEPAcharged (high-efficiency
particulate air filters) and disinfection technology centred on the “water”
element. The Group has applied for more than 180 patents, authorised
more than 30 invention patents, more than 130 utility model patents, and
more than 10 design patents. The Group won the “Design Excellence
Award” in the China International Lighting Design Competition many
times.
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Establishment of Vietnam Product Development Office

BREEMAEERIL

In August, the Lighting Product Center of NVC International
Research Institute established the Vietnam Product Development
Office. The establishment of the Vietnam Product Development
Office can not only cooperate and support the Vietnamese
factory more efficiently, accelerate the efficiency of new product
development in the Vietnamese factory and realise the localisation
development of products in Vietham as soon as possible, but it is
also based on the Group’s comprehensive consideration of current
product research, design and development processes and current
status. The establishment of the Vietnam Product Development
Office will effectively improve the overall competitiveness of
products.

8R  BEXERMEMRAERT OAREEERAEE URERHEENEM AN ETUESHRES
X FHE TR MRAEEIEANERRAERNEURBRERERTEEALEHRE TREEERE
AIEMMAR RFFAFERABRKRERNGEER BHERREENMN I BARESERGERT I

Launch of Product Life-Cycle Management System
Project

EmEnBREEARER LGRS

With the joint efforts of various departments and the PNT
team, the Windchill PLM (Product Lifecycle Management)
system was officially launched during this Year, laying a solid
foundation for product lifecycle management. In the future,
we will continue to optimise system functions and promote
integration with other information systems to create a smarter
and more efficient enterprise information platform.

ERBFIRPNTE BB ERZ 7T > Windehill PLM (ERERBHER) 2N FEERXN LR SEM
EmBHREESE TREER - RK AARFEECRAIE THESHRAMSEERANER ITE
BMESBMHNEXEFERIETE.
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Intellectual Property Rights Protection

The Group strictly abides by the intellectual property rights-related laws
and regulations® in each place where it operates, and has formulated
and implemented systems such as the Intellectual Property Rights
Protection Management Procedures and the Intellectual Property Rights
Confidentiality Management Procedures. At the same time, the Group
regularly reviews the status of intellectual property rights registrations. By
strengthening patent application management and other means, we can
improve the protection of our own intellectual property rights, safeguard
our legitimate rights and interests while fully respecting the intellectual
property rights of others, and create a fair and healthy competition
environment.

A EERE

FEBEBETEELEAEMBYRHEE
AR R IA RS B E I B B (R0 3B A R AR
HEERF)(NBERRBRERERF)FH
EoBR > AEETHRMENMEETME
moRENERFEESF S REHES
NHEENRENE ERDEEMAX
HBEENAMETRIESS G EEDR  BE
DT RERRIFIIRE -

Project/product start-up phase
HE EmiERREE

e Avoid the possibility of infringement
before the commencement of a
project

e Preliminary assessment of intellectual
property rights risks

s RIEEFRAIREBEER M

IPR Acquisition
AR A

e Follow the trends of IPR applications

e Obtain the maximum scope of
protection when patent licensed

o BER B A RF I
s FRESRERFIRANRELE

Existing IPR Protection
MERAF AN ER
* Protect existing intellectual
property rights from infringement
o RERBNBEEFTZEIC

o M A HE R R A FRT A T

Three stages for protection of intellectual property rights
Hiah EREIRE T (EHY = AMEER

< For relevant laws and regulations, please refer to the “Laws and
Regulations” section
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Product Responsibility

NVC International adheres to the people-oriented and science-based
lighting concept, insists on “being a recommender and practitioner of
green lighting for mankind” as the product development direction, and
develops and innovates a healthy spectrum close to nature based on the
concept of “healthy lighting”, and combines it with advanced intelligent
lighting control systems and professional lighting design to achieve a
dynamic and rhythmic healthy lighting environment. We also attach
importance to product manufacturing, sales and after-sales service. By
establishing a full-process quality supervision system, we continuously
improve product performance and increase product competitiveness.

Product Quality Management

Product quality is one of the cores of NVC International’s long-
term development. The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws
and regulations on production quality in each operating location’®,
specifies and implements strict and unified product quality management
standards to strictly control product quality management and prevent the
unintended use or delivery of substandard products.

The Group has been certified to ISO 9001:2015 since 2010 and has
established a product quality management system in accordance with
the system standards. We have developed and implemented full life-cycle
quality management procedures, including the Design and Development
Control Procedures in the R&D and design stage, the Procedure for
Control of Defective Goods and the Corrective and Preventive Control
Procedures in the finished product stage, and the Data Analysis Control
Procedures and the Customer Satisfaction Measurement Average
Procedures in the product harvesting and recycling stage, thereby
improving the Group’s product quality control capabilities.
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Research,
Development
and Design

Stage
2% 5 A% PR ER

Design and
Development
Control Procedure

(REt R
EHERF)
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In order to further strengthen the Group’s product quality management
and market reputation, the Group actively relies on authoritative third-
party organisations to conduct product supervision and review in line with
international standards. Thanks to strict quality control and continuous
optimisation, we have obtained product certifications in many countries
and regions.

Domestic certifications

EilaEdtics

China Compulsory Certification “CCC”
FhE &4 E 2R CCCl

China Quality Certificate “CQC”
BFEMERREICQC

CQC Energy Conservation Certification
CQCHiRERE

SRRC Radio Transmission Equipment
Certification
SRRC# 47 8 % 5 R #5058

Product certifications

0O 2] 22%
Voo )rid-ica

RIE-HERELSHRS

RE—IMBAEREREEEERNE
EE AEERBENERBE =S HIBE
TELREEREE HRERKE - RER
BRREEERFEERL HMACBERS
181 B0 2R 0 #h & 7Y E R aR a8 o

International certifications

B FREREE

American UL Certification
ERBULR:E

American DLC Certification
E=EDLC:R:E

European Norms Electrical
Certification “ENEC”

BRI ERmeB:ETENEC ]
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High-quality Monitoring E’y_ g E E = E&" }gﬂ

The Group's quality monitoring work is jointly led by the Quality FAEBNESZLAN TFEFHESSEEI
Management Department, the Technology Department, the Planning {7 & ~ 51 2| ﬁﬁ MAEEIFEFZEE BBEE
Department and the Production Department. By strictly implementing the BB 28 B RI2BIR/EISS|» Wk B H

quality monitoring process and operating guidelines, the entire process B4 ETBKE R DDELTT%MED:J’E o
of incoming material quality, production process and product quality B EEIBEITETHDOTEE R4 R > #BE

is monitored. The Quality Management Department regularly analyzes RIEEMREEEZEN BHRERZTAEHET g
monitoring results, identifies potential problems and follows up with BT ESBRRHN R EZ %

rectification to ensure that products meet strict quality standards before

storage and shipment.

Incoming materials monitoring 3 ¥} 253

e The Quality Control Department and the Technology Department are responsible for the incoming materials monitoring.
Materials that pass the inspection are warehoused for later use, while the defective materials are handled in accordance
with the Procedure for Control of Defective Goods

o HAEBRKRMBEERMENTE CRBARNIHETABTR  FTERREHRKE(TERRERRZERF)

e For incoming materials that may probably be accepted but cannot be inspected due to urgent production needs, these
four departments shall work together to properly carry out review, identify and record, and separate semi-finished
products from finished products in movement, so as to recall and replace defective products in the future

e HNERBMERANEBRSFTLEEMAKEMERFERRE > MWE PR S EMETF BZ KRB0 R > #F 5 am K G bR BE R
> UERREEKFEMRAERER

Production process monitoring 4 E B2 &5 i

e Production process monitoring mainly includes four major parts, being first inspection, self-inspection, special inspection
and in process quality control of the products and the technology, in which different responsible persons carry out
multiple inspections to identify potential problems before a product is finished, as far as possible

e 4EBEBZAFESNRESNIENER BB ER - KBEAEHS AFRAEEABETEZARR FENALAR
BEIE:FilbEgaanl=2

e Finally, the Quality Control Department performs sampling inspection on the packaged finished products and make a
judgement on the statistical analysis and feedbacks

s RIRMAENHEBEMBBMMEREKRAE

Statistical analysis and feedback %t 5t % #r 1 Iz &

e The Quality Control Department is responsible for collecting all inspection data to conduct regular quality statistics
and analysis on incoming materials, process and finished products. If any problems identified, the department will
inform responsible departments in a timely manner, and follow up and verify the improvement measures taken by the
responsible departments

e HENMEBWEMBWAEE EHRMRRM VEBRENRENESHATM DN > # 5 HEEE KR SMEEIF > LR
Ht BRs8 BB FIRV L B 51
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Product Recall Procedure

If any product is found to be defective after delivery (including safety
and health issues), the Group will promptly notify customers of the
relevant information, implement product recalls, and promptly dispose
of the relevant products to minimise the impact of defective products
on customers. To ensure efficient execution of the recall and disposal
process, we have formulated the Procedure for Control of Defective
Goods, which articulates the control, review and disposal process
of defective accessories and products, and clearly defines the job
responsibilities of each responsible department to maximize customer
rights and product safety.

RIF - ERERHRS

T &1 an & BIH%F

EERRNEREBAHAEKEE (BE%
2ERENEBERR) AEAFF KB
BEEENER UEHERABFD » AE
SREBRERNEE  UEFAFEEREE
PERNEERERE AEMABOIHERE
ERENSHHT HMAFETERDE
HREFR) ZEFPHEGKRER TSR D
BIFEH N 5738 s KREE B RIZ(E L AR Rt
jiﬁ%ﬁﬁ??ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬂ’]lf’ﬁﬂﬁkﬁ’L/{ﬁ
AREREXFEZEERELS

For the disposal of unqualified products returned by customers, the quality department organises confirmation and
investigation of the reasons for the failure and the relevant responsible units

HREEREFNERMIEE A mE AR

AEFNRRAKBREEE

Then the technical department proposes a disposal plan based on the poor condition of the returned products,
which is countersigned by the relevant departments and then handed over to the supply chain
management department for disposal

BeEMBPIREERERNFIRANRHEESR KARMBPAEERE XHEEEENRE

Product recall procedure

Ein B EIH )
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Product Marketing and Labelling

The Group strictly complies with the national energy efficiency labelling
management regulations and has built an energy efficiency labelling
management system. In terms of product labelling management, we
strictly implement national standards such as the Energy Conservation
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Energy Efficiency Labelling
Management Measures as well as the standards of various operating
regions to ensure that product label information is complete, standardised
and accurate. Each product is clearly labelled with information such
as product name, specifications, energy efficiency level and safety
instructions. At the same time, we have established a strict quality
control system, implementing traceability management in every link from
raw material procurement to finished product delivery to ensure the
authenticity and reliability of product information.

In terms of marketing and promotion, we strictly abide by the marketing-
related laws and regulations in each place of business, such as the
relevant provisions of the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, to eliminate false propaganda and effectively safeguard the rights
and interests of consumers. By continuously optimising the product
information disclosure mechanism, we are committed to providing
consumers with transparent and reliable product information and
promoting the standardised development of the lighting industry.

Supply Chain Management

The Group adheres to rigorous supply chain management to maintain
excellent product quality and safety standards. We have established
a systematic supplier management system to implement full-process
control, covering supplier access, screening, performance evaluation and
continuous optimisation. Such system includes strict access mechanisms
and evaluation standards, regular performance reviews, and dynamic
adjustments to the qualified supplier list to ensure the robustness
and compliance of the supply chain. At the same time, we apply ESG
standards to supplier management and promote the implementation of
sustainable development responsibilities to comprehensively improve
operational efficiency and long-term competitiveness of the supply chain.
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RIE-HERELGRS

In terms of supply chain sustainability, the Group is committed to building
a green supply chain system and implementing sustainable development
initiatives to promote the coordinated development of the upstream and
downstream of the supply chain. In the future, we will continue to improve
the level of supply chain management, ensure the sustainability and
resilience of the supply chain, and lay a solid foundation for the long-term
and stable development of the Group.

Strict Procurement Standards

The Group has always regarded supply chain management as an
important cornerstone for ensuring product quality and achieving
sustainable development. We have established a comprehensive supply
chain management system, including the Supplier Management System,
the Supplier Management Control Procedures, the Basic Specifications
for Procurement Management and other systems to comprehensively
regulate procurement matters. In the actual process of procurement,
the Group strictly controls the review of supply chain qualifications,
implements hierarchical and classified management, and regularly
evaluates suppliers based on their performance to ensure that the project
qualifications, supplied products and behaviours of the Group’s suppliers
meet the Group’s standards, thereby laying the foundation for the stability
of the Group’s supply chain system.

In the process of supplier selection and management, we not only focus
on product quality and delivery capabilities, but also on the sustainability
of the supply chain. By continuously optimising procurement processes
and strengthening supplier capacity building, we are committed to
building an efficient, reliable and sustainable supply chain system to
provide solid guarantees for the long-term sustainable development of the
Company.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 797 qualified suppliers, of which
711 were located in Mainland China, 5 in Hong Kong, China, and 81 in
other regions.
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IRIE LB RER

=R]=]

Assessment of
new suppliers

MR T

Supplier’s
trial period

rEm s A

Qualified
suppliers

AiRMHER

Elimination of
qualified suppliers

ARMEERL

WS

Classify by different types of purchased items
ERRELNAEEETSSE
On-site inspection and data evaluation

RBERMER G

If a new supplier is assessed as qualified, we will consider offering a
trial period of three months
EMMHEEIEaREE R SR EE3MER
After the trial period is over, the Supplier Management Department
will confirm whether it meets the relevant requirements for qualified
suppliers in the trial period
AABERE  HEREERESH
HEEEER

ANEHABRBRERHEERN

Those who pass the trial period evaluation will be included in the List
of Qualified Suppliers

AT EEREIAC(ERBEELER)

Update to relevant departments quarterly

BEEEN—REERMEE

When a supplier is rated as unqualified in the annual audit, the
Group suspends new project cooperation and gives it a three-month
rectification period while preparing for any possible transfer-order plan
by the procurement department
HRNFEZZRAER TS RNEER BREFEENEESEL4 T3
BB R ER N HAMR  SRAEEBPIE P EE A BE 51 8
If the reexamination remains unqualified, the BU Supplier Management
Department fills in the Supplier Elimination Application Form, which is
reviewed by the department head, the Quality Management Department
and the Technology Development Department, then the Supplier
Management Department signs the form, and the qualification will be
oancelled once the form is approved by the supply chain head.
E%%TA%’WE&H%ﬁmﬁ%E%@%ﬁﬁ@x$ B ak) 2 ACER P
A%A Bz an B B I B e b 1l R 2% AR R Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ% e
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RIE-HERELSHRS

BT BT A EIFE ARE R
Screening and audit Sample evaluation Assessment during the Elimination and
trial period update

Supplier admission procedure

REFENEF

In order to maintain the quality of suppliers and the quality of the
products they supply, the Group scores suppliers based on the
supplier index every month. Through actual data display, it strictly
controls the quality of suppliers’ supplies and ensures the quality of
subsequent products with high standards. The Group has formulated
and implemented the supplier qualification process for qualified suppliers
for many consecutive years, and each link is evaluated and implemented
strictly in accordance with the corresponding system documents. The
Group’s supplier qualification process is as follows:

N\

e Update of qualified supplier
information to the List of Qualified
Suppliers

s EMEREREEEE(ERERS
E2E o) Inspection

wmE

Assessment
e Assessment and rating of suppliers, i (+

such as on-site QSA review, sample
evaluation, social responsibility survey
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=

N 7/

AREHEBNEERFAERERNE
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/

e Assessment of suppliers in terms
of the qualified and timely delivery
rate for incoming materials, the price
rationality and compatibility

o HHREEARE ST REX B
BEEME KA EE N EEEETR
—E1Z

Selection
B €

N\

e Supplier information review,
such as whether the supplier has
RoHS, REACH related certification
and supplier’s social responsibility
undertaking

o HEmBEREZ MEEEERE
RoHS ~ REACH#ERASRE » (gt &

EREREES

N\ 4
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Responsible Procurement E /f f;‘;?,

The social responsibility performance of suppliers is one of the important  (HFEFHNH ST RIBE S N EFHEHIEMRE
considerations for the Group in selecting suppliers. By requiring suppliers EFHNEEZEEAN T — > BRERMEES
to fill out the EICC Social Responsibility Questionnaire and sign the ESZ(EICCHESEHBFER)ITEE(tEe S
Social Responsibility Pledge, the Group systematically identifies and {EREZE) » R4L M BB ST (HEHE D
manages ESG risks in the supply chain. This management practice not HWESGR S -z —EEER~Em{E T HE
only strengthens suppliers’ understanding and commitment to corporate W P X H T SEWIEHREKE > EF 5
social responsibility, but also helps build a more resilient sustainable RIEERFEFEN T EHEEEZ »®E
supply chain system and ensure the long-term stability and compliance of (RAEBHEEN EREEEN SR K-
the Group’s supply chain.

Management Measures on Suppliers’ Social Responsibility

HEBHEEEEESZ

e Establish a social responsibility performance file for suppliers, and maintain evidence and records of evaluation results
and improvement measures

s BUMBBHEESEREER  REHEBIGERN LS EROVERMCER

e Select suppliers based on their social responsibility performance, and give priority to suppliers with good performance
and willingness to improve

s REHEFENHEEERRBMEHER BAEERRITEREASNHER

e All suppliers should sign the Social Responsibility Pledge after receiving an order or contract, and promise to abide by
local labour regulations and industry standards

s MAEMEERINENASRATBEELCETETALS  KHEBTEMHBARMITERE

e The production department should arrange an on-site audit for suppliers at least once a year to evaluate the supplier’s
social responsibility performance and follow up on improvement measures

s FENBEELZY—RUBEBRSEER FTAUESLEEERER BENSHET

e Existing suppliers who intentionally use child labour, forced labour or other violations of labour laws and regulations shall
be immediately terminated from the partnership

s UFAHEFREEREL  RBFHNNAMERFTARNNRR > BIAELESERRE

146 NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

We implement a strategy of prioritising green procurement, taking
environmental benefits as a key indicator while ensuring economic
benefits. For core suppliers, we require them to hold ISO9001 quality
control system certification, RoHS Hazardous Substances Restriction
Directive compliance certification and 3C product mandatory certification
to evaluate their practice standards in environmental management and
social responsibility.

To strengthen the environmental management of the supply chain,
we require suppliers to strictly manage chemical substances in their
products and control the use of hazardous substances in their products.
For suppliers who are subject to administrative penalties for violating
environmental protection, labour rights and other social responsibility
requirements, the qualification re-examination process will be initiated.
If being found to conduct any serious violations, their qualifications as
qualified suppliers will be cancelled.

Anti-corruption

The Group adheres to the business principles of integrity and fairness
and has a zero-tolerance attitude towards any form of corruption. We
are fully aware of the importance of maintaining a fair, transparent and
honest business environment for sustainable development. Therefore,
on the basis of strictly abiding by relevant laws and regulations', we
have established an internal supervision and review mechanism to
effectively prevent and combat any violations. We continue to deepen our
compliance culture to ensure that all employees and partners uphold the
highest ethical standards, fulfill their duties, jointly maintain the corporate
reputation, and practice social responsibility.

U For relevant laws and regulations, please refer to the “Laws and
Regulations” section of this report

RIB - ERERHRS
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RIE-HERELRHRS

Building Integrity Culture

The Group has always adhered to a zero-tolerance anti-corruption policy
and has actively adopted a series of internal control measures to ensure
the transparency and compliance of corporate operations. We have
formulated management guidelines such as the Anti-Fraud Management
System and the Integrity Practice Regulations to clearly regulate the
behavioral standards of employees and eliminate any form of corruption.

We require all employees to sign the Integrity and Self-discipline
Commitment and strictly abide by the Group’s integrity principles to
avoid directly or indirectly participating in bribery, embezzlement, money
laundering, misappropriation of public funds, unfair competition and other
behaviours that violate professional ethics. In response to fraud risks,
we conduct risk identification and assessment every year and formulate
precise risk management measures accordingly, including strengthening
ethics and compliance training, improving internal review mechanisms
and document management systems, etc., to build a solid anti-corruption
defence line.

In order to enhance the awareness of all employees and the Board on
anti-corruption policies, the Group actively carries out integrity publicity
and education, deepens the core values of integrity and honesty, and
strengthens the construction of management systems. We publish and
publicise related system documents on Incorrupt practices through OA
channels, and organise special training on a regular basis to enable
employees to have a deep understanding of anti-corruption policies
and related regulations, while improving their ethical judgement and
compliance awareness in actual work.

During the Year, we continued to carry out integrity education and training

for all employees, and 100% of the employees of the Group participated
in such training.
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Whistleblower Mechanism

The Group has established a comprehensive reporting and complaint
mechanism, adopting the “four-in-one (i.e. letters, visits, calls and the
Internet)” approach to strengthen the supervision and governance of
corruption, bribery and other illegal activities. We provide multiple and
convenient reporting channels to ensure that employees and stakeholders
can flexibly report violations, and strictly regulate the operation process
of the mechanism to ensure that all cases can be investigated and
handled promptly and rigorously. At the same time, we are committed
to protecting the privacy of whistleblowers and preventing any form
of retaliation, thereby creating an open and transparent corporate
environment and comprehensively enhancing the credibility and
effectiveness of anti-corruption work.

We encourage all employees and stakeholders with whom we have direct
or indirect business relationships to report any corruption they discover
to prevent the breeding of violations. The audit risk control department is
responsible for accepting reports, conducting in-depth investigations into
suspected commercial violations, and submitting the investigation results
to the Board or chairman for review. For individual cases where violations
are confirmed, the Board will take appropriate measures in accordance
with relevant regulations, including dismissal, demotion or transfer. If the
behaviour involves illegality, it will be transferred to judicial authorities for
handling in accordance with the law.

RIB - ERERHRS
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The whistleblower reports the corruption event via various

channels

HEALTBBSRESREREN

The Audit and Risk Control Department
investigates the event and collects evidence
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After confirming violations, they will be dealt with
in accordance with relevant regulations
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Anti-corruption reporting process

REBFRREZETIE

BLERERBRAE 202453,

149



150

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR ERERHRS

Responsibility to Customers

The Group pays attention to the diverse needs of customers. It is our
responsibility to provide customers with safe, high-quality and high-
efficiency products through innovative technology and design. In order to
better serve our customers, we have established a customer complaint
mechanism to listen to customer feedback and respond promptly,
continuously improve product and service quality and thus increase
customer satisfaction. At the same time, we also attach importance to
customer privacy protection. It is our responsibility to protect customer
privacy from being leaked.

Customer Complaint Handling

The Group has formulated the After-sales Claims Settlement Process and
Policy and the Customer Complaints Handling Procedures to improve
the complaint handling mechanism and ensure that customer opinions
can be responded to and properly handled efficiently. We have set up
customer complaint hotlines and mailboxes, and assigned dedicated
persons to manage them to collect and feedback customer opinions in
a timely manner. At the same time, customers can submit their opinions
and suggestions on products and services through multiple channels
such as telephone, Internet and customer satisfaction surveys. All
relevant departments, including the customer service department, the
quality department, the technology department and the supply chain
management department, work together to resolve customer complaints.
For major customer complaints, we promise to respond within 4 hours,
complete containment measures within 24 hours, and submit an 8D
(Eight Disciplines Problem Solving) report within 3 working days. In
addition, we regularly record and compile statistics on problematic
products and continuously optimise product quality and service
standards to enhance customer satisfaction and brand reputation.

During the Year, the Group received a total of 47 complaints, all of which
were resolved in accordance with the procedures.
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Increase Customer Satisfaction

In order to continuously improve customer satisfaction and standardise
customer satisfaction surveys, we have established relevant systems
such as the Customer Satisfaction Measurement and Evaluation
Procedures and the Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey Control Procedures.
At the practical level, the Group actively builds customer communication
channels and establishes multiple channels including official website,
WeChat public account and other social platform accounts, telephone
and email to communicate with customers. We regularly sort out and
summarise information on new products and services, disseminate them
through the above channels and keep them updated with customers. We
also actively collect customer feedback to continuously improve customer
satisfaction.

RIB - ERERHRS
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Customer Privacy Protection

The Group has taken a number of measures to ensure the security
of customer information and has strengthened the collection, review,
maintenance and management of relevant information. We incorporate
customer privacy protection clauses into contracts and further
clarify relevant requirements in employment contracts and employee
handbooks. The authority of all employees is strictly regulated, and no
employee may disclose customer information to a third party without the
customer’s explicit consent. In addition, in order to further strengthen
information confidentiality management, the Group issued the Warning
Letter on Confidentiality Obligations in 2022, which provided detailed
explanations and requirements on the confidentiality obligations of NVC
International and its subsidiaries, effectively avoiding the risk of customer
privacy leakage.

Community Engagement

The growth of an enterprise is closely related to the prosperity of society.
We continue to pay attention to community development trends and
actively explore opportunities to participate in community building in the
future to fulfill our corporate responsibility and promote the creation of
social value. Looking ahead, we will evaluate appropriate community
investment methods based on our business characteristics, explore how
to create a positive impact on local communities, and gradually promote
the implementation of relevant measures to promote the common
development of enterprises and communities.
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Laws and Regulations

The Group establishes and implements internal policies related to the
environmental, social, and governance matters to ensure that its business
operations comply with applicable laws and regulations. The table below

lists the relevant laws and regulations:

Aspect
BE

Applicable laws and regulations

BRANZERZER

RIE-HERELSHRS

ERRER

FEERIABITRIE -HERERER
AR BEXBEEBBEEANZE
BER - TRINLBRERER

Compliance

FHRER

Environment

Energy Conservation Law of the
People’s Republic of China
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes

Comprehensive Emission Standards
for Air Pollutants

Guangdong Province Air Pollutant
Emission Limits

Zhejiang Province Air Pollutant
Prevention and Control Regulations
Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China

(PEE NRHMEBEEAREIRZED
(PEARHEMBEARISRIFAEZE)
(hE NREMBIASHRBEEE)
(REANRHENEERBEEY SRR
HEEAED

(KRB ESBEBURE)

ERE (RRISEMBEMRE)
(L&A KRS R ARG
(REARENBIRIEREE)

During the Year, in terms of exhaust gas and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges to water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, the Group did not record
any cases of violation of relevant laws and regulations that may
have a significant impact on the Group, nor did it cause any
significant impact on the environment and natural resources. In
addition, there were no issues in sourcing water that was fit for
the purpose.

REFER ZERRABEREIR AKRLMES - BER

BEERYNELETE FAERTERSIEHAEREEEXR

TENERMEREIERNER TEHRBEARAERENE
FE I AERNKRRBAKRE ERFEERBE

Employment and
labour standards

Ry TR

Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Minors
Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labour
(FREARENMBESEE)
(REARENBESHERZE)
(FREARHEMBIARLEAREZE)
(BIEBAEZETRED

During the Year, there were no instances of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on
the Group relating to remuneration and resignation, recruitment
and dismissal, promotion, working hours, holidays, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination and other treatment
and benefits and the prevention of child and forced labour, and
there was no reported case regarding child and forced labour.

FEE FAERERETUEREBHIN KRR BEREE -SH-
TR R -TERE 2T REGUKEMTBERE
Ao URpIEETINSRGEFE TERNAEERE AL ENERER
EREER IMEAERIE TR RH % TEE-
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RIE-HERELGHRS

Aspect
BmE

Applicable laws and regulations

BRANZERZER

Compliance

HFHRER

Health and safety e

RERERZE .

Work Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases
(PEARRMBEZZEEE)
(FREARENEBZERAED

During the Year, there was no case of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which had a significant impact on
the Group relating to providing a safe workplace and protecting
employees from occupational hazards, and there was no reported
case regarding work-related fatalities or occupational diseases.
AFE AEERIMNEREHAREZL2BRGMEREREE
RHERCEEHAERSEREAXENEZZERET NEERT
FET Sk M ZE A ME 22 o

Product °
responsibility

it
Bno
pil
[
L]

Patent Law of the People’s Republic
of China

Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Tort Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(REARANMBEFE)
(PEARHNMBERBEEE)
(PEARHEMBEREEE)

During the Year, there were no products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons, and the Group was not
involved in any litigation related to the infringement of intellectual
property rights. There was no incident of non-compliance with
laws and regulations regarding health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy issues and remedies for the products and
services provided.

REE  AEERELEARLERREHMEZRINEEREE
EWERNER TR REMESICHBEESANSIR A
MR HELRERTENEEZ ES - BE - LARBEAEH
FAERE WRERIGERERRERNE M-

Anti-corruption e

Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China

Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China

(FhEE AR HMBERED
(PEARAEMBER FNEEHFE)

During the Year, there was no case of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering,
and the Group was not involved in any corruption cases.

rEE - FEREXRNEREBBAER -BR UFOAREAEY
AEBBEAFENERELARREZREE TR REIMNERE

-
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Performance Data Summary

Environmental Data '?

RIE-HERELSHRS

BEREBE
IRIBE

Resources consumption

Electricity (kWh)

Petrol (Litre)

Diesel (Litre)

Natural gas (m?3)

Total energy consumption (GJ)

Total energy intensity (GJ/thousand US$
revenue)

Tap water (Tonne)'®

Water consumption intensity (Tonne/thousand
US$ revenue)

Greenhouse gas emissions
Total emissions (tCOze)
Direct emission (scope 1) (tCO2e)

Indirect emission (scope 2) (tCO2¢)

Emission intensity (tCOze/thousand US$
revenue)

Exhaust gas pollutants
Nitrogen oxides (Tonne)
Sulphur oxides (Tonne)
PM (Tonne)'*

BiRHFE

BH(E/ TR

Aol (2 )

ol (2 )

RAR (LK)

BFOHFERE (THEE)

BEEREE (FIEE/
TETEXEER

B 2Rk (RHg) 1

RKEE (AWM FuE/ T

BERBEHEK
mEtmE (AM_atRE=R)
BEENR EE—)
(R | ERES)
BEm EE )
(REE_HERES)
HWEBE (AE_athEg
FIrLETE L)

BE SRR
a1y (ANE)
ety (R
B EE (Rmg)

ik The diesel consumption data for 2023 has been revised, and 12

the Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions, exhaust emissions and

intensity data related to diesel consumption have also been

adjusted accordingly.

= Due to the relocation of Vietnam NVC'’s factory in this Year, related ik

facilities and water use management have been optimised, and
water consumption has decreased compared to last year.

Since the PM of Vietnam NVC in this Year is recorded in units of
mg/Nm? in accordance with Vietnam’s environmental laws, the PM
of the Vietnam factory here is not included in the total statistics.
The PM emission data generated by the four monitoring points of
the Vietnam factory are: 29.80 mg/Nm?, 31.30 mg/Nmé?, 30.96 mg/
Nm?, 31.15 mg/Nmé.

14

28,133,499 27,576,733
39,515 41,869
9,989 10,078
102,898 100,972
0.4349 0.4279
121,493 197,340
0.5135 0.8363
15,227 15,865
131 138
15,096 15,727
0.0644 0.0666
0.2068 0.17083
0.0345 0.0008
0.3720 0.3123

2023F ERHIHFE BB E BT ) BEHH
HERMzEE —RERBEIN  ERIEK
BB EBBE I AR

FAEERABEE TRERBR 8RR HA
RAKEEBEIEL BRKEREFERD -

AEEUBEE T2 EERRUERIE AR
FHE Umg/Nm? 2 B8 (i 52 #% » ERIIE > Ith AR
LG ERMAAREFRT o Mm TR
@R BT EE N EESREHE D
% 1 29.80 mg/Nmé> 31.30 mg/Nm?> 30.96
mg/Nm?> 31.156 mg/Nm?e
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RIE-HERELRHRS

20234

|

Wastewater pollutants 5 EE K5 s
Chemical oxygen demand (Tonne) EEFaE (A8
Ammonia — Nitrogen (Tonne) = UN )]
Hazardous waste BEEEY
Total amount of hazardous waste generated BEBEEMRE (R
(Tonne)
Waste oil (Tonne) BE3h (A ME)
Sludge residuals (Tonne) FIER5E (AKE)
Packages for waste mineral oil (Tonne) EEEEY R EEE (AME)
Oily wastewater (Tonne) ZOMEEK (ARE)
Waste packaging drums (Tonne) B EIEERG (M)
Waste lamp tubes (Tonne) EEEE (A M)
Activated carbon (Tonne) JEMER (A NE)
Waste circuit boards (Tonne) EEEE BB B M (/M)
Others'® (Tonne) Hhe (A HE)
Non-hazardous waste —REEEY
Total amount of non-hazardous waste generated—fREF )48 & (A NE)
(Tonne)

Recycled waste (Tonne) ElWE (R 0E)
Non-recyclable waste (Tonne) a2 (A NE)
Consumption of packaging materials VEMEERS
Total amount of packaging materials (Tonne) BEMBESE (RN
Plastic bags (Tonne) ERS (AN
Colour boxes (Tonne) PN UNL)
Paper boxes (Tonne) A (AR
Labels (Tonne) 2E (20E)
Others (Tonne) Hh (R0E)

o Since the wastewater discharge from Vietnam NVC under

the Group in this Year is recorded in mg/l in accordance with
Vietnamese environmental laws, the wastewater discharge in
Vietnam is not included in the total statistics. The pollutant data
produced by the Vietnam factory are: COD 40mg/l and NH«* 0.15
mg/I.

i3 Oil-containing rags and empty waste bottles.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

0.08 0.08
5.66 13.22

- 0.01

0.06 0.50
2.57 0.05
1.05 1.06
0.42 2.59
1.08 9.00
0.49 0.01
1,261 1,020
845 542
416 478
22,797 22,5638
125 82
2,167 2,857
20,477 19,540
28 9

0 50

R E B B TV ES KB Y 12 BR
MBS AR IR E Umg/IA B AL A8 AL
R R M AR ERT o W
LR P E LSRR DR A (COD
40mg/IFANH4* 0.15 mg/l

2HEM R EEEMR



Employee Data

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE-HERELSHRS

Total number of employees
Gender distribution

Male

Female

Functional distribution
Management

Front-line

Age distribution

<30

30-50

> 50

Regional distribution
Mainland China

Hong Kong

Overseas

Employment type distribution
Full-time

Part-time

Contract type distribution
Long-term contract
Fixed-term contract
Educational distribution
Doctor’s degree

Master’s degree

Bachelor’s degree

College degree

Below college degree

Turnover - by age

Number of employees lost

<30

30-50

> 50

Quarterly average turnover rate
<30

30-50

> 50

WA
%553
B

Z%

B AE Y R
BEAS
FIESS
FheD M
<30

30-50

> 50
& 53
paul

G

NSDIN
BEEE DM
2

I
ERER DM
REEME
BEHER
BEDM
B+

[z lam

=7

KE
RKELF

MERBER-RER

mEANE
<30
30-50

> 50

FEFIYREE

<30
30-50
> 50

BT &
20234
2,163 1,967
791 734
1,372 1,233
408 288
1,755 1,679
361 310
1,473 1,451
329 206
1,603 1,632
0 0
560 435
2,163 1,967
588 478
1,575 1,489
16 17
250 224
290 268
1,607 1,458
295 323
538 535
44 58
20.43% 26.05%
9.13% 9.22%
3.34% 7.04%
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RIE-HERELGHRS

-:Eii 20234

Turnover - by region

MERBER-—FHE

Number of employees lost mEANE

Mainland China 73t 474 655
Hong Kong &54E 0 0
Overseas REBAN 403 261
Quarterly average turnover rate FETHREE

Mainland China piul 7.39% 10.69%
Hong Kong 58 - -
Overseas PN 17.99% 15.00%
Turnover - by gender TRER—RER

Number of employees lost MEAE

Male B 293 357
Female 7 584 559
Quarterly average turnover rate SEFYREKE

Male B 9.26% 12.16%
Female pec 10.64% 11.33%
New hire — by age MR AR R

Number of new employees EIINEYN

<30 <30 446 339
30-50 30-50 450 302
> 50 > 50 130 49
Quarterly average new hire rate FEFEMARE

<30 <30 30.89% 27.34%
30-50 30-50 7.64% 5.20%
> 50 > 50 9.88% 5.95%
New hire - by region WIBEER-HE

Number of new employees WARA#

Mainland China piul 357 355
Hong Kong 5% 0 0
Overseas PN 669 335
Quarterly average new hire rate ESEFHMARE

Mainland China [ANpil 5.57% 5.79%
Hong Kong 58 - =
Overseas B/Ih 29.87% 19.25%

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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RIE-HERELSHRS

New hire - by gender

Number of new employees
Male

Female

Quarterly average new hire rate
Male

Female

Training performance - by gender
Total number of employees trained
Male

Female

Percentage of employees trained
Male

Female

Total training hours

Male

Female

Average training hours

Male

Female

Training performance - by function
Total number of employees trained
Management

Front-line

Percentage of employees trained
Management

Front-line

Total training hours

Management

Front-line

Average training hours
Management

Front-line

Occupational safety and health training'”
Total training person-time
Total training hours

HBEIER R
AR AZ

St

g i
FETHOMARE
St

oy

BEINERIE TR — R R
ZBAH
Bk

o
ZiESL
St

g
3 4B B 25
St

oy

T 39 5 31 B 24
EE

2k

BRI 4E 501 R — $R R AE
Zel4EANE
BEAE

B 4%

ZBE S
BEAS

B 4%
ZH 4B B
BEAE

B 4%
T3 Z B
BEEAE
B4R

WER 2 HEREEINT
BINBAR
51148 B

Ut The data of occupational safety and health training covers data "7

of Zhejiang Jiangshan Base, Shanghai Qingpu Base, Guangdong
Zhuhai Base, Thailand Base and Vietnam NVC

355 295
671 395
11.22% 10.05%
12.23% 8.01%
509 646
921 979
64.35% 88.01%
67.13% 79.40%
15,627 7,260
18,242 12,402
30.70 11.24
19.81 12.67
190 139
1,240 1,486
46.57% 48.26%
70.66% 88.51%
8,517 1,578
25,352 18,084
44.83 11.35
20.45 12.17
4,671 3,618
18,012 9,785

BEZEREBIHEERENRTILURE
e LEFHEM ERHTEEM  REA
i e iR B T Y B
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Operational Data

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELGHRS

Unit
B 20235

Total number of suppliers
Regional distribution
Hong Kong

Mainland China

Other regions

Community engagement
Public welfare investment
Hours of voluntary work

Content Index

e B / EX
& 5

HHEME / =
R K / EX
Hthith & / ES
HESH

NE PN RMB10,000 &7t

ERTIERE Hour N

AER3I

Requirements of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and Governance

Aspect

Reporting Code

=T ERMXA(RE - HEREBBRSTAUIER

797 792
5 11
711 735
81 46

Section/Remark

B

Governance
Structure

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

(i) a disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage
material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s
businesses); and how the board reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of
how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

BEEGRHNEREEUTAR
(i) REEFTHRE HERELAFENEGE

(i) BEFRENRE - HEREREERS H KRR SFAINTME
BRERREREEARE - HEREREMERE (BEHET
AEBHRR) BRE  REFENAREBRE - HERER
HREEREEER URBHEEIT AEBHNRRGR

Board Statement
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BE
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IRIF LB RER

Requirements of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Code
EEAMRAM(RE - HEREARSTHUIER

WS

Section/Remark

B

Reporting Principles

RERA

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following
Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG report:

(@) Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process
to identify and the criteria for the selection of material ESG
factors; (i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a
description of significant stakeholders identified, and the
process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

(b) Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of
conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

(c) Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant
factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

HUTHERVEGFRRE HEREARSTTHNEBOML N

X

(@) S BB HEREAREERE (RN ERRR &
RERBRARNBEMEZRE (||)§D%ELTTHT§}%@L1’

HEZNRHERRRETAFHESANBRENGER

(b) Bt ERERNE SERER WER) IREHE R
B HEETRURMEANERARBRRNESR

(© —RETARTRE HEAREABRSPRER FE
HRARERIERNEE > EFEMTEE SR ERAER
HE-

Reporting Guideline and
Principle

Materiality: The content
and scope of this

Report are based on
communication with
investors and other
stakeholders, and
identification of the
materiality of ESG issues.
For further details, please
refer to the relevant
content.

Quantitative: This Report
has provided relevant
information on the scope,
assumptions and/or
calculation tools used to
cover the KPIs.

Consistency: Unless
otherwise explicitly stated,
the statistical methods
used to disclose data

in this Report remain
consistent.

HEEIIRRA

2 ARENANB K
BEENEKREERH
Rz AR 75 BB - L
FHESGEE B E MBI
Bl e RE—H T HEFIE
F2HERAE -

B AREEMNEERM
BEVIERATER 28
B RE Kk HAETLA
REAERER-

—E BRIFSHRER
BE AR R R MR PR
BB 7 EERE—
e

Reporting Boundary

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and
describing the process used to identify which entities or operations
are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the
issuer should explain the difference and reason for the change.
MRARE M EREARTHREE R LN POEMN L EEB
MARBE - HEREARSHNBERE SERDBEZ LS BITAR
FRIERR 2 R R EEFEEA o

Reporting Boundary

REEHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELGHRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMSE GRI3E1Z ESG#535| it =30
General
Disclosure
—MRiRE
The Organisation 2-1 - Organisational details Annual Report — Company
and Its Reporting ABBFARBNR Profile
Practices FR—RBNL
AR R HLIR S0
BRRH S A 2-2 - Entities included in the Organisation’s About the Report
sustainability reporting AR AR S
MAMBEPIREERRENER
2-3 - Reporting period, frequency and contact About the Report
point AR AR E
HREMREEEMBEA
2-4 - Restatements of information No restatement
EREI mEM
2-5 - External assurance No external assurance
INEREE T sought yet
morEREEeE
Activities and 2-6 B5.1+B5.2 Activities, value chain and other business Annual Report- Report of
Workers relationships Directors
BB TIEE JEEN S EE BN EMERERA FR-EFEFERS
Supply Chain
Management
HEEEEIE
2-7 B1.1 Employees Employee Composition
8T B T4
2-8 B1.1 Workers who are not employees Employee Composition

BT ZTIIRE

BT
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RIE-HERELSHRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators Description Section/Remark
BEMASE GRIER Eiz:an =30 §
Governance 2-9 Governance structure and composition Annual Report- Corporate
== BREEMAR Governance Report
— N =N H
2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest FR-CREARE
governance body
=B IA IR IR 4 B e
2-11 Chair of the highest governance body
REERMBINIE
2-12 Role of the highest governance body in Board Statement
overseeing the management of impacts EEgEH
HEEBREFE B aRBNEEF
H
2-13 Delegation of responsibility for managing Annual Report- Corporate
impacts Governance Report
RAREEBTENSERRE FR-PEEARS
2-14 Role of the highest governance body in Board Statement
sustainability reporting EETEH
EEEAMEENREERRETNIER
2-15 Conflicts of interest Annual Report- Corporate
M ERE Governance Report
FR-—PEERARE
2-16 Communication of critical concerns Materiality Assessment
EERMYIRI-ER R BEZHE
2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest Board Statement
governance body EEg8H
BEERKENERF#
2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the Annual Report- Corporate
highest governance body Governance Report —
HESEARBNENT S Remuneration Committee
. N FR-—PEEARS
2-19 Remuneration policies e e
™~ o _%ﬁmﬂéﬁ =
M ECER
2-20 Process to determine remuneration
B #rEf 9F2 =0
2-21 Annual total remuneration ratio

FEBHMLEE
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RIE-HERELGHRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMSE GRI3E1Z ESG#55I et =R
Strategy, Policies|2-22 - Statement on sustainable development Sustainability
and Practices strategy Management
BBE IR B RN A EE EEHENER OFBEREE
2-23 - Policy commitments Sustainability
R AR Management,
Environmental Protection,
Cherishing Talents,
Excellence in Operations,
Responsibility to
Customers
OFBEREE
IRIBRE-BHEAL
FHEE - BEREMR
2-24 S Embedding policy commitments Cherishing Talents
A BUR R BERAT
2-25 - Processes to remediate negative impacts Customer Complaint
wHaEmrENRER Handling
BRKFRIE
2-26 - Mechanisms for seeking advice and No major violations
raising concerns mBEBAEREN
FREZAMNE LTI AIHEH
2-27 - Compliance with laws and regulations Sustainability
BPAEEAR Management
SELERET
2-28 - Membership associations IRARREEE
HENREE
Stakeholder 2-29 - Approach to stakeholder engagement Materiality Assessment
Engagement MmAERAE2HRNE & BEZ AN
7 28 . - .
a2 2-30 = Collective bargaining agreements Not applicable for the

ERBHME

places of operation, and
abide by relevant laws
and regulations
EEE AN ER
ETEBDERER
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RIE-HERELGRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMSE GRI5#Z ESG#535| Ei:pan =6 fE
Material Topics
LEGE
Waste, Exhaust 305-1 A1l Information on: Environmental Protection
and Wastewater 306 (a) the policies; and RIB(RE
Management 307-1 (b) compliance with relevant laws and
EEEY) s EEEEM regulations that have a significant
BEKE IR impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
BRBERAAERBEIR - MK R T #B
B - BEERBEEEEYNEESN !
(@) BE;, &
(o) EBTITHEBETABERTENER
EERRRANER
305-1 A1 The types of emissions and respective Emission Control,
305-2 emissions data Performance Data
305-3 BER) TR 48 AR B BE I B Summary
305-6 Pz BIERBEHE
305-7
305-1 A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect Tackling Climate Change,
305-2 (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in Performance Data
305-4 tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Summary
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per RS RmIREME - URRIR
facility) BmE
BERBESRE LLAMTE) &k (W#E
B ZE NSESE M §ERETE)
306-3 A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in Emission Control,
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Performance Data
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per Summary
facility) BEpuEh - MiERREHE
FRESXESBREMEE UAMESE) &
(WER ZE MUSES8 A -§1ER
st &)
306-3 Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in Emission Control,
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Performance Data
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per Summary
facility) BEmUES  BIERREE
FTEAREEEMEE UAMEHE) &
WER) ZE USESEN 818X
st &)
305-5 A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and Environmental Protection
steps taken to achieve them RIGRE
HMUR BN E NIRRT SRR
306-4 A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- Emission Control
306-5 hazardous wastes are handled, and a BERE

description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them
HRERERBEEEYNGE RIE
EXENEHEKRFEMSR
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RIE-HERELGHRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMSE GRI5#Z ESG#535| it =30
Energy 302 A2 Policies on the efficient use of resources, Environmental Protection
Management including energy, water and other raw IBIE{RE
FEREIE materials
BRERER (BFER  KREMEM
K N
302-1 A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption Tackling Climate Change,
302-3 by type (e.g. electricity, gas or ail) in total Performance Data
(kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit Summary
of production volume, per facility) RS mIREME -~ SRR
BB SNEE R HEEER @ wmE
Brmivh @FEE U TETRENE) &
BE WMUSESEE( SEREFE)
303-5 A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Water Consumption,
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per Performance Data
facility) Summary
BEKEREE MUSES8 0 -SER KERFER  BIERIRHE
st &) 2
302-4 A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency Environmental Protection
302-5 target(s) set and steps taken to achieve RIGRE
them
i SETRE A M A 5 B R TS LR
303-1 A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue Water Consumption
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, KEIRFER
water efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them
22t SK B AR KOR Bl BRI R RE » MU
A BKM TS B RFTERR
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Consumption of

products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,
with reference to per unit produced

S P AEEMENEE WU AMEEE)
R nER SEEBUGLE

Packaging Materials
BEMEHFER
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RIE-HERELSHRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMSE GRI3E1Z ESG#55I Ei:pan =30 §
Supply Chain - B5 Policies on managing environmental and Supply Chain
Management social risks of the supply chain Management
HEHEEIE BIRHAERNIRIE R T RBER HEEEE
- B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical Supply Chain
region Management,
e B oM EEEHE Performance Data
Summary
HEREIE SR RIEHE
g
303-1 B5.2 Description of practices relating Supply Chain
308-1 to engaging suppliers, number of Management
308-2 suppliers where the practices are HEESE
414-1 being implemented, and how they are
414-2 implemented and monitored
il A RS A MBS mERITE
RMBBIR RS E s U B RREANH
TRERF*
303-1 B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain
308-1 environmental and social risks along Management
308-2 the supply chain, and how they are HEESE
414-1 implemented and monitored
414-2 307 A AR Rl (R SR S E IR BN VIR IR Fe tt
EREIER  URAERNITRERGE
306 B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain
308 environmentally preferable products and Management
services when selecting suppliers, and HEHE SR
how they are implemented and monitored
M T REHEENEFL AIRRE DR
ARFEEVIE G > U ABRAIT R EE R 75 0%
Customer 416-2 B6 Information on: Responsibility to
Satisfaction 417-2 (@) the policies; and Customers
BERAmEE 417-3 (b) compliance with relevant laws and ZEREME
418-1 regulations that have a significant
419-1 impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and
methods of redress
BRPMIRHERMRBNEERAZS E
E-BREAEEEUARBHAEN
(a) B ; &
(b) BIHEBETABEACENIERM
FERRRANER
418-1 B6.2 Number of products and service-related Customer Complaint
complaints received and how they are Handling
dealt with BRI EE
BERNERRIRBNRFE B UK EY
WAz
404-1 B6.5 Description of consumer data protection Customer Privacy
418 and privacy policies, and how they are Protection
implemented and monitored ERRETARE

FEAH B B B RHRIE R FARR IR » LU
AT RERT A
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IRIE LB RER

WS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMSE GRI3E1Z ESG#55I et =R
Product and 416-2 B6 Information on: Product Responsibility
Service Quality 417-2 (a) the policies; and EREE
Management 417-3 (b) compliance with relevant laws and
Emk 418-1 regulations that have a significant
REEEE 419-1 impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and
methods of redress
BREMREHESMRBNERRAZE &
E-RERIEETEURBRAEN !
(@) BE &
(b) ETFHBITABEAZENERE
ERRRANER
- B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or Product Recall Procedure
shipped subject to recalls for safety and Ei&ma Ll
health reasons
EENEEXERBHTRAL L EEEIE
HmARKNE 2
418-1 B6.2 Number of products and service-related Customer Complaint
complaints received and how they are Mechanism
dealt with SR E T |
BERNE R RIRB R FE B UK ES
WAl
- B6.3 Description of practices relating to Intellectual Property
observing and protecting intellectual Rights Protection
property rights HHERERRE
ot B AR SR R IR PE R B A RE B R AVIB B
- B6.4 Description of quality assurance process Product Recall Procedure
and recall procedures e mA Ll
i E ST BRE R EREIWRER
418 B6.5 Description of consumer data protection Customer Privacy
and privacy policies, and how they are Protection
implemented and monitored RRERE
HIUH B E B RHRE R AARER » U8
RARITRER G %
Research and - B6.3 Description of practices relating to Intellectual Property

Development,
and Intellectual
Property Rights
Bff 82 R A 38 E 4

observing and protecting intellectual
property rights
b B A B e AR PR R 3B EE RE R RE RV IB A ©

Rights Protection
N E R E

Economic Benefits
BB

Sustainability
Management
ARFEEREE

168 NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Environmental,

Social and Governance Report

RIE-HERELSHRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide  Description Section/Remark
BEMASE GRIE1E ESG#55I Eiz:an =30 §
Other Topics
H{th:E 8
Environmental
B
The Environment S A3 Policies on minimising the issuer’s Ecological Environment
and Natural significant impacts on the environment Conservation
Resources and natural resources SCRIRIG(RE
IRIERRAEIR BRETAHBRRERRAERERNERT
ERIHR
303-1 A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of
304-2 activities on the environment and natural
306-2 resources and the actions taken to
manage them
HAEBESHIRERRABERNEARE
EREENEEARTENTH
Climate Change - A4 Policies on identification and mitigation Tackling Climate Change
RIEE1E of significant climate-related issues which FEH RIZEE
have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer
A REHERROIETHETAELER
ENEARBGEBASENBER
- Ad.1 Description of the significant climate-

related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and
the actions taken to manage them
B RPIEEHBETAELERENSE
ARBZEBAEE REHITEH
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELGHRS

Materiality
BEMAE

GRI
Indicators
GRI5#Z

ESG Guide
ESG155|

Description
et

Section/Remark

=): 0 f i

Social
e

Employment

fE1®

B1

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare

BRAFH N R E B RS TR
R TERE Lo RIBEFRUREAA
FBREMNN

(@) BE;, &

(o) BIHEBETABEATENERE

ER R

Cherishing Talents
BRAS

Total workforce by gender, employment
type (for example, full- or part-time), age
group and geographical region

B BESE EBEFRE) £t
4871 B3t & B 3 BV B B AR

B1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age
group and geographical region
MR FE AR KRR B DI EE R K

b

Employee Composition

BTN

Occupational
Health and Safety
BERERZSR

403
419

B2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working

environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards

ERRHZ2IFRERREREHER

EMBEEN:

(@) BE &

(b) BIHEBETABEAENIER
FERRRANER

Health and Safety
REEZE

4083-9
403-10

B2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities

ETFRAGEMETHABIREEE

Health and Safety
REHEZE

B2.2

Lost days due to work injury

EATIHERIFEEHR

Health and Safety
REEZE

403-1
403-3
4083-5
403-7

B2.3

Description of occupational health and
safety measures adopted, and how they
are implemented and monitored

M PTER AN AV BB 2E (2 RR B 22 2 48 T > DA%
MHERITHERSG %

Health and Safety
REEZE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELGRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMASE GRI3E1Z ESG#55I Eiz:an =30 §
Employee Training 404-2 B3 Policies on improving employees’ Development and Training
and Promotion knowledge and skills for discharging BERREI
BTEIEE duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BRREAREBITIIFBENN M RELE
RIS 26 o HE M 15 5/ E B
- B3.1 The percentage of employees trained Development and
by gender and employee category (e.g. Training, Performance
senior management, middle management) Data Summary
RENREEEN EREEBE -FRE | BRAIEI BBERRE
BEZ AoNZIREB DL 2
404-1 B3.2 The average training hours completed Development and
per employee by gender and employee Training, Performance
category Data Summary
RUNREEENS D BHREETME BRI BIERIRE
Bl T B B e
Labour Standards 408 B4 Information on: Protection of Employees’
% T #H| 409 (a) the policies; and Rights and Interests
419-1 (b) compliance with relevant laws and RESTH#HR
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced
labour
BRAR L& T esamlss ThY
(a) BE; &
(b) EBTITHEBETABERTENER
FERRFRANER
408-1 B4.1 Description of measures to review Protection of Employees’
409-1 employment practices to avoid child and Rights and Interests
forced labour REST#=
ST RIS 1B ARV B TE LUB S B8 T A58
g T
408-1 B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate Protection of Employees’
409-1 such practices when discovered Rights and Interests

R HIRERBREH A RIS RATR
By BR

RIEEETH#x

BLERERBRAE 202453,

171



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELGHRS

GRI
Materiality Indicators ESG Guide Description Section/Remark
BEMAE GRI3E1Z ESG#55I et =R
Anti-corruption 205-2 B7 Information on: Anti-corruption
REE (a) the policies; and REE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering
BRAM LERERE ~ Bh R~ BREF A B ERA0 ¢
(a) B &
(b) EBTITHEBETABEATENERE
FERRRANER
205-3 B7.1 Confirmed incidents of corruption and Anti-corruption
actions taken RERE
ERENEE S RENNITE
205-3 B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Anti-corruption
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they RERE
are implemented and monitored
PR EE A K R RAZ T 0 LUK ABRA AT
BRAE
- B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training Anti-corruption
provided to directors and staff REB
HhmEFEKETRENREFIEI
Local Community 413 B8 Policies on community engagement to Community Engagement
=Rk understand the needs of the communities HE2H
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests
BERUHe2ERTREEMEIHERE
MEREER T EEBH BN ANEER
203-1 B8.1 Focus areas of contribution Community Engagement
EIEREE HE2HE
201-1 B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Community Engagement,
EHIHBEFABAER Performance Data
Summary
He2E -HEXRREE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NVC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NVC
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 180 to 304,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (the “IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

ENVR PR Gl

=2

RETERIZERERABRKRR
(REEHSFMUETLEIBERAE)

ER

KIZEEN (LTI M) EEsT5 &
MNEI80BE4EELTHEEERERAE
(TMERE) REWB AR HBIEEE))
WiRETERE > BFER2024F 12831
HHNGEUERRERBEZBLEEFED
GEERRUNGEERREMZE WA
R EORGEEHRMGERERER U
FiEEMHHRERWNT BFEEARNTTHER
BN R EMEREAEER -

HMRL EEEETFRREEHRES
FEANZES (HREHENEZEST)) B
HNERTEREEN G ENEERTF
MY SEEMR2024F12831HMER
EUBERAEBEEZAELEENGEME
XEMHEGEERERE2  TERBEEAR
BB EREZESRE -

ERIER

HPEREBEEKRESER (HREE
Al ETES - HMEXFTER T REN
SEEEREEARS MU BEBA GRS HTR
REAENET BOPFE-—D B - RIE
RS MEEREZEERMHZERE
FestimaRTR (BEERBIMERE)
(THERGSMEREEZEE TR » &
MBI ESEE > TERBTERS A
BREREZEGTRTNEMEXEERS
EeoHFIEE RAMESHESRESE

ERBEMDEFANBARRIBEHER-
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Independent Auditor’s Report
iRV 2 G

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

MEEEE

FEEFE

HRBSHEZESRBRFAOEEHE R
HUARGMHERRNBARASEEN
FR-BEFHEEAERMABABRERSY
BREAKHARRKHETREN KM
CHELERREHEBIER-

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB N ARERARESER

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate, Brilliant
Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd. (“BLIHP”)

FE—5 B & 2\ E]Brilliant Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd.
TBLIHP 1) B9 # 7 8 (8 57 1%

We identified the impairment assessment of interest in
an associate, BLIHP, as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the total assets of the
consolidated financial statements, and significant judgment
and estimates are involved in determining the recoverable
amount of interest in BLIHP.

RPN BEABBLIHPH# D AN GEE AR ESE
B RHENGRENGEMBRREEENEZN  BREER
BLIHPRY# &1 2 B] YR [0l < ZB B 4 Ko B8 K I B K {51 o

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interest in BLIHP
with carrying amount of approximately US$112,715,000
which represented 24% of the net assets of the Group. As
disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements,
BLIHP is engaged in investment holding, manufacture and
sales of lamps, luminaries, lamp transformers, lighting
electronic products and other appliances. Due to the
deteriorated financial performance of BLIHP, the Group’s
management conducted an impairment assessment of the
interest in BLIHP by comparing the recoverable amount of the
interest in BLIHP which were estimated based on value in use
calculation with the carrying amount.

1R2024F12831H> BEENBLHPEE#H  REENA
112,716FFm 18 BEEBFEEMN24% - FHU RS MR
KM EI24FTR 5 > BLIHPRE B EIER U R RIS RIHESCR
TR -EBRERR RAETFERKEMES - ANBLIHPH
MBEERIL BE£EEEEERBILENBLIHPERAPII
El&% (REEAEAFTEME) BREDEHNBLHPHE R
EITRET L o
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
interest in BLIHP included:

FMABRNBLIHPH #E iR BTN E 7 E4F
o Understanding and evaluating the key control over the

management’s impairment assessment process of its
interest in BLIHP;

J TR HEEBHENBLIHPH R R E T G iBE
FRPTETTHI EEEH

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified professional
valuer and obtaining an understanding of its scope of
work and terms of engagement;

. MBI A EREELEMNBEERE N -FXEENRK
B U THRETFEEREBGRR



Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

MRBESEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
EARVR 2 GIES

EESFE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRANBEANAREMRESER

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate, Brilliant
Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd. (“BLIHP”) (continued)
FE—5 B & 2\ E]Brilliant Lights International Holding Pte. Ltd.
TBLIHP.) By #E s i@ 1E 571 (#E

The Group’s management engaged an independent
qualified professional valuer to assist them to determine the
recoverable amount of interest in BLIHP, based on the past
performance of BLIHP and the expectations from the Group’s
management for the market development estimate. The value
in use calculation is based on the investor’s share of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by BLIHP, based on certain key assumptions
and inputs, namely sales growth rates, gross margin, long-
term growth rates and discount rate, used to estimate future
cash flows.
EEENEEEZEBYUCEREXGAEMBMRERE
BLIHPHBARRU R BEEEEEEBHTHERMGTNE
HEEMRBLHPZ RN e E st HERAEEENRKRE
ER(GTREBLIHPR EE MR KRR RENRME  MEML
EISERETHARERREE A MG REREREMAN
HEG R EF X - R RERITRE-

Based on the value in use of the interest in BLIHP, impairment
loss of US$26,562,000 was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2024.

ERBLIHPHEH MR EE  BIE2024F12831HLEE
MR R E R 1826,562F =T ©

. Challenging the reasonableness of the key
assumptions and inputs, namely sales growth rates
and gross margin, based on the historical financial
performance of BLIHP and the industry trend; and

. IREBLIHPRE L M B RIFRTEBY > BHRMRBRS
FE@A BIEERREIRENEX) NEEN &

° Engaging our internal valuation expert to evaluate
the appropriateness of the valuation technique, i.e.
discounted cash flows method, and the reasonability
of the long-term growth rate and of discount rate used
in the value in use calculation.

. ZRAEMNAEEEERTEAEEHAEERERN
HERZE BMITRRESRER) WEERERIEESR
RITRENSIEM o
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

ENVR PR Gl
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Ka |.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

ﬁA [ = 8 YA
FEEER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE
2024 2023
2024 20234
NOTES US$’000 US$’000
Wizt FET FET
Revenue A 5 236,603 235,978
Cost of sales HEBA (161,952) (168,660)
GROSS PROFIT EF 74,651 67,318
Other income Ha A 7 6,699 6,605
Other gains and losses HB &= 8 (850) 2,253
Selling and distribution expenses  $H%E K74 & (30,843) (34,851)
Administrative expenses BIEEA (33,939) (36,572)
(Impairment losses recognised) MPRBE AR (RN 24
reversal of impairment losses in BAEER) FEIBKR A
respect of interests in associates (26,562) 24,229
Reversal of impairment losses TBRAEEELERT 9
under expected credit loss AEB K
model 766 350
Other expenses HMER 10 (7,398) (5,184)
Finance costs B ER 11 (709) (875)
Share of results of associates (B AT A 5,878 17,163
(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX Wa (F518) #)H8 (12,307) 40,436
Income tax expense FriSiR&E R 12 (3,048) (2,786)
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 54 (£518) %78 13 (15,355) 37,650
(Loss) profit for the year attributable ZxA Sl A A fE{L A< E
to owners of the Company (B518) 78 (17,450) 35,713
Profit for the year attributable to JELEHI 1 AR FEFE
non-controlling interests 2,095 1,937
(15,355) 37,650
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE &8 (8518) &l
Basic (US$ cents) A (E) 17 (3.44) 7.79
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

ZeiETEkEMERIRAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z 2024412531 HIFEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FET TEx
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4 (F518) #8 (15,355) 37,650
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hth2EWBA (BR)
(EXPENSE)
Items that will not be reclassified to FTEEMSEERmZNER
profit or loss:
— Fair value gain (loss) on investments in —EBAnBEFAHMZEIA
equity instruments at fair value through (MEraEESTAREMEER
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), 7\J) HEETAELEAREE
net of related income tax @ (B518) > MBRABREFT1E R 430 (160)
Items that may be reclassified HEBMHDEZTEmZHNESR .
subsequently to profit or 10ss:
- Exchange differences arising on —MBEENEFEEN
translation of foreign operations PE 7 &= &8 (5,575) (12,647)
— Share of other comprehensive expense —EhEBEASEMEEER
of associates, net of related income tax B ABRAFTSIR (2,109) (2,080)
(7,684) (14,727)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE sEHMEmER
FOR THE YEAR (7,254) (14,887)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE) rEE2HE (BERA) WAEE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (22,609) 22,763
Total comprehensive (expense) income UTFEHELHN2E (BH)
attributable to: WA&S:
- Owners of the Company i WNEIEZ Z= N (25,138) 20,334
- Non-controlling interests —FEEGIE S 2,529 2,429
(22,609) 22,763
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBINRR
At 31 December 2024
FR20244F 12531 H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
2024 20234
12831H 12H31H
NOTES US$’000 US$’000
HizE FErx FE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BERFZE 18 62,678 50,195
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 21,938 24,627
Investment properties KEYE 20 1,438 1,540
Goodwill mE 21 29,406 29,845
Other intangible assets HihErEE 22 37,217 42,481
Interests in associates REEABZ#ER 24 114,523 156,478
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BAREBESTAREMEE 25
WAWERTE 2,349 1,919
Deferred tax assets IRIERIBE E 34 1,485 1,518
Deposits RBE 27 41,148 41,993
312,182 350,596
CURRENT ASSETS RMEE
Inventories 78 28 40,361 45,236
Trade and bills receivables B REEERERR 26 49,535 49,464
Other receivables, deposits and HEWERR  RBE RFENR 27
prepayments 10,671 13,437
Tax recoverable BRIE 12 =
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREBEFAEGNEHEE 29 54,731 3,939
Fixed deposits with maturity of MARBE=EENERER 30
more than three months - 21,158
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEY 30 93,928 108,273
249,238 241,507
CURRENT LIABILITIES B 1
Trade payables B 5 ETERR 31 40,854 39,445
Other payables and accruals HEN R TEIR & A 32 32,498 29,501
Contract liabilities aREAaRE 33 2,184 5,516
Borrowings EE 35 2,603 1,699
Deferred income R W 36 140 142
Lease liabilities HEaE 37 1,436 1,793
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAnBEst \BaNEmAas 29 334 -
Tax liabilities mHEaE 2,492 1,082
82,541 79,178
NET CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 166,697 162,329
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EE N RHER
LIABILITIES 478,879 512,925

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBINRR
At 31 December 2024
F2024412531H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred income

Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
12831H 12H831H
NOTES US$’000 US$’000
Kzt FE=n FE
JEREAEE
IEIE YR & 36 218 221
HEaE 37 2,134 3,438
IEIERIBAE 34 6,456 6,665
BAAEBESABGZNSHMEE 29 2,141 —
10,949 10,324
BFEE 467,930 502,601
BXKk#E
B A< 38 1 1
B 456,497 483,770
EATEBE NEEER
456,498 483,771
JERERI M 11,432 18,830
RS 467,930 502,601

The consolidated financial statements on pages 180 to 304 were HEH N FE180EIM4BZ M HFREEN
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March ~ 2025F 3828 H &K EE L /E LI ET) 3>

2025 and are signed on its behalf by: WHTIERAREE !
WANG DONGLEI CHAN KIM YUNG, EVA
ELE BREIEA
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
Ex EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

Notes:

(i)

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and relevant PRC laws and regulations, these subsidiaries
are required to transfer at least 10% of their profit after taxation,
which is determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules
and regulations, to a statutory reserve fund (including the general
reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund, where appropriate).
Transfer to this statutory reserve fund is subject to the approval
of the respective board of directors, and is discretionary when the
balance of such fund has reached 50% of the registered capital of
the respective company. Statutory reserve fund can only be used to
offset accumulated losses or to increase capital.

On 7 March 2024, the Company acquired additional 40% interest
in an non-wholly owned subsidiary from the non-controlling
shareholders for a cash consideration of US$582,000 (equivalent
to SEKB,000,000) plus a contingent consideration payable of
US$1,139,000 which is recorded as financial liabilities at fair value
though profit or loss at the date of acquisition. The difference
between the consideration and the carrying amount of the net
liabilities attributable to the additional interest in the non-wholly
owned subsidiary acquired from the non-controlling shareholders of
US$2,135,000 was recorded in “other reserve”. Upon completion
of this acquisition, the non-wholly owned subsidiary became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

Mitat -

(i)

BBEPEAREME (TPE) RILBE
AENBRBRNABERUKRER R EZE
BAER ZESNBRAALAREREREH
S EBEREERERHNEL10%
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IR EME A -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ERHEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FET TEx
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE)
(Loss) profit before tax A (5518) )78 (12,307) 40,436
Adjustments for: MUTEBEHAEE !
Interest income ] E WA (2,819) (1,432)
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of FIFEERENANBEED
held-for-trading investments (=) B518 (792) 668
Loss on fair value changes of contingent ENHELEN AN BEEE
consideration payable 518 1,193 s
Loss on disposal of property, BEEYME -BERZEEEN
plant and equipment 518 686 385
Impairment losses recognised (reversal of MRBE AR NERERN
impairment losses) in respect of interests BEB K CRERL )
in associates 26,562 (24,229)
Reversal of impairment losses on trade B 5 R R B B 18 D
receivables (1,022) (94)
Impairment losses (reversal of H W AR R BB L (RlE
impairment losses) on other receivables, BRHEH) o R
net of reversal 256 (256)
Finance costs HMHBER 709 875
Share of results of associates B E AT EEA (5,878) (17,163)
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hithmp & EE# 4,895 6,457
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BERKZEITE
equipment 5,505 5,675
Depreciation of investment properties KREMEINE 79 237
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEITE 2,372 2,706
Write-down of inventories WomEa 1,552 1,340

BLERERBRAE 202453,
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A EBE
FARERE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease in inventories

Decrease (increase) in trade and bills
receivables

Decrease (increase) in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Increase in trade and bills payables

(Decrease) increase in other payables and
accruals

(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividend received from associates

Placement of fixed deposits with maturity
more than three months

Withdrawal of fixed deposits with maturity
more than three months

Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits

Interest received

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL

Realisation of derivative financial liabilities
Additions to other intangible assets

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

EEESTEHANKEERERE

2 5L
B 5 R R AR (40

Hth FE W R~ (REE = R FAI R
A ()

ERZN-ESE ENE /Sl

HMEN R ERE R
GRiL) #Bn

aR&® (fd) 18

REELENRE
[SF S Tin

REETHAMSHREFR

REEH
WEZRBEBERABNRE
FERRBBR=-EANEREMN

PREPREBB=EANTEHRER

HABIFNRITER

S &S

BEME BEKRHE

BREYE BERRBNAF/NREA

BERARBEF AETEN
TREE

TEEREeREgR

NEHEHMBVEE

REED FA) MSREFE
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2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FErx FE
20,991 15,605
2,700 16,725
216 (4,298)
2,338 (1,561)
2,009 7,227
(4,961) 5,144
(3,284) 8
20,009 38,850
(1,699) (3,755)
18,310 35,095
16,982 =
= (21,239)
21,057 =
- 52,875

2,819 1,432
(20,222) (3,645)
429 525
(50,000) =
= (1,405)

(500) (3,337)
(29,435) 25,206




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ERHEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BLE20244F 12531 H IFF Z

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEEE

Issue of shares ?’*ﬁﬁﬁfﬁ - 8,945
Proceeds of bank loans RITERFSRIE 29,713 179
Repayment of bank loans TE BIRTTER (28,775) (37,610)
Advance from an associate Hﬁ’ﬁ % NEBHR 8,426 =
Lease payments B (1,655) (1,563)
Interest paid Eﬁ FE (709) (875)

Acquisition of additional interest of WHEIEZENB TN
a non-wholly owned subsidiary FRIMNE T (582) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests EIEEHIME DRI R E (10,341) -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES R4 EZEFrAIREEEE (3,923) (30,924)

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND IR&£RIR£%EY GRL) 1hm

CASH EQUIVALENTS FEE (15,048) 29,377
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FVRERREEEY

AT THE BEGINNING OF YEAR 108,273 85,057
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ~ BEXEEhF 2548 703 (6,161)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRRAERREEEBY

AT THE END OF YEAR, IBIRTTAEGR RIRE

represented by bank balances and cash 93,928 108,273

ErERERARAT o4 189
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG B ERRME

7 o = |
For the

year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H1F F/Z

GENERAL INFORMATION

NVC International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated in the territory of the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI") as a limited liability company on 2 March 2006
and was redomiciled to the Cayman Islands on 30 March 2010 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Its substantial
shareholder is Elec-Tech International Co. Ltd., with its shares
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
corporate information section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are the manufacture and
sale of lamps, luminaries, lighting electronic products and related
products. Information on the Group’s subsidiaries is set out in
Note 40.

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollars
(“US$”), and the consolidated financial statements are presented
in US$ and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (“IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS”)

Amendments to IFRSs Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to IFRSs Accounting Standards issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first

time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual

period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

The application of the amendments to IFRSs Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H1F F/ZF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H1F F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (“IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS

Accounting Standards

Amendments to IAS 21

IFRS 18

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Eletricity®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards
— Volume 118

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (“IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS?”) (continueq)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and
IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
and IAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

RE M ERRMEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

194

B F20244F 12531 HIFFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HGAUBHRRINGREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BEAGHHREN

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 31 FEHMBHRRNENESR
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been EEMBHRRODIEBERKEZ
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards STHEBEZE o EMmINERR
issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of AR e ERE R o 7t
the consolidated financial statements, information is GRS BERERMsS  MWAE
considered material if such information is reasonably HERNSEEAsEETE
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. BERELERNRE  BIBREAER
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include WRABEKRK I FEHTFE
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing KRN BEETABEXZFA
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong ERATZHS EmiRE (MTE
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong HmERE ) REERNEIEG IR
Companies Ordinance. ENERIFRESEE
The directors of the Company have, at the time of KNBEETMESESHHE
approving the consolidated financial statements, a HREFESEBHAERRR
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate M BRITUTERN KK &
resources to continue in operational existence for the ERE AL WEERHENEG
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going EUMHRRREEERXBIFE
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated K a =t B % o
financial statements.

3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2 EAXEIHESHE
Basis of consolidation IREBE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

REMBBRREELRAT R
HFiERBERRAEREB R
ZHMBHRER - BERATTEU
TEER RIS ES
#

. has power over the investee; o AHKEEHRITHERE
73
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from o Z2ELEHRER

its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ir e M IRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
group of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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B F2024F 12531 HIFFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEHBHRRNEREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BAGHBEER (&)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXRGHEBEKEN &)

(continued)
Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

HHER

BELADRETEENHEHER
EAFENNER - EATE
NBB2HRBREDTNHMH R
EEBURAVRRBVES] M
TEMES W HEFZEH B H
BER o

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are MENTNEEHREERE
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements BERAEZ T EEHTA
using the equity method of accounting. The financial ZEGEMEIHmREK o BIELLRE

statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an interest in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the interest in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating
to revenue from contracts with customers are disclosed in
Note 5.
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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B F2024F 12531 HIFFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEHBHRRNEREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BAGHBEER (&)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXRGHEBEKEN &)

(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #&H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FAT

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information 3.2
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental The tax currently payable is
based on borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives

receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item

on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. US$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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B F2024F 12531 HIFFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEHBHRRNEREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BEARGHHEER 2)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2 EFAEGHAHBKREN (&

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEHBHRRNEREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BAGHBEER (&)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2 EFAEGHAHBKREN (&

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than buildings under construction as described
below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management, including costs
of testing whether the related assets is functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HOUBRRNGREER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EREHBREN (@)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXRGHEBEKEN &)
(continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right- #Z,% . ﬂﬁE/} f‘"ua /ﬁ e [f/‘-ﬁ }E
of-use assets and intangible assets other than E E}E ,E.f 3 ﬁ E ( ﬁ ié?/fﬁiﬁ)
goodwill E
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the RBERAKR ZREBRRTY

carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

X BEARRB EREEE
REEREBFHNELE
EZREE UBERFEE
ESHBFBEGETR - HF
EERAERBER B & 548
MEEZAIWEIEEE  UEE
HEBREE (HA) - AER
AERFHNETLEEED
BERRESRBTHETAE

B ERFETRE R -
The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, ME-BEREE - TRRESE
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated ENETLEENWOE S EE

individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (continueq)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

SMBHRRNGREER
EXEHBEREN (@)

3.2 EXEHHEEHM B

NE -BERRE EHE
BEREREE (BERIN
HE (&)

BJEEBwA AR EERL
ENARAFEREEZRSE -
R EERBER » (A5 RE
ReREHERBRKRATITREE
(RBRTH 15 3R B W & 1K &
BEZFERRBREMES R
RREREZEE (NFELE
FEM)ZEERAR FTRER
B

HEE(RREEEXENMN 27
Wl &rEEst R EREE
ZEE (RIREEE BN
ZEREESHAZHETKE
BE-MAERGER—BE
ENREERSELEBEMUMNA
BEERBORABDEEMS >
NEBB—4HEHBEEEEEN
MEEEE (BFEPEEZHAR
SELEBEMUMNATEELD
DATEEMREE) Dzi8
IE@EE%TTLB’\JEMQEE%E
ETEE - DEBAEBER
BEBREELDEE R DA
AEE (WMBER) 2KkEE R
BERZBANRIREELERE
MNAEANRNSEEEZIRBE
BUEOSEEEMEE-BE
ZEREEAFAEHAZEERE
NABEREERA (W00t
2) Eﬁﬂ%ﬁ’i{é(ﬂﬂﬂ}’ﬁ—é/@)
RE=ZEHZR DEEE
Ezmﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬁﬁ
IR ESXEMMEAN ZHM
%f%tt%ﬁ@ﬂw})ﬁmﬁﬁﬂéﬁﬂﬂ%
RiEm R

BLERERBRAE 202453,

209



210

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7 o = |

kR M ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (continueq)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIFFEE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEHBHRRNEREER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BAGHBEER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #&H
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FAT

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information 3.2
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

kS
7

il
Ao

3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(i

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset.

Debt instruments/receivables classified as at
FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments/receivables classified as at
FVTOCI as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying
amount of these debt instruments/receivables are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of investment
valuation reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income
without reducing the carrying amounts of these
debt instruments/receivables. When these debt
instruments/receivables are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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ir e M IRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment valuation reserve;
and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and is transferred to retained profits.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. The Group
always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, for
other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBRRNERNEBEER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BAETBREER @)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXRGHHBEKEN (#B)

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-
current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument
is more than 12 months and it is not due to be realised or
settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented
as current assets or current liabilities.
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ARG B ERRME

7 o = |
For the

year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H1F F/Z

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

AR EMZEERIE

PREE M sE3PT Ml A S B 2 & 5T BER
B> A AT EFAMEXNREEM
hEENzEERGRKREEFD
F B 14 5t KRR - B B 5t R AE RS
BRDLDENBEECBREMKERS
HEZEARFL -BRERITE A
R fhste

FEBERFBRAXSMHAKRIAHE
B Gethst 2 BT WERZEFD
5] 2 BAfE > B Z BRI FERD 5 A
EFTINE EE R R AR RIFHE
51 HA M Be oK SR A ] B 5T o

1G5t FHREEMZ T EFKIF

DUF B P 8& R B Bk 2k 2 B i
BRRESTEEEZEMEER
B RERRAEFEENH TEM
FrEERBRAZREABMFLEEKX
AEZEREAR-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had goodwill of
approximately US$29,406,000 (2023: US$29,845,000) which
was arise from acquisitions of businesses. The Group’s
management conducted impairment assessments of the goodwill
by comparing the recoverable amounts of the cash generating
units (the “CGUs”) with respective carrying amounts and engaged
an independent qualified professional valuer to assist them to
determine the recoverable amounts of the CGUs based on the
respective CGUs’ past performance and the expectations from
the Group’s management for the market development estimate.
The value in use calculations utilised cash flow projections based
on financial budgets and an appropriate discount rate, and
involve significant judgement and estimates on certain key inputs,
namely sales growth rate, gross margin, perpetual growth rates
and discount rate. Where the recoverable amount of the CGU is
lower than respective carrying amount, impairment loss would be
recognised.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of goodwill
are US$29,406,000 (2023: US$29,845,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 23.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ
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7 o = |

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interest in BLIHP
with carrying amount of approximately US$112,715,000 (2023:
US$154,735,000) which represented 24% (2023: 31%) of the net
assets of the Group. As disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, BLIHP is engaged in investment holding,
manufacture and sales of lamps, luminaries, lamp transformers,
lighting electronic products and other appliances. Due to the
deteriorated financial performance of BLIHP as disclosed in
Note 24, the Group’s management conducted an impairment
assessment of the interest in BLIHP by comparing the recoverable
amount of the interest in BLIHP, which were estimated based on
value in use calculation, with the carrying amount.

The Group’s management engaged an independent qualified
professional valuer to assist them to determine the recoverable
amount of interest in BLIHP, based on the past performance of
BLIHP and the expectations from the Group’s management for
the market development estimate. The value in use calculation
is based on the investor’s share of the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by BLIHP,
based on certain key assumptions and inputs, namely sales
growth rates, gross margin, perpetual growth rates and discount
rate, used to estimate future cash flows. In cases where the
actual cash flows are less or more than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which result in revision of future cash
flows estimation or discount rate, a further reversal or material
recognition of impairment may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.

During the current year, the management determined an
impairment loss amounting to US$26,562,000 was recognised in
profit or loss as the recoverable amount of the interest in BLIHP
which represented the value in use was lower than the carrying
amount. Details of the impairment assessment are disclosed in
Note 24.
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AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BLFE20244F 12531 HIFFZ
5. REVENUE 5. WA
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) VU EI=RAET PN
customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024

#E20245F128310ILEE
International Domestic International
NVC non-NVC non-NVC
Segments 2 Ep brand brand brand Total
8 il = f
Btmhg FELTRNE FEELTRNE =L
US$’000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
F=Ew FEr FE7 FEx
Sales to external HEFHIBER
customers 31,986 11,458 193,159 236,603

Geographical markets ~ #I2ii5

United States EE - - 150,840 150,840
Japan =B 18 - 36,232 36,250
The PRC R E - 11,458 - 11,458
Netherland farE - - 1,833 1,833
United Kingdom <15 17,741 - 1,367 19,108
Other countries HAnE xR 14,227 - 2,887 17,114
Total &t 31,986 11,458 193,159 236,603
Timing of revenue WA B 2% s
recognition
A point in time HRRE 31,986 11,458 193,159 236,603

ETERERERAR 2046% 223
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

5.  REVENUE (continued)

5.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

WA &)

(i) BUEREEWA GE)

B F2023F12831HILEE
International Domestic International
NVC non-NVC non-NVC
Segments 7 E brand brand brand Total
]S A Eaft
Btmhg FELTRE FELTRE a5t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FE FEx FEx
Sales to external HENMBER
customers 36,839 14,041 185,098 235,978
Geographical markets  tI2mig
United States =H - - 132,372 132,372
Japan SE:N 7 - 39,926 39,933
The PRC I - 14,041 - 14,041
Netherland G| - - 4,582 4,582
United Kingdom HE 24,235 - 1,074 25,309
Other countries HEAR 12,597 - 7,144 19,741
Total &t 36,839 14,041 185,098 235,978
Timing of revenue WA B SR B
recognition
A point in time HEF R 36,839 14,041 185,098 235,978
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5.  REVENUE (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The Group sells lighting products to the retailers over the
world.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the specific location (delivery). Following the delivery,
the customers have full discretion over the manner of
distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when selling the goods and bears the risks
of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The
normal credit term is 30 to 90 days upon delivery.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, customers
have a right to exchange for defective products within
30 days. The Group uses its accumulated historical
experience to estimate the number of exchange on a
portfolio level using the expected value method. Revenue
is recognised for sales which are considered highly
probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur. A contract liability
is recognised for sales in which revenue has yet been
recognised. The Group’s right to recover the product
when customers exercise their right is recognised as a
right to returned goods and a corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All goods provided by the Group are for contracts
with original expected duration of one year or less. As
permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE
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4= AH

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BLFE20244F 12531 HIFFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or

provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8

Operating Segments are as follows:

6. &EER

HETERDE KT MEDBRITEM
%Ei%K NERTEE (EREE

BA(TEZBEEREA)) HEH
%EPHAF)? A S iR B & G S AR 75

Ao

BEEMsS A5EERERYMBRS
ERFSHEE DB TR E 0 ERU0

T
. International NVC brand - sales of NVC branded lighting . FEERE+ BB FEIE NS
products outside the PRC EETRERBER
. Domestic non-NVC brand — domestic sales of non-NVC o ANIEE T RE—-PNFEIER
branded lighting products in the PRC IHEIEE T REREEE S
. International non-NVC brand — sales of non-NVC branded ° B PR FE B8 o &R B — B2 HR B 1R Ah

lighting products outside the PRC

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable segments:

Sales to external customers
Cost of sales

Segment results

Reconciliation

Other income

Other gains and losses

Unallocated expenses

Impairment losses recognised
in respect of interests in
an associate

Reversal of impairment losses
under ECL model

Finance costs

Share of results of associates

Loss before tax

226
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HEFELMERBER
UTR/BRERDEBEZINHOETERD

WAREEDT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12831HILEEE
International Domestic International
NVC non-NVC non-NVC
brand brand brand Consolidated
Eifd EA B
BtmhE FEELmIE FELRE
US$°000 US$’000 Us$’000
FER FET FET
31,986 11,458 193,159 236,603
(18,756) (9,890) (133,306) (161,952)
13,230 1,568 59,853 74,651
6,699
(850)
(72,180)
(26,562)
766
(709)
5,878
(12,307)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bl FE20244F 12531 HIFFZE
OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6. REQE &
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HILEEE
International Domestic International
NVC non-NVC non-NVC
brand brand brand  Consolidated
B PR By Bl
BEtmhE FEELMIE FELTRRE ®e
USs$’'000 US$'000 US$’000 US$'000
FET FE FEx TEm
Sales to external customers  SHE FINPES 36,839 14,041 185,098 235,978
Cost of sales Y€ Bl A (24,151) (12,322) (132,187) (168,660)
Segment results DEEE 12,688 1,719 52,911 67,318
Reconciliation HEIIEE
Other income HAa A 6,605
Other gains and losses HMiE= 2,253
Unallocated expenses ROEEER (76,607)
Reversal of impairment losses A RN Bt & A TR F
in respect of interests in IR (E B K
an associate 24,229
Reversal of impairment losses FEEAE EEKIEE T
under ECL model AR R FHE 350
Finance costs MEER (879)
Share of results of associates — FEd B = A B A& 17,163
Profit before tax Gy EINES 40,436
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same R D R & = B SR B Y sE QB i A
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment EENTHERE 93 EIES
profit represents the profit earned by each segment without DEBRR B AN A RO ECE Uk
allocation of other income, other gains and losses, impairment AEMIEZ - BRENBE AT R
losses and reversal of impairment losses in respect of interests AR BB LA R R EEL T FEEA
in associates, reversal of impairment losses under expected EEELKBEIN TN RERLEFHE &
credit loss model, unallocated expenses, finance costs and share SEEER -MEERBEELBENT
of results of associates. This is the measure reported to the HE oMM ELTEESE LT AR
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance NERESRARIBT(GHIE
assessment.

BLERERBRAE 202453,
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6. KERE &
The CODM makes decisions according to operating results TEESEBERAEFEERBEEROIINLCE
of each segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment EEEERRAE AN TELSERSE A
liability is presented as the CODM does not regularly review radrRBRoEERKRRTEZE
such information for the purposes of resources allocation and NmEESEBILEER > FILR 25
performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and NEHEBERDBEBED T - HIL 2
segment results are presented. 2 DEUA R DEZEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E2024F12H31HIEEE

International Domestic  International Total
NVC non-NVC non-NVC reportable
brand brand brand segments Others  Consolidated

il i3] il BE

EtoM  FELRW  FELaE bt Bt &8
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US§'000 Us§'000 Us$'000
Fxn i1 i1 T S TET

Amounts included in the measure of st AN BEFHANPEE
segment profit or loss or segment St EREE

assets:
Capital expenditure* BAY 484 157 19,713 20,354 598 20,952
Right-of-use assets FREEE - - 115 115 - 115
Write-cown of inventories aEs 34 (28) 1,546 1,552 - 1,552
Depreciation and amortisation EREY 3,048 1,349 8,224 12,621 230 12,851

Amounts regularly provided to the  EHRTEEBARARL
CODM but not included in the BRFANBERRAH
measure of segment profit or loss ~ BEENELE !
or segment assets:

Reversal of impairment losses on 53 FEUUER FU R EL A B K
trade receivables and other RANAESEAE
receivable, net FE (766) - - (766) - (766)

Impairment losses recognised in FREEAFNELRA
respect of interests in associates  FI(ERX 26,562 - - 26,562 - 26,562

228 NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BLE20244F 12531 HIFFE
OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6. REFE &
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12831HIEEE
International Domestic ~ International Total
NVC non-NVC non-NVC reportable
brand brand brand segments Others  Consolidated
il il il BE
Etml  FErmE  FELmE ik Ht &4

US8'000 US§'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§000 US§'000
TEL TEn TEL TER TER TER

Amounts included in the measure of st ADHERANBEE
segment profit or loss or segment  STEMEE

assefs:
Capital expenditure® BAY " 976 150 5,796 6,922 2 6,924
Right-of-use assets THEEE 985 1 607 1,593 576 2,169
Write-clown of inventories HEEE (408) (139) 1,875 1,328 12 1,340
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 1,120 1,569 12,078 14,767 308 15,075

Amounts regularly provided to the  EHIRM T BEBARAR ML
CODM but not included in the BRF AR PERT A Y
measure of segment profit or loss ~ EEFENEE .
or segment assets:

Reversal of imparment losseson BB ZRUERITREME
trade receivables and other WERRB A ERL A
receivables, net b (256) = (94) (350) = (350)

Reversal of impairment lossesin ~~ BRREEATNER

respect of Interests in associates OB B K0S (24,209) - - (24,229) = (24,229)
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant i BEASHBEIELREYE -BERSK
and equipment and other intangible assets. BUREMBEREE-

ELERERARAT 024F®R 229
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ir e M IRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC and other
countries.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the customers’ operations.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented

REDE (E

wEBEH
AEENEBURTARIMER
AMAEERENNESHUAH

M REEFIEEMIEZY] B
AEEFERBDEENENNREE

based on the geographical location of the assets. ENHEBEANERZY -
Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets
Year ended (note)
(Pt 2E)
ShERE R EIWA
BEUTHHLEEE ERBEE
RAVAPTPOPZE  31/12/2023 ERAVAPIPLPZE  31/12/2023
20244 2023%F 2024 20234
12H31H 12A31H 12H31H 12H31H
US$’°000 US$’000 uUS$’000 US$’000
FE FE F=T FE
United States ES3E| 150,840 132,372 16,993 676
Japan HZs 36,250 39,933 1,912 2,201
United Kingdom Y 19,108 25,309 7,530 7,897
The PRC F 11,458 14,041 254,026 306,081
Netherland e 1,833 4,582 - -
Other countries HMBER 17,114 19,741 27,887 30,304
236,603 235,978 308,348 347,159

Note: Non-current assets excluded equity instruments at FVTOCI
and deferred tax assets.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 6.
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows:

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

REDER (&

Customer A' HEA
Customer B! EEB'
Customer C' ®EC

! Revenue from International non-NVC brand segment.

BERFEERMER
HEFEEMAEEBHEETEI0%

UENERANT

2024 2023

20244 20234

US$’°000 US$’000

FErx F=ET

67,130 65,305

68,090 55,253

35,146 39,933

' REBIRIEE L amiE 0 BMEIUA -

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HkA

2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’000 US$’000
FErx FE
Bank interest income IRITA BUWA 2,819 1,432
Trademark licensing fee RS & 1,449 1,525
Consultancy service income B R WA 1,000 1,063

Government grants and BT B A E A i B (B 2E)
other subsidies (Note) 891 987

Rental income — lease payments WA —-—EBEHEENR

that are fixed 441 472
Surcharges from suppliers K BHEENKINE 36 15
Others Hith 63 1,111
6,699 6,605

BLERERBRAE 202453,
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

7. OTHER INCOME (continued)

Note: Government grants of US$886,000

that have been received in the

government grants were unconditional and therefore

recognised in the consolidated state

in the current year. Other government grants have been

received by the Group’s PRC subsidi

7. HMMWA &

(2023: US$980,000)
current year. The

izt . AEEWE BT #BEI886T =TT
(20234 : 980F %= 7T)  HREAKFF
BHERERGN RAIEERSFEEN

ment of profit or loss EEERRTPER - AEENTE

aries as tax subsidies

fi @~ B EREREHE MBI
B (E M R SR B UK IBR

and incentives for research and development activities BRREVE Y A E BE 1BV R U #E BE A &k

and the expansion of production

saving lamps. Government grants associated with assets

are recognised as deferred income

capacity of energy-

in the consolidated

statement of financial position as disclosed in Note 36.

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

8. Hfthifim

Net foreign exchange gains

Gain (loss) on fair value changes of
held-for-trading investments

Loss on fair value of contingent
consideration payable

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Others

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

Bhig e MEEMBNBF#EE
Rz &M BRI R PR A IEER
= GRUNMI5E36FR IR ER) ©

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’000 US$’'000
FET F=EmT
HMEEF IR & 424 3,469
REUEFERENANEE
e m (1B K) 792 (668)
FENHBRENAABERSIE
(1,193) =
BEME BERIEZEK
(686) (385)
Hith (187) (163)
(850) 2,253




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BLE20244F 12531 H IFF Z

9. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 9. FRHIEEHEXREETHRE
UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL E o
2023
20244 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
FE7T FET
Impairment losses reversed on MU TEB A (#R) B
(recognised): BEBK
— trade receivables —B S EIER™R 1,022 94
— other receivables —HMEWIRR (256) 256
766 350
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 44(b). B IB AR M 5E44(b) 0
10. OTHER EXPENSES 10. Hh&H
2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FET FEx
Research and development costs MERMAEER 7,398 5,184
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. HFEEHR
2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’000 US$’000
F=Ex FET
Interest on vendor financing HEERENE 127 283
Interest on lease liabilities HEa’EMN S 351 320
Interest on borrowings (RIS 231 272
709 875
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FiiSiREHR
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
FE7T FET
Current tax: BPHATR 1A -
Hong Kong =8 663 1,443
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FRE 2RISR 118 364
Other countries HMER 2,003 1,489
2,784 3,296
(Over) under provision in prior years: MATFE (B MR -
Hong Kong 548 (78) 78
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Rl ZEFRISTE (26) (45)
Other countries H B xR = 47
(104) 80
Deferred tax (Note 34) EIERRIE (B5E34) 368 (590)
Total = 3,048 2,786
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first Hong Kong BEMBFINERREFNE 588K
dollars (“HK$”) 2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying group entity EEERINE2,000FBcH BEiE
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be 8.25%HV IR | > M2,000F & T
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the M ERFBEZ16.5% KR -
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a AREMEGIREREGENE
flat rate of 16.5%. ERENMEREEZ16.5%8094% —
eSS e
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT BEPTHETERERE (TEEFRE
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate oE ) REERERESHIERL > 11
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. PENWEBEABS N MEEENKRE
#£259% o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 12. FRSMER (&
ETI Solid State Lighting (Zhuhai) Limited (“Zhuhai SSL”) and e (BR8) XERFEARAR (ME
Zhejiang Jiangshan Sunny Electron Co., Ltd. (“Sunny”) were BEA) EMITILU=KEBEFER
recognised as high-tech enterprise by the PRC tax authority and NE) (T= k1) ® B 7R
entitled a preferential tax rate of 15% during both years. AEHEMEE ARNMEEEARE
B15%HNEERE-
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates BEMa i EeELENRIBILRES
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. e EHEIRTMEXtE-
The Group is operating in certain jurisdictions where the Pillar FEBRTHELEEEMEBEBERENRSE
Two Rules are enacted but not effective. However, as the Group’s CEXRBRANEEHEEREER A
consolidated annual revenue is expected to be less than EUR m > EBRK%E’]?,—?@EH&]\%ESHEE
750,000,000, the management of the Group considered the 750,000 FBio REEEEER
Group is not liable to top-up tax under the Pillar Two Rules and AOREE_ZTHRA . KER ﬁ;ﬁ
therefore, has not made relevant disclosures of qualitative and W I XEBRE Z
quantitative information about the Group’s exposure to the Pillar THFFEREENEEREEE R
Two income taxes. EITHEBRE -
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit FAMEBEEYTHEGSESZREY
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as ZiRE) (Bi8) FEEENT .
follows:
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
FET FE7T
(Loss) profit before tax Al (B8 F8 (12,307) 40,436
Tax at the average income tax rate (Note) 12 FHFREMEEM
mIB (#132) (1,382) 3,658
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for BRI Z MIIRTE 2
tax purpose 4,408 466
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ BERRINABRTEZZE
purpose (1,594) (4,897)
(Over) under provision in prior years MATFE (B ViR (104) 80
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RETDMIBHENRBEE 2,050 4,273
Tax effect of deductible temporary REB IR EREEEDN
differences not recognised MBTE - 198
Income tax at concessionary rate HEENIAENMRER (330) (992)
Income tax expense T8 &R 3,048 2,786

Note: The average income tax rates for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 represent the average tax rate
of the operations in different jurisdictions on the basis
of the relative amounts of (loss) profit before tax and the

relevant statutory rates.

HE2024F K2023F12831H Lk
FENFHMERMKTISRERA
(E518) # MR & 28 R B R A
EMEEEN AR EEERER
BRI

Ktat -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

13. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 2 & E RN ES /4

Amortisation of other intangible assets
(included in “selling and distribution
expenses”)

Depreciation
— Property, plant and equipment
— Investment properties
— Right-of-use-assets

Total amortisation and depreciation

Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (Note 14)):

Wages and salaries

Pension scheme contributions

Other welfare expenses

Total staff costs

Write-down of inventories
(included in “cost of sales”)

13. &% (B1R) #H

AE (BB F BN TEIE
BER
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
US$’000 UsS$’000
FErx FE
1% 85 B # B 522 550
160,400 167,320
HithEREEEH
GtATHE R DHER))
4,895 6,457
e
—E BB MR E 5,505 5,675
—KREYE 79 237
—FRAREE 2,372 2,706
IR T EE4R%E 12,851 15,075
BEEGABY BREEAERS
TSI (Bfat14)) :
TERFE 43,918 42,229
BIRE T8 HRR 4,140 3,577
Hih@H &R 1,391 1,114
BT ALELE 49,449 46,920
WRES
(5t ATSHE R A ) 1,552 1,340
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AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bl FE20244F 12531 H I F/ZE
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EFRRETHASEHM
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear, BEFTHHAEREE NS GG IKE
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong MAFEERESTHASFHFINN
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: B
2024 20244

Chief
Executive
Ms. CHAN
Mr. WANG  Kim Yung, Mr. XIAO  Mr. WANG
Donglei Eva Yu  Keven Dun Total

RBTHAR
ILERE BRmR:  HFRE IERE it
USS'000  US$'000  USS'000  USS'000  US$'000
TET S &R &R i

A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS A) H#H{7E€%

Fees ik 33 33 33 33 132
Other emoluments: Hithd %
Salaries and allowance HeREg 805 990 238 215 2,248
Pension scheme RIS FEIET
contributions 14 7 - 2 23
Sub-total INg 852 1,030 271 250 2,403

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Gompany and the Group.

IRATESNMENARENFARDREEMNEREHRERBA A o

Mr. YE Yong
HEEE
US$'000
TER
B) NON-EXECUTIVE B FHiTEZS
DIRECTORS
Fees ok 32
Other emoluments: Hthi<
Salaries and allowance HaREk 21
Pension scheme RIS EIHT
contributions 1
Sub-total ING 60

The non-executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their services as the director of the Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable.

IRFRTESNMENHAREA AT RENBAE MBER) HEFMA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIFFEE
14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EEREESITHAEHMN
EMOLUMENTS (continued) =),
Mr. WANG Kong Wai, Mr. CHEN
Xuexian Conway Hong Total
TREEE  TEEEE  MAE &3t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
F&n Fin Firn T
C) INDEPENDENT NON- C) BUFHTER
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees e 33 54 33 120

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

LTRBUFATESNMENARSECTRTESM2A

Total At 2,583
2023 20234
Chief
Executive
Ms. CHAN
Mr. WANG Kim Yung, Mr. XIAO Mr. WANG Ms. CAO

Donglei Eva Yu Keven Dun Qin Total
RETHAE

TLERE  RaBLt S TREE EETes =

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§'000
TEn TEn T&n T&n TEn TR

(note j)
(Hiti)
A) EXECUTIVEDIRECTORS A) H{7EE
Fees s 38 38 38 38 79 231
Other emoluments: Ethii<
Salaries and allowance HeREh 788 984 191 191 = 2,154
Pension scheme BEREHEMED
contributions 17 9 - 7 1 34
Sub-total NG 843 1,031 229 236 80 2,419

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

LTERTEZNMENARSAFADRFEENEESHRARBAA
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RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H1F F/ZF
14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14, EERESITEHASHM
EMOLUMENTS (continued) (#)
Mr. YE Yong
HE%E
US$'000
T
B) NON-EXECUTIVE B EHTES
DIRECTORS
Fees ik 38
Other emoluments: Hinff %
Salaries and allowance FeRER 107
Pension scheme BARSHBER
contributions _3
Sub-total NG 148

The non-executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their services as the director of the Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable.
FRERTEENNE DR ARERARDRERBAR (NER) NESZMZ

Mr. WANG ~ Mr. LEE Kong Mr. CHEN
Xuexian  Wai, Conway Hong Total
IBRRE  FEERE B3k =
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
T£n T£n TE£7 TE£n

C) INDEPENDENT NON- C) BUEHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees ik 38 64 38 140

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

ITRBUFRGTESNME A RSECRATESM2A

Total At 2,707
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=.AH
I

FAFSER R B X

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

14.

15.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Note i: Ms. CAO Qin resigned as executive director of the
Company with effect from 29 December 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
both years.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included three directors (2023: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 14. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid
employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:

14.

15.

i% BREESTBRASEHMN
(#&)
Kizti: BEELTHIERAATHAITES B

2023F12H29H A °

RMEFE EFEXNRBITHRABL
ST IR R B REE AR
2o

hfukE#HMES
A AEEE MBS HHESQE

=UEE (2023F : =U&EH) ' &
HE S BEHNNE14 - BEAEEETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Performance related bonuses HIERSE
Pension scheme contributions BB TR
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FEARATESTHRAERNEG T
(2023% : M) REHFMEENH
= I

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

US$’000 US$’'000

FE7 FE5

411 461

130 28

27 20

568 509
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 15.

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

iR e MRS
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

IfisE#HMES &)

HHEMA R A THREANIFEERF
EFNREHFMESNAZRNT

HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000
(equivalent to US$128,000 to
US$192,000)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
(equivalent to US$256,001 to
US$320,000)

Total

1,000,0003 75 = 1,500,000 7T
(HBEM28TETE
192F 3£ 77)
2,000,001 75 £2,500,0005% 7T
(FBE 256,001 ETE
320F %7t)

There was no arrangement under which a director or the Chief

Executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

both years.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors and

five highest paid employees as incentive on joining or as

compensation for the loss of office during both years.

DIVIDENDS

16.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the

reporting period.

2024 2023
20245 20234
No. of No. of
employees employees
BEAH BEAH

- 1

2 1

2 2

RMEFE EFHARSITHRARL
B UMENREREEMFHFNB
2o

RmEFE BEAEERAURS
#r B B B 52 (Y 0 Bl <= /5 7 I A By
BYEER) SRR R AR 1 o

R
B E2024F K2023F12831H IH4F
B AATERNIEZE RETMAZ

BREE BREPRTEEZZE IR
ERIRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE

17. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. 2K (B8 &2H
The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share attributable KABIHEEAEEEXRSE (B518)
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: BNAEZEEN TSRS
(Loss) earnings figures are calculated as follows: (F518) BAIMEMNTEWN T

2024 2023
202445 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FET FEx

(Loss) profit for the purpose of basic (loss) R EtHERER (E518) &BF)

earnings per share B9 (E538) FI7H4 (17,450) 35,713
2023
20234
000
T8
Weighted average number of ordinary ARtEERERX (BB BT
shares for the purpose of basic (loss) B E BRI T HE
earnings per share 507,274 458,168
No diluted (loss) earnings per share for both 2024 and 2023 were 2024F 2023 F KR EFETET R
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for (F518) &BF) > A A2024F K20234F
both 2024 and 2023. TREETETEBER-
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the weighted average REE2023F128B31HIEEE >
number of ordinary shares of 458,168,000 in issue was adjusted HEZTT @R MNMEFTFHHL
to reflect the effect of the share consolidation as disclosed in 458,168,0008% & 178 £ LU K BR [ 5%
Note 38. BHWENRMDEHNTE-
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

18. ME -BERRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
&7 KEE  BRREA  XERKE b HRIR B
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US§'000 US§'000 US$'000
FEL Tin TEn TEL Tin TER TEL
COST A
At 1 January 2023 R2023F151H 31,516 5,309 41,816 3,143 2,09 8,621 92,501
Additions HE 79 114 2,873 166 192 163 3,587
Transfers & 9,480 - - - - 9,480) -
Disposals RE - - (5,709) (78 (77) - (5,858)
Exchange adjustments ERBE (372) 2,397 (1,776) 919 (402) 812 1,578
At 31 December 2023 12023126318 40,703 7,820 37,210 4150 1,809 116 91,808
Additions HE 15,332 1,791 2,883 149 201 % 20,452
Transfers B 12 - 165 - = (177) =
Disposals RE (70) - (1,259) (330) - - (1,659
Exchange adjustments ERBE (1,148) (110) (1,003) (67) 342 @ (2,078)
At 31 December 2024 120245126310 54,829 9,501 37,906 3,902 2,362 33 108,523
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZiERAE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 202315 1H (8,457) (3.214) (23,892 (2,260) (1,633) - (39,456)
Provided for the year EREE (819) (857) (3,403) (395) (201) S (5,675)
Eliminated on disposal HERES - - 4,809 8 61 - 4,048
Exchange adjustments ERBE 143 2,114) 968 657) 230 - (1,430)
At 31 December 2023 12023128310 (9,133 (6,185) (21,518 (3,234) (1,543 - (41,613
Provided for the year EREE (1,036) (788) (3,137) (332) (212) = (5,506)
Eliminated on disposal HERTEH 4 - 187 817 - - 544
Exchange adjustments ERBE 163 90 410 49 17 - 729
At 31 December 2024 2024128317 (9,966) (6,883) (24,08) (3.200) (1,739) = (45,845)
CARRYING VALUES REfE
At 31 December 2024 2024126318 44,863 2,618 13,848 702 614 38 62,678
At 31 December 2023 12028126318 31,570 1,635 15,692 916 266 116 50,195
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18.
(continueq)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress, after taking into account the residual
values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following
rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of lease,
or 18 to 40 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of lease,
or 2 to 5 years

Plant and machinery 3 to 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 1to 7 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 8 years

The Group has pledged owned properties with carrying amounts
of US$5,618,000 (2023: US$5,715,000) to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group.

ME- -BERRE (&

L E BB RRE (FRIER
N EStRFGEERRERESTE

UL T EERIFTE ¢

BT NEEHH18E404E
Hh Y B 5T HA RS

HiE5 REEH2ZE5F &
B 852 HE 7S

BEREEE  3EE10FE

RAREE 1EE27F

14 &) 23 & LEFESE

AEBCDIKFEEYE KREES
5,618TF %7¢ (20234 : 5,715F %
7o) EARTFAEEN —RIB{TRH

BERER
19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. FHEEE
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
e HnEmE &%
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FEr FE FE=r
As at 31 December 2024 #2024%F12H31H
Carrying amount IREE 4,069 17,869 21,938
As at 31 December 2023 $2023F12831H
Carrying amount IREE 4,334 20,293 24,627
For the year ended HE20245F12831BILEE
31 December 2024
Depreciation charge ERX 111 2,261 2,372
For the year ended HZE2023F12831A L EE
31 December 2023
Depreciation charge ERX 112 2,594 2,706
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

19.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

ERERE (&

Expense relating to short-leases HIGHEE BN E R
Total cash outflow for leases HEREMHAEEE
Addition to right-of-use assets NETHEEE

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses,
equipment and vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 3 months to 47 years for both years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various
offices. As at 31 December 2024, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of US$3,570,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of US$21,938,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: lease liabilities of US$5,231,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of US$24,627,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 1 to 3 years (2023: 1 to 3 years), with unilateral rights
to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees only.
Majority of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in
the event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

20.

2024 2023
2024 20234
US$’000 US$’'000
Fxr TET
5,679 5,679
7,685 7,662
115 2,169

KmEFE  A&EEHEESERA
E RE - REREWMHAEZE
BermBEFE HEGR®LIER
EA7TEWEIE RS - HEMRRTD
RIBEEREERE LEITERRF
TR B A5 1 o 12 1 RE TH B HA PR Ko 5 0 A~
ORI ARNEREN AEEKRAS
FNERLEESEABREANITH
HAR -

AEBHEASWAETILGHME
EoR2024F 128310 fEHHFE &R
GH YR EREEERZRHE
R HRfRA B S AL o

70 & PR 1 2 22 5%

b9 s 722024128318 » WUABREfE
FAEEE21,938TE=tHRBEE:E
f&3,570T %7t (20234 : UARRIME
BAHEEE24, 62T TETHEIREES
55,231 F=7T) - BFHEABSENMA
EEERWEREDIN HEHRET
MmEREMZE - HEEENSH
EfEERIEIF R

REYE

AEFRBELEHEHBEETHA
E-HSESAXN -HEBEWS
AHI1 E34F (2023F (1E34F) » H1E
ARANERESFESHELEREY
YRERLLSN o FE TR AT B A HA IR 42 1
HEBERT AZHEESRBHEE™
BEEER
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kR M ERR M

7 o = |

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H1F F/Z

20.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 20.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result

of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

REWME (B

A R8RSR HAASINE
Bl RBmARE U ERERE
ANEESHE-BEAARES
T EERER AAEAEAE
S FUETE SR

Us$’000
F=r

COST
At 1 January 2023
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2023
Provided for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023
Provided for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

5%
112023 181H
BE o %L

1£2023F12831H
ER

K2024%12H31H
e
12023518 1H

RERE
EREE

R2023%E12831H
REEE
FE R oEEE

R2024F12831H

fREE
1120245 12831H

12023%F12831H

2,203
(37)

2,166
(32)

2,134

(396)
(237)

(626)
(79)

(696)

1,438

1,540
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RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BLE20244F 12531 HIFFE
21. GOODWILL 21. HE
Elec-Tech Shanghai
Solid State Arcata
Lighting Electronics
(HK) Limited Co., Ltd.
(“HKSSL”) (“Arcata”) Total
183& (F48)
HERR LBmRE
BRAE BFAERRXTE
(TrE#&EED (rprk1%1) &%
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
TE FET FET
COST BN
At 1 January 2023 #2023F181H 54,164 1,058 55,222
Exchange adjustments fEREEE (903) (18) (921)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 53,261 1,040 54,301
Exchange adjustments fEREEE (783) (15) (798)
At 31 December 2024 72024F12831H 52,478 1,025 53,503
IMPAIRMENT HE
At 1 January 2023 #2023F181H 24,871 - 24,871
Exchange adjustments fEREEE (415) - (415)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 24,456 - 24,456
Exchange adjustments fEREEE (359) - (359)
At 31 December 2024 72024F12831H 24,097 - 24,097
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2024 72024F12831H 28,381 1,025 29,406
At 31 December 2023 72023%F12831H 28,805 1,040 29,845

EREERENANEBEERKE
231 EE o

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed
in Note 23.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12531 HIF &
= TI4 =
22. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22, HthWEEEE
Trademarks ~ Trademarks Deferred
(indefinite (finite Computer Customer  development
useful lives)  useful lives) software ~relationships costs Patents Total
BE(ER  HE(ER EEHE
AERES) FEAEH BE#RH ERH% & L EH
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
T%n Fxn T%n e Fxn T%n FER
cosT (1%
At 1 January 2023 1202351818 2,527 11,509 870 47,498 2,374 33,806 98,584
Additions RE = = 679 = 1,207 1,451 3,337
Exchange adjustment ERREE (42 (191) 171 (529) (44) (533) (1,168)
At 31 December 2023 #202312831H 2,485 11,318 1,720 46,969 3,537 34,724 100,753
Additions RE - - 168 - 332 - 500
Reclassification EEip] - - - - (1,302) 1,302 =
Exchange adjustment ERBEE (37) (167) (22) (904) (93) (441) (1,664)
At 31 December 2024 420245128310 2,448 11,151 1,866 46,065 2,474 35,585 99,589

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt #35

A 1 January 2023 7202351818 - (9.591) (492) (13,846) - (27,665) (51,504)
Charge for the year TERY - (1,851) (85) (1,615) - (2,900) (6,457)
Exchange adjustment ERER - 124 (154) (440) - 249 (221)
A 31 December 2023 720034125318 = (11,318) (731) (15,901) = (30,322) (58,272)
Charge for the year TERZ - - (142) (2,141) = (2,612) (4,895)
Exchange adjustment EREE - 167 10 232 - 386 795
M 31 December 2024 2004125318 = (11,151) (63) (17,810) = (32,548) (62,372)
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2024 20248128310 2,448 - 1,008 28,255 2,474 3,037 37,217
At 31 December 2023 #2023&12831H 2,485 - 989 31,068 3,537 4,402 42,481
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Deferred development costs are internally generated. The Group’s
computer software and patents were acquired from third parties.
Trademarks and customer relationships were purchased as part
of a business combination in prior years.

The above intangible assets other than trademarks with indefinite
useful lives have finite useful lives. Such intangible assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the following period:

Trademarks with finite

useful lives
Computer software
Customer relationships
Patents

5 years

5to 10 years
5 to 20 years
51to 10 years

The trademarks with indefinite useful lives are renewable at
minimal cost. The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group would renew the trademarks continuously and has
the ability to do so. Various studies including market, competitive
and environmental trends, and brand extension opportunities
have been performed by management of the Group, which
supports that the trademarks have no foreseeable limit to the
period over which the trademarked products are expected to
generate net cash flows for the Group.

As a result, the trademarks are considered by the management of
the Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected
to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The trademarks will
not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired. Particulars of the
impairment testing are disclosed in Note 23.

22.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

HtWEREE (&

BIEFRE M EBANBEL - ~EER
B RENEDUE=FER-
BEREFPEAGDEBEFEFRZE
BaH—MomEE-

PREERAEAFHIVEIEIN £t
BREEHRABRERFH - ILH
BEBEENUTHEREGEHH

BRRAER 5%
FHNER

B 5E10%

ERRAF 5E20%F

= 5E10%F

EERAUEAFEHNERYTURN
PRABH - EARNEERR ~&E
REEEMBR TAEDWILTT
E-rEREEEEETEEME
BENS RERRRED UK DE
IEHERE ZSMARABEHER
BENERRRAATEEELS
RemENBLER]RRARE -

it *&EEEEERAZEHREA
BERDERAEH RARFZER
REERASMFRERA -ZEFD
BRAGHIE EEHAERFHRE
EmBRIE-BER EREFREER
PR R & BAB] BE &R (B RF E 1T RUE R
o B E R AV B I MY EE23 K B o
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND 23. HERKEEIRTEHENEN
INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE wEmE E R E R
USEFUL LIVES

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and trademarks B EREMmE > k21 K229 Ff
with indefinite useful lives set out in Notes 21 and 22 have been HEENEEEOFEREERENEE
allocated to three individual CGUs. The carrying amounts of ENEE=EEBREELEE N -9
goodwill and trademarks (net of accumulated impairment losses) EfzZEBEMNNEEKRENEREE
allocated to these units are as follows: % EstBEBGREZ) T
Goodwill Trademarks
meE 5L
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 2023% 20244 20234
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FERT FET FET FET
HKSSL EHBaE 28,381 28,805 2,448 2,485
Arcata 18 1,025 1,040 - =
29,406 29,845 2,448 2,485
In addition to goodwill and trademarks above, property, plant St EREEI) EERERE
and equipment, other intangible assets and right-of-use assets MY -BMEREE - HEMHNEFLEE
(including allocation of corporate assets) that generate cash FEREEE (811 F5D EE//_\\T BE)
flows together with the related goodwill and trademarks are also EREEAEEREZ Tt AZSERN
included in the respective CGU for the purpose of impairment WEESBN LUETRESE He
assessment.
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24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 AR

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND 23, B2 K AERIFEHEERN
INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE ﬁﬂz Efﬁ{ﬁiﬂu%ﬁt (,{5)
USEFUL LIVES (continued)
HKSSL HEBE
The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based ZEBEMNNAWE£BEREMGEE
on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow BstE BT - ZtETRENEE
projections based on financial budgets approved by management HENKRERFHTFFEENIR
covering a five-year period, and discount rate of 14.87% (2023: SREBAKRITIEE14.87% (2023
16.43%). HKSSL's cash flows beyond the five-year period are F 16.43%) - BEHEBERFEH
extrapolated using a steady 2% (2023: 2%) growth rate. This THNIEBESHEFEHEBETMN2% (2023
growth rate is based on the historical consumer price index F2%) MEXHHEEBEH ZEEX
growth rate and does not exceed the average consumer price ERFEER HEERIEgIEEXR T H
index growth rate in the United States. Other key assumptions FTHABEHTEHHEBRIEHEE
for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash KRoz1EEHEBEEEANEMERRE
inflows/outflows which include sales growth rates and gross HEBRESHRA R GEER > 215
margin, such estimation is based on the unit’s past performance HENEXRENIR 2G5t ENZ
and management’s expectations for the market development. BUBFREAREEBHTGZERE
BTEHA o
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, B E2024F K2023F12H31H L&
management of the Group determines that there is no impairment EAEEESEEEES B8 E
on HKSSL. Management believes that any reasonably possible HE - BEEINA FAZERBED
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying FREEBEESEHHIATENTE
amount of HKSSL to exceed the recoverable amount of HKSSL. SENEEEBEEEBBLENI K
Elf3-ER
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 24. REERTIZER
2024 2023
20244 2023F
US$’000 US$’000
FE7T FET
Cost of interests in associates RHE AT NER AR 143,175 145,313
Share of post-acquisition profit or loss e ERFEN G KR
and other comprehensive (expense) Hthem (BR) WA
income, net of dividends received HRBEWRE (1,466) 11,789
Impairment losses recognised ERRERIE (27,186) (624)
114,523 156,478
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 24.
Details of the Group’s material associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Country of Principal Proportion of
incorporation/ place of  ownership interest
Name of entity registration business  held by the Group
ML/ FEBFERAE

BRERE ARMER @ FEEEME un (]
2024 2023
20245 |EPlpRE
Brilliant Lights International Singapore Singapore 30% 30%
Holding Pte. Ltd. (“BLIHP”)

Brilliant Lights International FTE by 30% 30%

Holding Pte. Ltd. (TBLIHP 1)

The above table lists out the associate of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the share of results of
associates for the year or constitute a substantial portion of the
Group’s interests in associates. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Note: In the opinion of the directors, BLIHP is regarded as
associate of the Group because the Group appoints
director in the board of directors of BLIHP which indicates
the Group has significant influence over BLIHP.

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

REEAB 2w (B)

AEBFTEBREATNBSHRY
SBEWMT

Proportion of
voting rights held
by the Group Principal activities
KEEFFRER
] TEEY

2024 2023
20245 [EPIPRES

30% 30%  Investment holding and
manufacture and sales of
lamps, luminaries, lamp
transformers, lighting
electronic products and
other appliances

30% 30% HEEBRURNERHEE
KR BEBRERE
BRETERREMER

FRAHEERATEL BRI
FUNES AT ELTET PS
BARRBAEADD 2 FEER
BAFEERAT HEMBEAR
BB @SR BEERENE.

HisE . BEERA BLIHPEBARERN
BEAR AR EBABLIHPAY
BERghLOIER ERPELER
HBLHPEABEATE N -



24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Impairment assessment of interest in BLIHP

BLIHP and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “BLIHP
Group”) are engaged in manufacturing and sales of lamps,
luminaries, lamp transformers, lighting electronic products
and other appliances with the NVC brand in PRC. BLIHP’s
sales were made through various e-commerce platforms and
traditional sale channels, representing the online and offline
segments respectively. During the year ended 31 December
2024, an impairment loss of US$26,562,000 was recognised,
the impairment is due to key factors worsening during the later
part of the year ended 31 December 2024, mainly the weak first-
hand real estate market in the PRC, and the adverse export
environment which in term created severe competition in the
domestic market, resulting in a substantial shortfall in operating
profit when compared to previous year’s financial budgets
approved by management of BLIHP. As at 31 December 2024,
the accumulated impairment loss amounting to US$26,562,000
was recognised.

The Group’s management engaged an independent qualified
professional valuer to assist them to determine the recoverable
amount of interest in BLIHP, based on the past performance of
BLIHP and the expectations from the Group’s management for
the market development estimate.

The recoverable amount of the interest in BLIHP is determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period, and discount rate
of 14.5% (2023: 14.5%). BLIHP’s cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.0% (2023: 2.2%)
growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average consumer
price index growth rate in the PRC for the relevant industry. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include sales growth
rates and gross margin, such estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

The results of the valuation assessment using these assumptions
show that the recoverable amount amounting to US$112,715,000
is below the carrying amount of interest in BLIHP as at
31 December 2024. Accordingly, an impairment loss of
US$26,562,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

24.

4= A

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

REEATIZERD (&
HBLIHPEY # &2 R (B 5T (G

BLIHPXR EMI B AE (48 BLIHPE
B rhEAERERBEET TR
Ry R B A B AE RS B
EFEMMEMBEIR -BLIHPHIEE
Lﬂﬂﬁﬁ¥ﬁﬁ%¥$u&%“ﬁé’%

REET DHIREKRBELRETD
“B REZE 2024 £ 12 B 31 EIJJ:
-/EEE DIL:‘/FR?EEH?/E\ 26, 562:‘:;
Hﬂfﬁlm{ExEEEﬁ\Eki2024¢12)§31
BEtEETHEFEREZRBILFRE

EEFE-—FEMEMBED U
BRAFMNE ORBENEA TGS
FHEI BHKEFN HHEBLIHPE B
B EN EF—FEMEBEEMRLEX
12 R B% o 7R2024F 12331 H » B5HE
SRR EE51826,562 T FE 7T ©

AREBNEEEZEBILIAERE
X LEMPE R EREBLIHPH BT
XRUNMAEEEEBEMIZRRE
EEtTEHRE EMBLIHPZ #ma el
U [o] & 58 o

MBLIHPW#Em MW AT W Bl £ 5 E R
BERABEAELIET ZtEEH
ERNEEBHENREL TG
EENREREEI RITIEE14.5%
(20234 :14.5%) eBLIHPR &
U EENRESEREsFEREBEMN2.0%
(20234 1 2.2%) HEXHEEHEEFH-
ZIEEXREREBTENERER
I B ARBiE P EERTENFEHN

EERERERX -SIEEAEER
ARHEMBARRREARESRA R

Lt AR BREEERIRERN
KoZMABRRNZBEUBEREARE
EREHTISERNTAMY-

FTRHZERRETHAETGEHNER
KRB BB & EE112,715T ETE
MRBLIHPH# @@ £20245F 128 31H
MWIREmE R REZE2024F12
5315¢ﬂzﬁ?—?§ﬁﬁ wﬂ@@ﬁﬁ
26,562 %5 °
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12531 HIF &

24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24. REERBIZEDE (B)
Summarised financial information of a material —RETEHRES ATV EER
associate =
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s EHARNEFRTEH S ATNHBE
material associates is set out below. The summarised financial BRI ESHINUW T U THBEEREE
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s IEZHMENTRIEFRPRE TSRS £
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Standards. B4R BB TSR R S ZE o
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity method N LS BEHRED A XS
in these consolidated financial statements. ENBI R AEEE I EARE
BLIHP BLIHP

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
FE7T FE7
Current assets TRENEE 604,381 538,374
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill ~ JEREIBE (FEIEEHSE) 535,204 549,141
Goodwill 5k 254,661 283,668
Current liabilities REaE (544,000) (536,028)
Non-current liabilities ERBER (448,727) (357,576)
Net assets FEE 401,519 477,579
Less: PEA
— goodwill B (205,500) (233,844)
- non-controlling interests in —REE AR ZHB AN
the associate’s subsidiaries JEEEH D ((HE AT
(“Associate’s NCI”) BIFEESI MR ) (30,719) (31,474)
Net assets, excluding goodwill and FEE IABEBERMERT
Associate’s NCI B FEZEH R 165,300 212,261
Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEBMEEB DL 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the AEBEEEBHEABDZTEE
associates, excluding goodwill and TEERERBE AT
Associate’s NCI JEFERIE R 49,590 63,678
Goodwill on acquisition of the associate W& AT HE 83,386 84,630
Impairment loss recognised ERRERIE (26,562) =
Other adjustments HhiEze 6,301 6,427
Carrying amount of the investment KER@E 112,715 154,735
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24.

Summarised financial information of a material
associate (continued)

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

REEAB ZEw (&

—??IEH%%’&EJ B9 R F5 B L
E /lg

Revenue

Profit for the year

Profit for the year excluding non-
controlling interests in an associate’s
subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
excluding non-controlling interests in

an associate’s subsidiaries
Dividend received from the associate
during the year

individually material

L'ON

FEFH

REFNE A EERBE
ABZMBABBIFFERH I
e

rEZEWASE

FEZEWAGE > NEERB

NCIPA =N Bl e
tEm
FEWEBEATRE

Aggregate information of associate that are not

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’000 US$’000
FE7T FE
613,255 708,334
18,988 57,095
19,284 57,074
11,959 50,183
”
12,255 50,141
16,982 -

1B 5! 3 7 B KRV B E A B B EEXR

The Group’s share of profit
The Group’s share of total
comprehensive income

FEE LT
FEERGEEBRASE

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBNZEHE AN E RN

interests in these associates

AstiREE

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FEx FE
93 41

93 41

1,808 1,743
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kR M ERR M

7 o = |

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

25.

26.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI

25. BAonBESFAHMEEU
A TH

Listed equity securities Nl g gk
Unlisted equity investments JE LTS 5

The above listed equity investments represent ordinary shares
of an entity listed in the PRC and the above unlisted equity
investments represent the Group’s equity interest in a private
entity established in the PRC. Both investments are not held for
trading, instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes.
The directors of the Company have elected to designate these
investments in equity instrument as at FVTOCI as they believe
that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s
strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and
realising their performance potential in the long run.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2023

20245 20234
US$’000 US$’000
Fxr T
2,239 1,808
110 111
2,349 1,919

Rt EaREEERE LT
BERENSER LA LEHTEGRE
EAEBETTRMINMEERERN
RigE-ZEREWIFFEXZEH
MmE~ARAEBRENMFTR FAF
EEEERRERTAREETEAR
ARBEFAHMEENRA  EBRK
SRR EaERZIRENAR
BEERAKIRAEBARATAZ
SRERREZEBEBERBEENNR

Trade receivables E 5 EWEE R
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEERERE
Bills receivables EREWEER

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with
customer amounted to US$45,229,000.
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BTG o
=%
26. B S REEEWERM
2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
F=T FE7T
49,913 50,787
(530) (1,569)
49,383 49,218
152 246
49,535 49,464

R2023F1B1H  KRBEERLERB
B EINER N A45,229F =T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

The credit period on sales of goods is ranging from O to 120
days.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are amounts due from
related parties of US$161,000 (2023: US$166,000) which are
repayable on similar credit terms to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the transaction
date, and an analysis of bills receivables by age, net of allowance
for credit losses, presented based on the bills issuance date at
the end of the reporting period.

26.

iR e MRS
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

B REHREBRIR™M (2
6@ E RN EEHN FOE120K

FEU REEE H BR 161 T E T (2023
F 16T ET) sTAREEE ZEW
R ZERFANEREERMFEAR
HEAEBFEZLWNEEES-

UTRERXZEHEINESZRE
WERR (BEHNMREEEEEB) R
B URERKREHRNEZRE
THHZY) ZREIDHNRERU
IR (BHNREEBIBRER D

Trade receivables B 5 YRR
Within 3 months 3EA RN

4 to 6 months 4ZE61E B

7 to 12 months 7E12@ A

1 to 2 years 1EE2F
Over 2 years 2F Uk

Bills receivables ZEiRREURER TR
Within 3 months 3EARN

4 to 6 months 4Z61E B

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of US$5,505,000 (2023: US$5,081,000) which are past due as at
the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, US$3,316,000
(2023: US$1,837,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default based on repayment records of those
customers and continuous business with the Group.

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FEx FE
46,252 42,658
1,285 5,501
587 435
293 134
966 490
49,383 49,218
152 232

= 14

152 246

R2024F12831H  AEENE S
EWERGETNEERTEES
5,505F & 75(20234 : 5,081 T =7T)
BEWEER  ZERWERRMNIRE H
FAEAH - T M EAEREE > 3,316F
%7 (20234 : 1,837 F £ 75) B H
WHAEERH  BREZEELN
BRCEREARERNFTEER T
WIRAEL -
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

26. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, total bills received amounted to
US$152,000 (2023: US$246,000) are held by the Group for future
settlement of trade receivables. All bills received by the Group are
with a maturity period of less than six months. Other than bills
receivables, the Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Trade receivables amounted to US$7,777,000 (2023:
US$9,795,000) have been pledged as security for the Group’s
borrowings (Note 42).

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables
are set out in Note 44(b).

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

26.

B REEBRKIRR (&

R2024F 1283 1H  AEBIFEE
BEWRR4EEE152F =7 (2023
F246FE7m) BRNAKREEES
FEURBR TN e RE B N EIRFT B ZH M
EIEREAMR /DR NE B o BREIRE IR
RN REBUEMZSEFITE
AR G o

BEEAT7,777TTF =T (20234 9,795
TET)NEZEWEREESARE
B 5 AR R & LUE IR (M 5E42) ©

B 5 K 22 45 FE WLAR TR 09 0 1B 5T 1 BE
15 M 5E44(0) ©
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AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt 2024412531 H 1F EZ
OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 27. HMEUERM - REETKRTE
PREPAYMENTS E
2023
2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
FEx FE
Non-current asset EREEE
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, UEEY) %« = &
plant and equipment BELZARER 41,148 41,993
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments SEUNEN 1,957 2,450
PRC value added tax recoverable ARERFIEER 3,067 4,037
Deposits paid and other receivables from 45 F 55 = A HV{R:E & R EW
third parties B HHMEUWIRR 2,820 3,500

Other receivables due from:
— associates

— an entity with significant influence over

FEWLLT & A B E A EURBR TR -
—HEAE 1,428 1,781
—HARNBBEEAFENER

the Company 925 939
— subsidiaries of an entity with significant —HARBHEEAXENEREN
influence over the Company B 8 2~ B) 861 861
11,058 13,568
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EERBRE (387) (131)
10,671 13,437
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set out HtEWERNRETGHEFEHRN

in Note 44(b).

FisE44(b) o
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE
28. INVENTORIES 28. 78
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
Fxr T
Raw materials and consumables R KD #E 8,414 8,422
Work in progress et 4,075 3,059
Finished goods X & 27,872 33,755
40,361 45,236
During the current year, management of the Group considered the RAEE ANEBEERBEEZET
market performance and the expected net realisable value of the BEREEGENTERR &R EE-
inventories. As a result, the Group has written down inventories, I ~EBEEEESE 0B EMD)
net of reversal, of US$1,552,000 (2023: US$1,340,000) to their 1,552 F % 7T (20234 : 1,340F =%
net realisable values, and included the charge in “Cost of sales”. ) MR EE O IR WA TSY
& R A 3R
29. FINANCIAL ASSETS (LIABILITIES) AT FVTPL/ 29. A ABEIAESHSHE

DERIVATIVES

B5E (BB T£IH
2024 2023
20244 20234

US$’000 US$'000
FEr FE7T

Financial assets at FVTPL

Equity securities listed in the PRC
Structured deposits (Note i)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Contingent consideration payables
(Note ii)
Derivatives (Note iij)

Analysis as:
— non-current
— current

RAABESAEEN
TREE

PR E LRI AR AN 8
ST (W52

BARBESABRDN
TREE

FE(T B B (Wail)
F1E T A (B a2ii)
DT

—JER#
—n#
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4,731 3,939
50,000 =

54,731 3,939

2,332 S
143 =

2,141 S
334 S

2,475 S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL ASSETS (LIABILITIES) AT FVTPL/
DERIVATIVES (continued)

Notes:

(i

(i)

The structured deposits of US$50,000,000 (2023: nil) are
issued by a financial institution. These structured deposits
are interest-rate linked instruments, with enhanced interest
rates accruing on a daily basis until the Group exercises the
right to redeem the instruments. As at 31 December 2024,
the management has performed impairment assessment
and considered that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of the structured
deposits and considered that the fair change attributable to
the change in credit risk is minimal.

On 7 March 2024, 40% equity interest in NVC Lighting
AB was acquired by a subsidiary of the Company. NVC
Lighting AB principally engages in conducting import,
export and sales of luminaries and lighting products
in Sweden. The acquisition price consists of (i) a fixed
consideration of SEK6,000,000, and (ii) earn-out payment
base on the financial performance of NVC Lighting AB for
the fiscal periods from 2024 to 2027.

The earn-out arrangement is a contingent consideration
payable and classified as a financial liabilities at FVTPL.
Details of the fair value measurement are in Note 44(c).

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts are
as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024:

29.

4= A

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

BAnBEFABGNERE

B

EEM GETR )

Miat -

(i)

50,000F £ 75 (20234 : ) 14
B ERE SR ERT SR

BIEERBENEAMN T A7)
R HRFIEe EETERTR
BRI T AR 1120245128
310 BEEEEETRENELE
7 B RESRE B E SRR
ERRERYEEAEZEMN BRAH
ERRABREHSIENRAEHE

e

202453870 AREHB A
FUEE TNVC Lighting ABBI40%
J&#E o NVC Lighting ABEE £
HNEEARBHERNELO
Tt o U BE /B 48 &45()6,000,000
T AR EIE LB LUK (i) iRIENVC
Lighting ABTE20244 2027 &
BHABN G BEEZ TN EFR

Mo

Er R - BRMINEAE I
WEEBBANBESABEZNE
MEE - 2 ABESENFERKE
st44(c)°

SMEBEIGAEEZERUT

B E2024F12H31HLEFE :

Notional amount Maturity Exchange rate
BLETE 2D = B

Sell JPY1,2583,700,000 30 April 2026 RMB1: JPY21.94
tH£1,253,700,000H 20265F4H30H AE®15T 1 21.94H

BLERERBRAE 202453,

261



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE

30. FIXED DEPOSITS WITH MATURITY OF 30. HAMREBIB=EAMEHEFR
MORE THAN THREE MONTHS/CASH AND /Eﬁﬁ&iﬁﬁé’ﬁ}{g%
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short REe R BREEBYOEIHEED
term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term BN mEXRAEBRT IR £ X
cash commitments, which carry interest at market rates ranging HEHED A F0.01%E1.00%
from 0.01% to 1.00% (2023: 0.01% to 1.00%). The fixed deposits (20234 1 0.01%E1.00%) T %5
carry fixed interest rates at 3.1% (2023: 3.1%) per annum. MESE - CHEFMIE3.1% (2023

31.

F:13.1%) NEMRFFR-

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in IRIT4EGRN A ETEEFEH N

Note 44(b).

TRADE PAYABLES

44(p)°
31. BHEMAIRM

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
Fxr TE7T

Trade payables due to third parties
Trade payables due to related parties:
— subsidiaries of entity with significant

NS =7 B3 EMERR 37,714 35,280
FEAT BB 75 MY B2 53 FE (T AR AN ¢
—HANTEEATENEE

influence over the Company SN PN 466 1,080
— associates —HEAT 73 3
Trade payables due to third parties under HEBRMEBEZH TENLE=H
supplier finance arrangement (Note) E S ETARER (152) 2,601 3,082
40,854 39,445
Note: These relate to trade payables in which the Group has Miat . ZERIEREFRCDQIBEBEEERS
issued bills to the relevant suppliers and related parties for R AEAEEE UA R KRS
future settlement of trade payables. The Group continues EEDEMNRANBEZENER
to recognise these trade payables as the relevant banks are Bl - REBEERIXSEELE
obliged to make payments only on due dates of the bills, MRF AAERET AREME
under the same conditions as agreed with the suppliers EEEE A ENHEEIRE  EE
and related parties without further extension. In the ERIPAMT MAGE—FIE
consolidated statement of cash flows, settlements of these Ho-NGZAdRERERT  ZEE
bills are included within operating cash flows based on the ENEERBEZHENEE ST ARLE
nature of the arrangements. WEmEeo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables not under
supplier finance arrangement presented based on the transaction

31.

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

B RARM (&

TREFLIIFERTZ B HE
BRMEZHETEZEBMERROKRER

date. AR
2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FErx F=
Within 3 months 3EARR 36,660 34,616
4 to 6 months 4ZF61@ 8 401 776
7 to 12 months 7E12@ A 270 200
1 to 2 years 1EE2F 170 562
Over 2 years 2D E 752 209
38,253 36,363

The followings is an aged analysis of trade payables under
supplier finance arrangement presented based on the bills
issuance date.

TEREINENEEETAAOMHE
BRMEZXHTEZBMERKRED
#r

Within 3 months 3EARN
4 to 6 months 4Z61E B

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 to 180
days (2023: 30 to 180 days).

2024 2023
2024 20234
US$’000 US$’'000
Fxr TE7T
1,652 1,408
949 1,679
2,601 3,082

BEEYHNTHEERA30E180K
(20234 : 30FE180XK) °

ETERERARAT 024FH 263



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12531 HIF &
32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 32. HthEMRMATERER
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
FExT FEr
Other payables and accruals HhEAERMARTERER 23,004 26,026
Other payables due to related parties: Hh T RA R 75 RUBRTR -
— subsidiaries of entity with significant —HAEARNBEEERTENER
influence over the Company SN EPAE] 310 314
- associates A=/N=] 8,475 135
Dividend payable FETRR B 543 541
Refund liabilities BTAE 166 2,485
32,498 29,501
33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 33. ARARE
2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FET FET
Sales of goods HES M 2,184 5,516
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to R2023FE181H  5RAEA5,601
US$5,601,000. FETe
The contract liabilities were expected to be recognised as EEHcRAEBEBERKI2E B N’
revenue in the next 12 months. As permitted under IFRS 15, the RAEWA - RIBEESFHRESELE
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contract which has 165MEFn PEEFRTEREN (R
an original expected duration of one year or less is not disclosed. JEHRHAPR A —F S E5E) N 2B

RTFIMEE
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33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 33.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates
to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

GRAMRE (&

TRETTERIANKRALEESH
BENEREENKRENRRAEE
BITHEBNERBNERREE-

2024 2023
2024 20234
US$’000 US$’000
FET F=ET

Revenue recognised that was included in  FE#]5t A &R B ELEHFHN

contract liability balance at the [ELi: 5 ON
beginning of the year
- Sales of goods —iHESMm

5,516 5,601

BLERERBRAE 202453,
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE
34. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 34. IRERIBEEE &GFE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement MR G BERAIRENEYmMS
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities EFiREERBEEERBEERKIKE
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax MTFAMTBEREMES NIELERIB
balances for financial reporting purpose: LEER DA -
2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’000 US$’000
FET FEx
Deferred tax assets RIERIBEEE 1,485 1,518
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE (6,456) (6,665)
(4,971) (5,147)
The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets UTAREKEERBEEERIDN
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior TERIERB (BB BEEULHES
years: & .
Fair value Fair value
adjustments change of
arising from financial
business assets at Temporary
combinations FVTPL difference Total
BAREE
HABTEMN
TESH EREE
SIBMAR AREE
BEAR =) BRESR At
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FTERT FTERT FTERT FTERT
At 1 January 2023 120231818 (5,707) (89) (504) (6,299)
Deferred tax credit (charged) to  F#BZHE A (15%) BY
profit or loss IR B 747 22 (179) 590
Others Hith 529 1 32 562
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 (4,431) (65) (651) (5,147)
Deferred tax credit (charged) to  FIBZH A (H15%) B
profit or loss EIEIRIB 353 198 (919 (368)
Others Hith (988) (1) 1,543 544
At 31 December 2024 120244128318 (5,066) 122 @7 (4,971)
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34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group has accumulated tax losses of US$8,200,000
(2023: US$7,380,000) as at 31 December 2024 that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the respective group companies in which the losses
arose. In addition, the Group has accumulated tax losses of
US$30,484,000 (2023: US$27,644,000) and US$37,371,000
(2023: US$29,298,000) as at 31 December 2024, which will
expire in one to five years and in one to ten years for offsetting
against taxable future profits, respectively.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax
losses of US$76,055,000 (2023: US$64,322,000) arising from
the subsidiaries as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available in the foreseeable future against which the
accumulated tax losses can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to US$67,248,000
(2023: US$55,478,000) as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

34.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

BRIERIBEE &R (&

R2024F12H31H > KEBEB Rt
MIEKEE8,200F =75 (20234
7,380F E7) c o EIBHIRHEESE
BEZEABNEELATINRKERR
FH o b4 > 72202412831 H » 4
EBENRFMIBEEIEI0,484F =T
(20234 : 27,644F %E7T) K&37,371
F 25T (20234 1 29,298 F %) » A
DRI ESFE AR KR 1E10E I i
RIEERMRAE

AR AEERANTBERKRZSE
AHENEFREBEAY BE
BRAEENE WERAMZENB
NBEEENIRIEEIET6,055F % 7T
(20234 : 64,322F % 77) WEERIRIE
MIBEE o

RIFPE P ETSRE > 5200841
B1HEE s E M &A= BEF
HEIRPIIE EBHBWEINR c AR A
EEE B B ST 4 BF &= 38 09 2 [O] S
B BEETERNERERERERED
BEA BB AT BRERD
TR EKEASN R EESD
ETRFAE2867,248F =71 (20234
55,478 F 3= 7T) (EHIRIERR B ©
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4= AH

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BLFE2024F 12531 HIFFZ

35. BORROWINGS 35. fawk
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
F=T FE7T
Secured bank loans that are repayable BE—SFSNEERECITEE
within one year or contain a repayment  EBEERNBIRBIETER
on demand clause (shown under current  (fERENEE FEER)
liabilities) 2,603 1,699
Borrowings comprise: B EE
Contractual
Maturity date interest rate Carrying amount
1S EEEIES REfE
2023
20234
Us$'000
TERT
Secured bank loans ERFRTER on demand Base*+1.90% p.a. 2,603 1,699
(2023: on (2023: Base*+
demand) 1.90% p.a.)
BERRM EARE+EE1.90%
(2023% : (20234 1 EAF %
BERE) +EE1.90%)

“Base” refers to the Bank of England base rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

36. DEFERRED INCOME 36. EIEWZ=E

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
US$’000 US$’'000
Fxr TET

Government grants related to property, — #1% BRE &R HBEHN

plant and equipment BN D 358 363
Analysis as: SR

— non-current —3ERE 218 221

- current —mE 140 142

358 363

BLERERBRAE 202453,
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12531 HIF &
37. LEASE LIABILITIES 37. HE&R
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$’000 US$’000
FET FEx
Lease liabilities payable: EEHREaE:
Within one year —FR 1,436 1,793
Within a period of more than one year —F FEFBEMENHBA
but not exceeding two years 836 1,253
Within a period of more than two years MU EEBRBE L ENHEREN
but not exceeding five years 1,298 2,185
3,570 5,231
Less: Amount due for settlement with B ORBaETIIRR12E A F
12 months shown under current EENZIB
liabilities (1,436) (1,793)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RIERBEBBRETIRI2EA %R
months shown under non-current EHEIIE
liabilities 2,134 3,438
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range HEEET AN EESGEHN=RX
from 3.7% to 9.4% (2023: 3.7% to 9.4%) per annum. NS 7%E9.4% (20234F : 3.7%E

9.4%) °
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AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE20244F 12531 HIEF/E
38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. &
Number of shares Share capital
KRiP&E B4
2023
2023%F

us$

=7
Ordinary share of &R EE0.0000013E T

US$0.000001 (20234 : 0.0000001
(2023: 0.0000001) each =) MEBER
Authorised: AE -
At beginning of year RE] 50,000,000 500,000,000 46,977 46,977
Decrease on 27 October 2023 1202310827 H AL - (450,000,000) - -
At end of year RER 50,000,000 50,000,000 46,977 46,977
Issued and fully paid BETRER
At beginning of year REH] 507,274 4,227,281 1,268 423
Issue of shares (note b) BT (152b) - 845,456 - 845
Share consolidation (note a)  B&{n & B (#t5ta) - (4,565,463) - =
At end of year RER 507,274 507,274 1,268 1,268
Notes: Hiat :
a) On 27 October 2023, every ten issued shares of the a) R2023F10827H » XA B =+

Company were consolidated into one consolidated share
and the number of consolidated shares was rounded down
to the nearest whole number by disregarding each and
every fractional consolidated share which would otherwise

arise.

b) On 9 July 2023, 845,456,130 shares of the Company were
issued at subscription price of totally US$8,944,985.

BETRNEHA—REHERD
matiRNBEINR THEEREZ
THEH MBBEELENS—R

TEEHRD -

b) R2023F78B9H » &AAQ B 1T
845,456,130k 1H » BHEESE
8,944,985 77 ©
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12531 HIF &
39. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 39. BEXRKHEHMEKE
2024 2023
2024 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FET FE7x
Amounts contracted for but Bl ERNGEHFERE
not provided in the consolidated BENTEE
financial statements:
Acquisition of property, plant and -t E R =y
equipment 484 971
40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. ARBEEEMBATFES

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the material subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below.

REREAR AR EEREETE
WEARWBABFBERHINMT -

Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/
registration registered and Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiaries and business paid-up capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
BETREAR
HREBL/ 5/ 2Rk
WEAEAE AMREENE ERER REARMEANRE IEEY
directly indirectly
B i
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023 2024% 2023F
Zhejiang NVC Lamps Co., Ltd.™ The PRC RMB20,000,000 - - 51% 51%  Manufacture and sale of lamps and
(‘Zhejiang NVC') related products
H1BTRAARLT" 48 B 200000007 - -0 % s MEREELERENES
(L%t
Sunny™* The PRC RMB10,000,000 - S 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of light tubes
for energy-saving lamps and
related products
=R el AR 10,000,007 - - 100% 100% HERBESEBEEREHER
Arcata” The PRC US$10,000,000 - = 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of lamp
transformers and other lighting
electronic products
RS el 10,000,000% 7 - - 100% 100% RERBEGRERBREMEH
NVC Lighting Limited England and (GBP5,000,000 100% 100% - - Trading of lamps, luminaries and
Wales/the UK other lighting products
NVC Lighting Limited ERARERL 5,000,000 £ 100% 100% = - BEAR BAREMBHER
/28
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

=8
40. #
(4&)

RAF5 e TR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

ARNETEMBAT S

(continued)
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/
registration registered and Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiaries and business paid-up capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEITREHR
R/ B#/ iRk i
MEARRHE HRREELS B4ES FEEEEENRE TEED
directly indirectly
Ef i
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 [PIRESE 20247 [EEPIPRES
ETI Realty Holdings, LLC The United US$100 - N/A 100% N/A Trading LED lighting products and
States LED fixtures
ETI Realty Holdings, LLC 68 100%7 - TBEE 100% TER EELEDEBERRLEDI
BAT Lighting Co., Limited Thailand THD86,000,000 - = 100% 100%  Manufacture of electric lighting
equipment
BAT Lighting Co., Limited £z 86,000,005 - S 100% 100% HEETREBRE
HKSSL Hong Kong 1S$15,000,000 100% 100% - - Trading of lighting products and
investment holding
FEE X 15,000,000% 7 100% 100% - - EERBERRKEEZR
ETI Solid State. Lighting Inc. The United US$25,000 - = 100% 100%  Trading LED lighting products and
States LED fixtures
ETI Solid State.Lighting Inc. 26 25,000%75 - - 100% 100% EELEDRMZERRLEDI R
ETI Solid State Lighting (Zhuhai) The PRC RMB130,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Research, development,
Limited* manufacturing and trading of
LED lighting products
158 (8) xERERBRAT" HE AR 130,000,007 - - 100% 100% HE REREELEDRAER
NVC Lighting Japan K.K. Japan Japanese Yen - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of
300,010,000 LED lighting products
NVC Lighting Japan KK. B 300,010,000 - S 100% 100% HEREELEDRHBER
Yixun (Huizhou) Lighting Technology ~ The PRC RMBS5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Research, development, sale and
Co., Ltd.* distribution of lighting products
18 (EM) XABREBRAT HE AR 15,000,000 - - 100% 100% HE BERNHERBER

BLERERBRAE 202453,

273



274

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7 o = |

kR M ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

40.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

40. ZIS’ATEEM]‘E“

/115

#15

(continued)
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/
registration registered and Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiaries and business paid-up capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEITREHR
AL/ 5/ Rk
BRE4E AMREENE BRES FEERLENRE IEEY
directly indirectly
Ef i
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 [PIRESE  2024F [PV
NVC Vietnam Technology and Lighting ~ Vietnam US$8,000 - S 100% 100%  Manufacture of electric lighting
Company Limited (approximately equipment
Vigtnamese
Dong (‘VND")
186,400,000,000)
NVG Vietnam Technology and Lighting ~ #7 8,000% 7T - - 100% 100% HEETRERE
Company Limited (#7186,400,000,000
HrEE)
NVC Lighting AB Sweden Swedish Kronor - - 100% 60%  Sale and distribution of lighting
30,000 products
NVC Lighting AB i 30,0005 52 72 68 - - 100% 60% HERNHERBER
* These companies were wholly-foreign-owned companies in * ZEABIREFRENIIEEER
the PRC. =ik

*k

PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
in the opinion of the directors of the

other subsidiaries would,

These companies were limited liability companies in the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end

of both years.
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AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B FT2024F 12531 HIFEEZE
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. xRATEEMBATIHE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (4)

(continued)

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

Proportion of
ownership
interests and

Place of incorporation voting rights held by
and principal place non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries of business interests
Ela e 5o
1 B 3L 8t B FRfsFB#R
MEARLE REBEEME RS

Zhejiang NVC The PRC 49%
MWIETL T

Individual immaterial subsidiaries BB FEEHIEEEHE—
with non-controlling interests FEEWBELE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

49%

BEEEAFERMESNIEREE
ft B A B FE

TRINTEEBERFEFREERR
FEBFE2EWNBAD :

Profit
allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling non-controlling
interests interests
ARE
JEE I g RetIFEHIM
BN s

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20235 20245 20234
US$’000 [USEYUCOM US$000 [EEUSHYe)
T=7n TR TER T

2,034 1,923 11,432 19,892

61 14 - (1,062)

2,095 1,937 11,432 18,830

ERAEEBEAEAFEFEEm
WEWMBRENYBERREZHT
MTF-UTHHBERREARERR
BRI EH AT AT A ©
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

Zhejiang NVC

YNGE AT NG BT

Current assets MENE E

Non-current assets FFRBEE

Current liabilities Gt 2R=KE

Non-current liabilities FERBEE

Equity attributable to owners of the KA ER NEEER
Company

Non-controlling interests of Zhejiang NVC  #31 & TR FEIEHI 4=
Revenue WA
Expenses 52

Profit and total comprehensive income for ZEFEH R EEW A &5t
the year

Profit and total comprehensive income KABHEE ABGEFIERK
attributable to owners of the Company 2EBAGE

Profit and total comprehensive income AL E TR IEES S
attributable to the non-controlling R REE WA G5
interests of Zhejiang NVC

Profit for the year REFE

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B A1 & T HIIEIZH 14
of Zhejiang NVC HRIKERE
Net cash inflow from operating activities (&EEBELEIRESMA S

Net cash outflow from investing activities B EEELERES T HEE

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing FIEEZBEERE (AL)
activities AP EE

Net cash (outflow) inflow RW& CRt) mMASRE
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(#)

AIE L
2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’000 Us$'000
FErx FE
33,892 48,528
11,342 11,711
(21,720) (19,336)
(184) (306)
11,898 20,705
11,432 19,893
97,924 80,243
93,772 74,824
4,152 5,419
2,118 2,764
2,034 2,655
4,152 5,419
(10,341) -
5,559 11,009
(1,293) (1,592)
(21,077) 570
(16,811) 9,987




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41.

(a) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transactions

iR e MRS
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

Bk R 5

(@ HFZFEaMBHRERHEMtM
BWMBEN FEBE R

with related parties: BEELULTRZ .
Relationships Nature of transactions 2024 2023
EAREA RBMHE 20244 20234
US$’000 US$’000
F%E7T TE7
Subsidiaries of the entity
with significant influence
over the Group:
HEAEEAETEATLENER Sales —* 228
BB AE : &
Purchase 515 2,956
BB
Other expenses - 8
HpEx
Associates of the Group:
FERNBEAT ! Sales 3 131
&
Purchase 64 556
BE
Consultancy service income 1,000 1,063
AR BUA
Trademark license income 1,449 1,625
EAREF AU A
Dividend income 16,982 S
g B A
* Less than US$1,000 & D TFET
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) REFTESIE A S/
Group
2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’°000 US$'000
F=ET FE7x
Short-term employee benefits HEERAF 3,047 3,216

BLERERBRAE 202453,
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4= AH

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the
Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets
are as follows:

42.

IRREE

AEEBNERATEBNE EFR
W EMEEMNREEDT !

Property, plant and equipment (Note 18)

Trade receivables (Note 26)

43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year. The capital structure of the Group consists
of borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in Notes 35 and
37 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the management considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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B 5 AR (B 2E26)

M- BE R (HaE18)

43.

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FEx FEx
5,618 5,715
7,777 9,795

BEXEHE

rAEBEAEBETREAER
ETEREEFELE RFERAE
EEBRRAEHRAREFNES
El3R o RERERRERBEEE
MR A AERENEBEIED F';IJ
R F3s AT EN B REES
FE NGRS RIREEBYRANT

EAEARGEDZ (BEEETRAE
BEMEREMER)

CEESFFERN - NELRBEF
RIEBREN -0 EEEEEEE
$E’Jﬁ%$7§z%+§ ﬁlﬁmﬂ’]ﬂﬁmﬁ

ﬁéﬂ@kf » REEBER
TREE R B %ﬁ Hy 7 ~ B 1% [0l B8 &

éﬁ—;#ﬁ{fi‘“dﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂzﬁfﬂ
BEAARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

iR e MRS
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

44, EFT A
(a) £RTEFER

2024 2023
20245 2023F
US$’000 US$’000
FErx FE
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREBESAEBENESHEE 54,731 3,939
Financial assets at amortised cost (2 At BN ERE E 149,110 185,845
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BAREBEESAEMZEIRA
WiEm T A 2,349 1,919
Financial liabilities EMAMRE
Financial liabilities at amortised BEIER A ENTRER
cost 58,947 59,465
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAREBESAEGENEHEE 2,332 -
Derivatives TEIR 143 -

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, fixed deposits with
maturity of more than three months, bank balances, trade
payables, other payables, borrowings, lease liabilities,
financial liabilities at FVTPL and derivatives. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely
and effective manner. The policies to mitigate these risks
are set out below.

Market risk

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk during both years.

(b) HMBEBREEERREE

AEENTIEERTIAEGE
BoanBESAHEMZEE
ANBZTE B RRERE
WeBR R~ Hfth IR A
AEEFABTZNEREE
HEBB=EANEHRER
RITEBR -BERBEBARKRM
HMENLRR B -HESE
B -BRANBEFABRZNE
MEBERTETIR WLETR
TEHHFBRENRSBWE-
HZETTMIAERANAR
BEmEER (E¥ER -7
TR REMEERERR E
ERB R E SRR BN
40 fe] B 4k 3% 5 R R B BUER 8L
RTIX-BEEEEEMREEIL
FE R PR R B A T
BB I o Bl AR % R R B
REHIWMT o

155 J&l g
AEERWMEFE@ERNS

LRRESNEEEREERR
Byt fm L o

BLERERBRAE 202453,

279



280

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A

7 o = |

FAFSER R B X

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

44.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, bank balances and
borrowings which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. They are mainly denominated in RMB and USS$.
The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange rate
risk arising from transactions that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the group
entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

44, EMT R (&

(b) ﬂ;}%}smﬁﬁé‘ﬁaﬁ&&%
=

EEmpz

ARABDETHEABDEINGE
BEE IRTTHEBRRER <
SEEHIINEAR ZERE

BUARBERETFE &
EETEEHUEERERD
FEEBLUIINEBFENRS
PIT EE 4 A9 51 B8 B =< @Bz o

REREHR > AEBLUSNE S
BEzEREEREBAREZ
SREIEWNT :

Assets

BE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
US$’°000 US$'000
FET FE7x

RMB =T

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in the functional
currencies of the group entities against the relevant
foreign currencies of respective group entities. 5% (2023:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2023: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A negative
number below indicates an increase in loss before tax
(2023: decrease in profit before tax) where the functional
currencies of group entities strengthen 5% (2023:
weakening by 5%) against the relevant foreign currency.
For a weakening 5% (2023: strengthen by 5%) of
functional currencies of group entities against the relevant
foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the loss before tax (2023: profit before tax) and
the amounts below would be positive.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE

44, EFT A (&

(b)

Profit or loss Bm
RMB AR

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the relevant years.

MHERBEEBEREE
(&)

EEmpz (#)
R E T

TRELAEBHER SR
NEEKEEEEEEIERE
INUEFH{E K B2 fE5% (20234 .
5%) ZBKE ©5% (20234 :
5%) hEEBEEEAEEIN
e JmL B P 3P 3R S RF IR A 2 &K
RELE R EEEHINE
FEROAEEBEEE Tt
BEHEDNEEERKRSE
2SNt EZEBIER I
RIREHIRIL5% (20234
5%) CEXRESEFHHFIREELT
HE-ULTEAHEELRERSE
BB BV IH AE & & 2 4E BE AN S F
B5% (20234 : B2{E5%) B9
METEEEMN (2023F 17
FIFIERLD) - MEBREREDN
MEE K TIEREINEEZES%
(2023%F : FH{E5%) > B AL
518 (20234 : METF] ) B A
HEEHERNEEHEU TS
B AILEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FErx FE
(1) (751)

EEERR FRERTHE
BRAE B F B9 R BR > SRS
DHHEBIIERRLENR
&Me
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FAFSER R B X

4= A

7 o = |

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

44.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances (Note 30) and
bank borrowings (Note 35). The Group cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on borrowings. The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at variable rates. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements based
on interest rate level and outlook. The management will
review the proportion of borrowings in floating rates and
ensure they are within reasonable range.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

44, EMT R (&

(b)

Interest income ] E WA
Financial assets at

amortised cost
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REBHER A ENTREE

E(a‘i‘%lﬁl‘x‘i'*’é‘iiﬁ’f%—ﬁ&&%
&

R Jm bz

7 & B E bR Y BIR1T AR
(B¥5E30) K ERIT &R (B 5
35) ARMREREFNN XA
RoxEENFETRENXE
BT EERRERA IR
H-AEENERRRFHER
H B AEBERBH KT K
REFEHEMCNXEHESE
NEERE UWEEBEAMNEKE
[ o BIEE MR ST 47 B AR
EEf > SRR F R S IR
B e

RBHNESAENEREE
BF BUWRAKRERDT -

2024 2023
20244 20234
Us$’°000 US$’000
FEx F=ET
2,819 1,432




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not at FVTPL:

44.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE

EWMIA &

(b)

Interest expense MEMZ
Financial liabilities at

amortised cost

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point (2023: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the management considers that
the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s loss before tax would increase/
decrease by US$13,000 (2023: profit before tax decrease/
increase by US$8,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank borrowings.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased
during the current year mainly due to the increase in
variable rate borrowing.

REBHER A ENTREE

MHERBEEBEREE
(&)

FERE R (&
WEERAABEFABZD
ERHEENFAERX
2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FE=n F=ET
231 272

HRE T

T 2t 81 R 0 A AR 45 3R & A
KA ERBETE - Z DR
RN BEHRKREENS R
TEEREHREE - FBIET
EHHFER EF O T E501E
H 2 (20234 : 5O0MEEEL) » 1€
REEEHAXSEO S
FHT G - AN EIEBER AT
BIRTEBEENREERSE
MEEMIAE K HIBT4
BRABEESRES RN

WHRIZER EF T ES501EE B
(20234 : 501 E2) > MFR
BEHMES ST IE BRE
BMRATEEEM, B 13
F 5T (20234 : RATH EH
b BIN8TETT) ol EEH
REEBASHFZBIETE
T F) =R B G P Y o

RAEFE  REBRHF KK

RUEIB M EEBIFBEM
YRINFRER ©
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FAFSER R B X

y= A

7 o = |

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

44.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk and other
price risk arising from its investments in equity securities
measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI, respectively. For
equity securities measured at FVTPL listed in the PRC,
the management of the Group manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risks. In addition, the Group also invested in certain
quoted equity securities for long term strategic purposes
which had been designated as FVTOCI. The Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to equity and other price risk at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective instruments had been
5% (2023: 5%) higher/lower, the loss before tax would
decrease/increase by US$237,000 (2023: profit before
tax increase/decrease by US$197,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of equity securities measured
at FVTPL and the other comprehensive expenses would
increase/decrease by US$112,000 (2023: US$90,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of equity investments
measured at FVTOCI.
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44, EMT R (&

(b)

E(a‘i‘%lﬁl‘x‘i"’é‘iiﬁff%&&%
&

HEwmLE

AEBRDHEHEZARBEES
ABmkBAARBESAH
fthEm WA EZRAE
R E T E N RAER R R
HtERER - PE LS
NRAARBESFAEROR
ABEME  *EBEEEE
BERFIEREBIREES
BRI R - M 5h > REBE TR
TR EARBENREST
e RAR S RFREE
SREERBAALBESA
Hth2EBAFE-AEED
ZEEMEERREERRER
TRREBEREBHTAE
% B B

HRE T

U8R E 2 TH R 78 3R
SRFFESZRAREM
BEEEETE -

WEILEZBREHTE
5% (20234 :5%) > IRBETE
BEERZAABES AED
AENKRAZESEAABES
oL 237 F E T
(20234 : MAa A EEM,~
BA197FET) c HiheEE
BERZAABES AEHM
2EHBAFENRELER
fAEEESMEMN, B2
F =77 (20234 1 90F %= 7T)
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, deposits, fixed
deposits with maturity of more than three months and
bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. The Group only accepts
bills issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC banks if
trade receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk arising
from the endorsed or discounted bills is insignificant. In
this regard, the management considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 20% (2023:
13%) and 54% (2023: 37%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model by grouping trade receivables based
on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to
the Group’s aging of balances. Impairment loss of
US$870,000 is recognised (2023: reversal of impairment
loss of US$94,000) during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

4= AR
7 (=

R F5 ek R M5t

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE

44, &I A (&

(b)

MBERKRE
C!ﬁ)

1= B /@ 2 K it (8 5T A

EERBEFAEENFHIE
RREZENEETEBRLE
BEMBHEENER -~EEHN
SERBRIEXRBEEZRE
P8 W AR AR ~ L fth B8 WK AR AR
RES HRBBE=ERNE
HERKRIRITER - AEE L
BERAEMEFARIHEME
ERRUEREEREER
HHEERR-

ERERRBER

EREHELZE G BIKAR

EERMCEERR  ~&E
E%J*ﬁ*}”‘“&f LUHE R £% EX
BETHELARES 5%
EETE S BERRRUZRE
EERIEZBTEREE
FHERITR A NEFRE TR
l¢t$%l'§ﬁw7\%m
‘JZEEIIEEETJ‘EJXEE’J{D,\
WABR-FUIEMS IE
%E%Zli%ﬁ’\]%‘é}ﬂﬁﬁEk
R rRR

~TEBBEEREERR
RAEEZERIRDEEN
20% (20234 : 13%) K%54%
(20234 : 37%) DRIKEFE
WAEBRAETELARAAE
PHRIE - AR EREEE
A AEEEEREDELSIK
—ENEEEEETEEE
[REE 8=

tE9h > REEIZBEREERIR
BRK2EAREBREGRUR
BREEBEABREERMRIITEY
41 B 5 P U AR ®E 1T R B 5T
HoRFEE  BEHERDBERIE
870F =7t (20234 : B[R
BEFIE4T =) - BRHETL
WENEBEHN AN
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ir e M IRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Fixed deposits with maturity of more than three months/
bank balances/bills receivables

Credit risk on fixed deposits with maturity of more than
three months/bank balances and bills receivables is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for fixed
deposits with maturity of more than three months/bank
balances and bills receivables by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on fixed deposits with maturity of more
than three months/bank balances and bills receivables
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31 December
2024, the Group recognised an impairment allowance
of US$256,000 (2023: reversal of impairment loss of
US$256,000).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

AEEET R

Low risk

R R

Watch list

Doubtful

Loss

518

Write-off

i 55

Description

i

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have
any material past-due amounts
HFHENNRBRME
B A AEREIARIE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates

but usually settle in full

BEBARERIAHREREBER DAY

There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial
recognition through information developed internally or

external resources

REAREEM SIS ERBEEERRENSE

SR LUBR A IR AN

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

ERBEETREECEEEERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect

of recovery

BRBERTEFANRERMFHEE
BEREERANRERENRETRR

44, EFT A (&

(b) ﬂ#i%)ﬂﬁﬁ%iﬂﬁ*%&&%

(#)

1= B /m 5 R i B 5T 1S (48)

AEBNANBEERRER

SHE BB TEER
Other
Trade receivables financial assets
B 5 R HitnEmEE
Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
- not credit-impaired
GFERREREE 128 A FAHEERIE
BE-RELE
EERE
Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
- not credit-impaired
GFREMTEIRESR 128 A FRHAE &R
BiE-REE
EERE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

- not credit-impaired

FREMBEHRER
BERE-REE
EERE

Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
GFEMERER
BiE-B%4E
EERE

Amount is written off

FRIE M

BLERERBRAE 202453,

- not credit-impaired

FREMEREERS
B-REE
EERE

Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
FEMTRAGES
BE-B84LE
EERE

Amount is written off
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE
44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 44. ERMTH (&
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HMFRAMGEEBIEREER

policies (continued) (&
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) GERERBEFFEEG Z
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TREVNEAEEREER
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL EEHEEEEIENEE
assessment: R BEEEE

Gross carrying amount

IREAEE
External Internal
credit credit
Notes  rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL 2024 2023
p[3:1] 12(8 A S F &
it EEFR  ABEETR FEHEESR 20244 20235
US$’000 US$'000
TE7 TEn
Financial assets at amortised
cost
REHERAIRZEHNEE
Trade receivables 26 N/A Low risk (note 1) Lifetime ECL 49,913 50,787
(Collective assessment)
LGS 26 AFEA ‘R (it1) FEREHEESSE
(EBBaT)
Bills receivables 26 AA N/A 12m ECL 152 246
FREWEN 26 AA TEA 12BARAEERE
Other receivables and deposits 27 N/A Low risk (note 2)  12m ECL 6,034 7,081
EmEWERSREE 27 TER ‘EK #22) 12BRBHREESE
Bank balances/fixed deposits 30 AA N/A 12m ECL 93,928 129,431
with maturity of more than
three months
RITHER /HRBB=EA 30 AA ~EA 12ERBREESE
HERER
Notes: Vo2
(1) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the (1) MBS KRR X&EFDE
simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss & PR B PR B PR 3R 5 2RI 559
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines SRS ILAEUFER
the expected credit losses on these items by using AR EEFETE2FEEE
a provision matrix, grouped by past due status. 1o NEE B BILEm AT

DHENBREREEEZS
EEMEREERE
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes: (continued)

M

(continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ ageing to assess
the impairment of trade receivables from
customers because these customers consist
of a large number of customers with common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed on a collective basis by using
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired).

iR e MRS
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

44, £EMT R (&

(b) ?%ﬁﬁ%ﬁaﬁ&&%
=

15 B/ B e i 18 5F 1 (#2)
Bzt : (@
Mm@

FRAEBREERMER
W—& 5 REBEFE BRI
REIRERTIEERERE
SERBERER BRZ
EXRAEREAFTHRA
AEFHNER  ZEHH
REBEFIREBESNKRE
IR BRI EARIBRE S > T
RIEHERAAEENRES
FE W R TR P M 15 & &
BER BRAER BB
FEBTRIAEERE CRE
+EERE) BENRBE
B E TR ST G o
Average Gross carrying
amount
IREAEE
% Us$’000
F=T

loss rate

TIMEE

31 December 2024 2024%F12H31H

Current BPHR

Less than 2 months past due mHE 2@ B
2 to 6 months past due BHI2ZE6ME A
7 to 12 months past due BHA7TE121E B
Over 1 year past due AHITEM £

3.73 43,896
0.09 2,371
4.33 1,436
10.90 1,436
67.73 774
49,913

BLERERBRAE 202453,

289



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes: (continued)

44, EMT R (&

(b)

()

MHEREEEBERER

1= B /m B2 R BT (A

bzt o (&)

1) (continued) (1) (#)

Average Gross carrying
loss rate amount
TBLE ERMEAR(E
% US$’'000
FE

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H
Current BPHA 0.18 45,706
Less than 2 months past due mH O R2@E AR 1.06 1,921
2 to 6 months past due mHACE6ME A 5.99 1,422
7 to 12 months past due AEATE12E S 73.35 577
Over 1 year past due mHTEM £ 82.95 1,161
50,787

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
an impairment allowance of US$870,000 (2023:
reversal of impairment allowance of US$94,000) for
trade receivables based on the provision matrix.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes: (continued)

@)

In determining the ECL, the Group has taken
into account the historical default experience
and forward-looking information as appropriate.
There had been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. As at 31 December
2024, impairment allowance of US$256,000 (2023:
reversal of impairment loss of US$256,000) were
made on other receivables from third parties.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE

44, EFT A (&

(b)

MHEREEEBERER
(&

EEEERBEFEG (&
Wizt (48)

@) REEHEBEEERR &
EBEEBEELEEBEIMNE
SR AIEMNER - B4
IRHESR LR (EE R R &
BEEIE N - R 20245128
S1H HMAKRBEBBE=ZAMHE
fth FE UK BR 3R 1 OB E ZE 1R
256T %77 (20234 : FifE
EEi8 R EI256T ETT) ©
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following table shows the reconciliation of loss,

allowances that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach.

44.

EWMIA (&

(b) ﬂ?%};)ﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ&&%
=

1= B /m 2 R i B 5T 1S (48)

TRIITERBBLERZEZNES
FEUR SRR BE DR B R R B B iR o

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

EERE

(R&&E

EERE

US$’000

FE

As at 1 January 2023 522023 181H 1,663
Changes due to financial instruments recognised 1220231 81HMANREREASR T A

as at 1 January 2023: IR EE

— Impairment losses recognised — BB RERIE 127

— Impairment losses reversed — B bRERIE (1,580)
New financial assets MSEMEE 1,359
As at 31 December 2023 [£2023%F12H31H 1,569
Changes due to financial instruments recognised 1220241 B1HBANRERIBES/MTA

as at 1 January 2024: S| ES)

— Impairment losses reversed —BELIRERIE (1,569)
New financial assets ML EREE 547
Exchange difference PE R ERE (17)
As at 31 December 2024 12024128 31H 530
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AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE
44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 44. ERMIR (&
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HMFRAMEEBEREER
policies (continued) (%
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) = g/fl /Ze? R (E5FE ﬂ?{ Cfég
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are BoEIWERGEREGS
mainly due to: FERP

2024 2023

20244 20234
Increase Increase
(decrease) in (decrease) in
lifetime ECL lifetime ECL
not credit- not credit-
impaired impaired
GFEATFEHEE EFbtEhEEia
B m GRl) RaEsENecE)
FABRLEEERE EXEI-0AE
US$’°000 US$’000
FE FET

Settlement in full of trade debtors 2 Ei45 HARBRE E 450,787 T %= 7T

with a gross carrying amount (20234 : 46,587 T %) B9

of US$50,787,000 (2023: B 5 R

US$46,587,000) (1,569) (1,580)
New trade receivables with I AEREE A49,913F =T

gross carrying amount of (20234 : 43,388 F %= 7T) 19

US$49,913,000 (2023: B 5 R A BT

US$43,388,000) balances 547 1,359
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE
44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 44. ERMTH (&
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HERAKEEBEREE
policies (continued) (&
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) GERERBEFFEEG Z
The following table shows the reconciliation of loss, TRI TEEDEMEWER
allowances that has been recognised for other NEIEEHENEE
receivables.
12m ECL
1218 B 8 H#
EER1E
US$’000
FEx
As at 1 January 2023 2023518 1H 387
Reversal of impairment allowance R B ZE 5 (o] (256)
As at 31 December 2023 12023%F12831H 131
Impairment allowance recognised BB EEE 256
As at 31 December 2024 R2024%F12831H 387
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s BREAKE B KREME
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other WEERMASHNEERK 2
receivables are set out in Notes 26 and 27 respectively. E—T E=WE DR M

512627 ©
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank
loans with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE

44, EFT A (&

(b)

MHEREEEBERER
(&)

TREEZ/mEE

AHEERDERR ~&EE
EERMEFEEERARES
ZHRERREFEYKT L
RAEEZEERENES I
BERERERFZHE -F
EEEEREFRITERY
EAER-

TRFIEAEBERERZ
REREMWEIIB R - Z KT %
rEBAXNZRFE G
BEzeMEBRZRATRES

MEBHREHE - ARMS > ERE

TREAEEFTEEER:
BERBREEMRMOIERT

ll

BBt AR FHIR R E e
HithrfrrE &R e R 2 H
BOLERBENEEZBAM
Fo

TREFMERETTRER
B-HAERER/RFBNX,
AR ERARSHRF
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F20244F 12531 HIFFE
44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 44. EWMITH (&
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HMHFRAMEEBEREER
policies (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (continued) HEELTERE (&

Weighted  On demand Total
average or within 1-2 2-5 Over 5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year years years years cash flows amount

REKEEH AHRE

IHEFsRI= =R —EmE “ERE ERRE MERE WREfE
% US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
Fin FE TEr FEr FEr Fin

At 31 December 2024 1220245128318

Non-derivative: E
Trade payables BREMRD - 40,854 - - - 40,854 40,854
Other payables EHEMRD - 15,490 - - - 15,490 15,490
Borrowings (R
- variable rate -%8 7.01 2,603 - - - 2,603 2,603
Lease liabllities HESR 6.08 1,523 887 1,377 - 3,787 3,570
Contingent consideration FEfTH BB
payable - 335 296 1,701 - 2,332 2,332
Derivatives - Foreign ~ fT£ T E-5ME
exchange forward ZBEN
contracts - - 143 - - 143 143
60,805 1,326 3,078 - 65,209 64,992
Weighted On demand Total
average or within 1-2 2-5 Over5  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year years years years cash flows amount
RERE ANRRE

i ESeTES R—ER —EWE “Enf BBnE HERE REfE
% US§'000 US$'000 US§'000 US§'000 US$'000 US$'000
TET TET TET TET TER TER

At 31 December 2023 12023F12831H

Non-derivative: ik
Trade payables EREAEN - 39,445 = = = 39,445 39,445
Other payables HtEMERR - 18,321 - - - 18,321 18,321
Borrowings fa
- variable rate -38 7.20 1,728 - - - 1,728 1,699
Lease liabilities HESE 6.08 2,021 1,445 2,440 - 5,906 5,231
61,515 1,445 2,440 - 65,400 64,696
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The directors
of the Company have set up a valuation committee,
which is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, to determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The valuation
committee works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer
reports the valuation committee’s findings to the directors
of the Company every quarter to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique and inputs used), as well as the level
of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active market for identical assets or
liabilities;

RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 HIEFE

44, EFT A (&

(c)

THIANAAEEE

rEBEDEHMIARYF
ERENBAREBEFE-F
ABEZREHI—EHER
AEFEVHFERENMGEEZ
BEg URMARBEFEERE
BENMGERL EREARE-

RESRARBER  AEER
BERMSHHE N BREHE -
TEE-—ERBABENRS
NT AEBZBE=578E
BEEMETHE HREZE
THGERIBEEMNER
BFRUBEEBRANMGER
ERBABE -BEVHES
FERAFERABDESTGERMG
BZEGHNERUBELAR
BENSHNRA-

() FEEREEHEE
URRIEEHENE
BEERBERIAA
gE

rEBETERMEER
BEREMRBAREE
SFE- TRIEHARBN
MEEZETMEEN
ARBE (LHEZEFMA
HERERBABE)
MR kE R EES
ENBASHZIEHEE
REZDHNRAAEES
EFfBAREESHRZ
mAl (B—REF=MR)
EH -

. BRI ANE
Bst2REMER
EEHEER
mBTHE 2 RE
(REHE) ;
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

44,

(c)

(i)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

44, EMT R (&

Fair value measurements of financial (c) EMIAMAREBE=E
instruments (continued) (&)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and (i) EF RS HEE

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a WUARAREEEE

recurring basis (continued) HEEREENAA
BlE (&

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those ° BE_MANRARE
derived from inputs other than quoted BstE2RBRRT
prices included within Level 1 that are F—RABEB
observable for the assets or liabilities, wEBINFLE E DY
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly BENTHER
(i.e. derived from prices); and BMASE ME

wmEE (BEA
B8 I (B
BEEER) &

. Level 3 fair value measurements are those ° BEZMANRARE
derived from valuation techniques that Bt RBE8IE
included inputs for the assets or liabilities WIEE R B TR
that are not based on observable market EHiEERNE
data (unobservable inputs). ETdEENEHE A

2% (FoUHR
A2 B
BR*E.
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable
Line items Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
31 December
FORBHALHA
R RUTESBNARER ARBEEESE REFEREAREAZY BEAROHZUALY AAEENRR
128318
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$'000 US$'000
TERT TEn
Listed securities 4,731 3,939 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A N/A
held for trading market.
REEELMES g5 RERTIHZRE TEH TEH
Structured deposits 50,000 - Level2 Quoted price provided by financial - N/A N/A
institution
HREER EZH SRBBREZRE TEH TEH
Listed equity investments 2,239 1,808 Level 2 Quoted bid prices in a market N/A N/A
at FVTOCI with insignificant transaction
volume.
BARBESARMEZE ETH RRBEFANTH 2 RIE. TER TEH
WAR EHRARE
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fi= A
i 3

RAF5 e TR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

44, EFT A (&

(¢)  Fair value measurements of financial (c) EMIAMAREBE=E
instruments (continued) (#&)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and (i) HEF RS HEE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a WURAAREEEHE
recurring basis (continued) HEEREENAA

1EE (&)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable
Line items Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
31 December
FURBHASHA
78R RUTABNALEE AREESH  EEHERMERBAZY EXTABRREAZY AABENMERG
12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20235
US$'000 US$'000
TEm TER
Unlisted equity 110 111 Level 3 Income approach - in this Discount rate, taking A significant increase
investments E= approach, the discounted into account weighted in the discount rate
at FVTOCI cash flow method was used average cost of capital  would result in a
RARBETARM to capture the present value of  determined using a significant decrease
2ERANFELD the expected future economic ~ Capital Asset Pricing in the fair value
RELE benefits to be derived from Model, ranging from
the ownership of this investee, 14% to 16% (2023:
based on an appropriate 14% to 16%)
discount rate.
BWAE-ERERED BEN  TREZZRIEHELR FREARLARER
RRERELREBENHRE  BETERIEEN ARBEKETHR
EREBBARBUZNEE  NETHERRE &
FOFERTESNEENSE  BEA14%Z16% (2023
RE- B 14%E16%)
Contingent consideration 2,332 - Level3 Income approach - in this Discount rate of 16% A significant increase
payables E=h approach, the discounted TRE16% in the discount rate
ENHERE cash flow method was used  Probability-adjusted would result in a

to capture the present value of
the expected future economic
benefits to be derived from
the ownership of this investee,
based on an appropriate
discount rate.

WAE-ERER AT BAR
RREREEREBEENHR
LZRERARRBUZREE
FOFREETESNCEN G
R

EBITDA, with a range
from US$2,359,000 to
US$3,781,000
HEBEEHEBTDA
HEM2,350T £ 73
3T81FER

significant decrease

in the fair value
REXBLARER

AnBEAETE
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 220244 12531 H IFFE
44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 44. EMI A (&
(¢)  Fair value measurements of financial (c) EMIAMAREBE=E
instruments (continued) (#&)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and (i) EF RS HEE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a WUARAREEEE
recurring basis (continued) HEEREENAA

1EE (&
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable
Line items Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
31 December
FOBZHAZHE
758 RUTFRBNARER ABEEER  BEFERAREASH EXTURZEASH ArBENEG
12A318
2024 2023
20245 2023
US$'000 US$'000
TER TEn
Derivatives 143 - Level2 Discounted cash flow. Future N/A N/A
fiE IR £°R cash flows are estimated TEH TER
based on forward exchange
rates (from observable forward
exchange rates at the end
of the reporting period) and
contracted forward rates,
discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.
FREEME - ARRLRER
REEREE RERSHKT
BRIMNERES) RoRES
EXfbsH URRBTRR S
HFERRRNEERRR.
There is no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 for RMEEE>E—4
both years. FIRRE=—R2BI
4 o
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RE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 44, EMTH (&
(c)  Fair value measurements of financial (c) ERMIANQAAEBEE
instruments (continued) (#)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and () KEFHEF I RE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a L A )’z) /E /E' 57" = Hj\'] ﬁ
recurring basis (continued) /ﬂﬁ E Y74 ﬁ /Eﬁg ﬁ\ﬁ)
BlE (&
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements BERAAEEFER
#HER
US$’000
FEx
As at 1 January 2023 R2023%F181H 113
Exchange adjustments ERAE ()
As at 31 December 2023 and 2023512831 H K&2024F1H1H
1 January 2024 111
Addition NE 1,139
Fair value loss NAEERE 1,193
Exchange adjustments ERAE (1)
As at 31 December 2024 #2024%12831H 2,442
(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial (i) IR EMEEL

liabilities that are not measure at fair value on
a recurring basis

The fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

RAEEFENLH
BEREZHBERIL
n1EE

WA R E LA
AEEFENHMER
EEREREENAR
BEDRBEADEEE
ARFFERSAREDN
HEE -

KRB EERDR R
GMBRREDN T/
BEAREREENKRE
BRERAANEEES-
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ir e M IRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

45. MEEHFIEERRRIHK

TERFINEERREZHMELESR
BEEs aRRERFREEFH-
MELZHELENEAREEREMRE

EERAARAKRRERERN AEEED
HREREAEXRDPHESRELTY

from financing activities. EFNRERENEE-

Borrowings Lease liabilities Total

=R HEAa®RE &%

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

FTEx FET FET

At 1 January 2023 12023F1H1H 39,034 4,652 43,686

Financing cash flow MEERERE (37,986) (1,883) (39,869)

Interest expenses FEMZ 555 320 875
Non-cash movements JEIREEF

Additions //J\E - 2,169 2,169

Exchange adjustments B 2 S B 96 27) 69

At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12831H 1,699 5,231 6,930

Financing cash flow MERERE 580 (2,006) (1,426)

Interest expenses FEMAZ 358 351 709
Non-cash movements JERE B

Additions RE - 115 115

Exchange adjustments [E R R (34) (121) (155)

At 31 December 2024 R2024%F12H31H 2,603 3,570 6,173
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR IR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024412531 H IF FZ

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  46.

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Interest in an associate

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries
Prepayments and other receivables
Financial assets at FVTPL

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to subsidiaries

Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

JEREEE
ME-BERRHE
EREEE
INUZYNSIESE =]
REE QTS

FRBEEGS

MENEE

FE W B B A B RRIE

T AR B Ath FE U BR AR
BARBEFABZENEREE
RERREEEY

mEBaR

FES MY A B RA
HiE AR RREER
HEER&

neaEas

MBEEFE

HWEERRBER

FRIMBIE
HESE

TRBENMBIRRARKHE

2024 2023
20244 20234
US$’°000 US$’000
FErx FE7T
107 132
231 414
134,120 134,120
112,715 154,735
247,173 289,401
139,383 165,955
1,215 1,571
49,859 =
51,807 43,577
242,264 211,103
136,725 127,937
12,923 5,696
213 199
149,861 133,832
92,403 77,271
339,576 366,672
55 266
339,521 366,406
1 1
339,520 366,405
339,521 366,406
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AR e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 220244 12531 H IFFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

46. HATNMBRRER S

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued) (%)
Movement in Company’s reserves AT EES
Foreign
currency
Share Share translation Retained
Capital premium reserve profits Total
R RIMEE SMERERE BEHE At
US$'000 USs$'000 USs$'000 USs$'000 Us$'000
TEn TER TR Txn FTEn
At 1 January 2023 1202318 1H = 336,088 (21,777) 8,427 322,738
Issue of shares L5t an) 1 8,944 = = 8,945
Profit for the year FEFE - - = 11,475 11,475
Other comprehensive income ~ AEE 2 E A
for the year - - 23,248 - 23,248
At 31 December 2023 12023%E12831H 1 345,032 1,471 19,902 366,406
Loss for the year TEEE - - - (28,228) (28,228)
Other comprehensive income  AEEMZE A
for the year - - 1,343 - 1,343
At 31 December 2024 12024F12831H 1 345,032 2,814 (8,326) 339,521
* Less than US$1,000 * DT ET
47. CONTINGENT LIABILITY 47. HXEQE

During the years ended 31 December 2024, a subsidiary of
the Group was involved in a legal dispute concerning patent
infringement, arising in the normal course of business. At the
end of the reporting period and up to the date on which these
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion, taking into
account of the advice from the Group’s external legal counsel the
expected outcome of this legal despite is uncertain. Therefore,
it is not practicable for the directors of the Company to estimate
reliably the amount of the obligation that may arise from this
dispute, and the timing and any potential impact on the Group.
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Definitions

BH

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following fEARERF > BFENXE R BTSN > ¥ A=

words and expressions shall have the following meanings.

“Arcata”

Tpe£13.

“Articles of Association”

MAME=24ma0)

“Audit Committee”
BIZEE8)

“Board” or “Board of Directors”
B9

“China”, “Mainland China” or “PRC”

MFAE

“CG Code”
Mg RFAL

“Company” or “our Company”

“connected persons(s)”
MEAZE At

“Corresponding Period”

UEECH

»

“Director(s)
==Y

RAZEBUTEE-

Shanghai Arcata Electronics Co., Ltd.* (&R KEEFAERAR), a limited
liability company incorporated in the PRC on 22 September 2005 and our indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary.

EEREEETFARAT ) —KR2005F9822HEHREFMMIINBREER
8 BRMNEEEERB AR -

the fourth amended and restated articles of association of the Company currently
in force.
ARABRBEAEMNEEMNRET RERNAREIZME

the audit committee of the Company.
KRB EREEG -

the board of directors of the Company.
KRBEEGo

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires, references in
this annual report to “China” and the “PRC” do not apply to Taiwan, the Macau
Special Administrative Region and Hong Kong.

REARAENE BEREAFREMIB2EMS  MXERBIEIN  REHRF
BT E 2 EEAEEEE  RPIRIITHRERE & -

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

EHRAIMERCIZ (R EEARFR) -

NVC International Holdings Limited (28 =B ZER% A BRA E)) (formerly known
as NVC Lighting Holding Limited (B +HEIZERBRAE)), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 2 March 2006 and subsequently
redomiciled to the Cayman Islands on 30 March 2010 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the
Company are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
BETEREZERBERAR RIBELTRBPZERARAR) » —KiK20065F382HTE
HBEBRAREMMAIL BERN2010F3B30BRZMBEREHEZAR
o WiRERSHEAFEMA—RERRERAT > HRMINEBITA IR E
o

has the meanings as defined in the Listing Rules.

BELHRAUBTFHEREE -

the year ended 31 December 2022.
BIEHZE2022F12831HIEEE -

the director(s) of the Company.
RAFES
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Definitions

E&

“ETIC”

“Group”
TREE)

UHK$U
=

“Hong Kong”
r&#)

“Huizhou NVC”

rEME L)
“py”
rBE]

“LED
F'LEDJ

“Listing Rules”

M(EMmFREN

“Memorandum” or “Memorandum of

Association”

FR#8 ) S TR = A2 K4

“Model Code”

MRZEST R

“Nomination Committee”

MEHEEE)

Elec-Tech International Co., Ltd.* (B ESZHEBRRMDBERAE) (formerly
known as Elec-Tech International Co., Ltd.* (EEREZHEBRKRMDBRAR)),
a PRC incorporated company whose shares are currently listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. It is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
ZHERHEERRHERAD FIBAERERHEEBRIRHERRS) > —
KO ERERNBZBARRZM ETNABRGEMRIAE  HAXATNEER
-

Great Britain Sterling Pound, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.
- HEEES -

the Company and its subsidiaries.
KRB REWB AT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong.
B BEBEEGE-

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of PRC.
REARAMNBEEBFITHE -

Huizhou NVC Lighting Technology Co., Ltd.* (EME X EBEREBRA 7)), a
wholly foreign-owned enterprise with limited liability incorporated in the PRC on
29 April 2006 and our former direct wholly-owned subsidiary, 30% equity interest
of which is indirectly owned by us.

BINE LN BRI AERAT  —RP20065FE48 298 fEHE M AL EBE
BREEAE BREHRMUEEZENB RS HMIIBZTHEHI0%RKR#E -

Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan.
HE AR EESE-

Light-Emitting Diode.
B TmE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
(BEBBERZRERRBHESF LHRE)-

the third amended and restated memorandum of association of the Company
currently in force.

FRABRFAEYNEE =ZRETRERAEBZEAM -

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
(EMRADMERCIZ (LM BITAESTETESFRZNIEEFE )

the nomination committee of the Company.

KABRLEEG

NVC International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



“ODM”

ODM |

“OEM”
TOEM |

“Remuneration Committee”

FrMEE g

“Reporting Period”
REFE

“RMB”
TAR

“SEK”
MHE TR

“SFO”
(G R ERE R )

“SGD”
T 15

“Share(s)”
TR 15

“Shareholder(s)”
MRZER.

“Strategy and Planning Committee”

MErg B RS g

“Stock Exchange”
T AZ PR

“Subsidiary”
KNS

UK’
R[]

‘UK NvC”

FEEEE L)

Definitions

BH

original design manufacturing, a type of manufacturing under which the
manufacturer is responsible for the design and production of the products and
the products are marketed and sold under the customer’s brand name.
RRANSE BRELEBRES WEHaEEMNRFANEE MERIUERL®
R SEAIH & o

original equipment manufacturer.

RIGRFERIER -

the remuneration committee of the Company.

KABHMEES -

the year ended 31 December 2024.
B E2024F12B31HIEFE-

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC.

AR PEZEEE-

Swedish Krona, the lawful currency of Sweden.
BT BB A0 o

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
(BHRBEREG) (EBEGIHEST1E) o

Singapore dollar, the lawful currency of Singapore.

OIS FINBOEE G’ o

ordinary share(s) of US$0.000001 each in the share capital of the Company.
KRB ARG EEO0.000001E T BB

holder(s) of Shares
AGEST=PN

the strategy and planning committee of the Company.

RABBERIEET -

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
EBHMERXBFAARRAE -

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules.

AR TR FHEESE

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
ARG I EEER S T

NVC Lighting Limited (formerly known as NVC (Manufacturing) Limited), a private
company incorporated in England and Wales on 31 May 2007, and our direct
wholly-owned subsidiary.

NVC Lighting Limited (JR%& &NVC (Manufacturing) Limited) » —Z 522007458
STHAEEKBEAEBELAMALNAARE BRMANEREE2ENB AT -
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Definitions

E&

“U.S.” or “United States”
M=E.

“Us$”
=l

“VND”
e qeap =

uweny “us” or “our’

E Ll

“Zhejiang NVC”

M IE L

woy»
M% J

*

entity, or vice versa, and is provided for identification purposes only

denotes English translation of the name of a Chinese company or  *

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction.
EHEERE - HELT B REBENMEME-

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.
E EREEESE-

Vietnamese dong, the lawful currency of Vietnam

WEE BEEEER-

the Company or the Group (as the context may require).

RABRAER RBFEXEME) ©

Zhejiang NVC Lamps Co., Ltd.* (JIELEEBRAT), a limited liability
company incorporated in the PRC on 28 September 2007, a 51% equity interest
of which is held by Huizhou NVC and the remaining 49% equity interest of which
is held by Zhejiang Tonking New Energy Group Co., Ltd.* (IR S RER
BRARD.

MIETERBRAR  —KN2007F9B28HAEFEFMAIINEREER
B BEMELIFEHS1%RE R TH40%RERN IR S HERERERAT
FHe

Per cent.
Baotbe

RTNPEARNHBERLBHRXERL K
ZIRFR (BRI 2 B
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